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Defendants respectfully notify the Court and the parties of additional exhibits
upon which they intend to rely at the August 14 hearing, as follows:

1. Pursuant to an Order entered Saturday in all three cases, the parties are
to “[p]repare multiple hard copies of all exhibits and demonstratives that the parties
intend to use during the preliminary injunction hearing for each Judge on th[e] three-
judge court” and, inter alia, “[t]he exhibits should be file-stamped[.]” Singleton
Doc. 163 at 2; Milligan, Doc. 221 at 2; Caster Doc. 192 at 2.

2. Pursuant to an Order entered July 27, 2023 in all three cases, the parties
are to file exhibit lists by August 10, 2023. Singleton Doc. 146 at 3; Milligan, Doc.
194 at 3; Caster Doc. 171 at 2.

3. Defendants intend to include on their exhibit list the materials attached
to their response to the Plaintiffs’ objections, already filed into the record. Additional
exhibits Defendants wish to list must be filed in order to provide “file-stamped”
copies to the Court.

4. Accordingly, in compliance with this Court’s Orders, the Defendants
submit the following additional exhibits upon which they intend to rely at the August
14 hearing:

a. Exhibit S — Declaration of Jeffrey V. Williams?;

! This exhibit is also the subject of Defendants’ Joint Motion to Substitute Exhibit S in the
Milligan and Caster proceedings. Milligan Doc. 224; Caster Doc. 194.
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b. Exhibit T — Defendant Secretary of State Wes Allen’s Objections and
Responses to Singleton Plaintiffs’ First Set of Requests for Admission;

c. Exhibit U — Exhibit M.1 at the July 13, 2023 proceedings before the
Alabama Legislature’s Permanent Legislative Committee on
Reapportionment, namely the deposition testimony of Congressman
Bradley Bryne in Chestnut v. Merrill, Case No. 2:18-cv-00907-KOB
(N.D. Ala.), dated July 24, 2019, sans Exhibits 1 through 4 thereto and
with highlighting having been added:;

d. Exhibit V — Exhibit N at the July 13, 2023 proceedings before the
Alabama Legislature’s Permanent Legislative Committee on
Reapportionment, namely the testimony of Congressman Bradley
Bryne in the January 2022 preliminary injunction proceedings in these
cases, with highlighting having been added, saved 4-up to mimic travel
transcript format; and,

e. Exhibit W — Exhibit O at the July 13, 2023 proceedings before the
Alabama Legislature’s Permanent Legislative Committee on
Reapportionment, namely the deposition testimony of Congressman Jo
Bonner in Chestnut v. Merrill, Case No. 2:18-cv-00907-KOB (N.D.
Ala.), dated July 30, 2019, sans Exhibit 9 thereto and with highlighting

having been added.



Case 2:21-cv-01291-AMM Document 167 Filed 08/08/23 Page 4 of 5

5. The Defendants previously filed as Exhibit B in the Milligan and Caster
proceedings a transcript that should have been the complete transcript for the
July 13, 2023 proceedings before the Alabama Legislature’s Permanent
Legislative Committee on Reapportionment. That transcript was incomplete,
and we are working to determine whether we can timely secure a complete

transcript.
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DECLARATION OF JEFFREY V. WILLIAMS

I, Jeffrey V. Williams, declare as follows:

1. I am over the age of 19, and the testimony | have set out below is based upon my
personal knowledge, which I could testify competently about in court if requested to do so.
Introduction and Background

2. I have lived in Dothan, which is the heart of the Wiregrass, since February 2008. |
grew up in Birmingham and Tuscaloosa. | graduated with a B.A. from The University of Alabama
in 1992. | served in the U.S. Army and U.S. Army Reserves for a total of seven years as a 1st
Lieutenant / Armor Officer. | was stationed at Fort Hood, Texas, Fort Polk, Louisiana, Fort Knox,
Kentucky, Fort Jackson, South Carolina, and Fort Riley, Kansas at various points in my tenure. |
have worked in the financial services and commercial banking field since 1992. At one point in
my career, | moved six times over about a six-year timeframe with the same employer
(Birmingham, Gadsden, and Montgomery, Alabama; Memphis and Jackson, Tennessee; and back
to Birmingham) due to various promotions and positions with greater responsibility. Because |
have lived in several other cities and have now spent over fifteen years in the Wiregrass, | feel |
have a unigue perspective on the culture and geography of the region.

3. I moved to Dothan in February 2008 to accept the position of Corporate
Relationship Manager with BBVA Compass. The Market President had announced his retirement
plans and this move would give time for him to mentor me into the role of Market President. From
February 2008 to May 2013, | worked in the role of Corporate Relationship Manager. From May
2013 to September 2021, | was the Dothan Market President for BBVA. In those roles, | was
either the banker or supervised the bankers for relationships such as Southeast Health (formerly

Southeast Alabama Medical Center), George C. Wallace Community College (now Wallace
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Community College), Construction Partners, Inc. (the Alabama subsidiary operates as Wiregrass
Construction Company), the Houston County Commission, the City of Dothan, Bondy’s
Automotive, A&D Automotive, Action Automotive, Southern Bone & Joint, Dothan Surgery
Center, Digestive Health Specialists, Dothan City Schools, Southeast Alabama Regional Planning
& Development Commission, Boyd Brothers Transportation, Timberland Harvesters, and Lewis
M. Carter Manufacturing.

4. In September 2021, | accepted the position | currently hold as Regional President
for South Alabama for SmartBank, overseeing the Auburn, Dothan, and Montgomery markets.
SmartBank is an almost $5 billion commercial bank headquartered in Tennessee with 42 locations
across Alabama, Florida, and Tennessee.

5. As a commercial banker dealing with large businesses and government entities, to
be successful, you must understand your client’s businesses to a high degree. Given the large
companies and government entities | have been involved with banking, | feel that | have a unique
perspective on industry in the Wiregrass. As an example of this, as the banker for Southeast
Health, I made the first commercial loan to assist with the opening of Alabama College of
Osteopathic Medicine (ACOM). The loan was $20 million to create an escrow account lasting
until accreditation to ensure that, should ACOM not achieve accreditation, ACOM’s students
could continue their education at other medical schools. Underwriting a loan such as this requires
a deep understanding of the client’s business, the business plan for the new venture, and what
about the Wiregrass area will ensure its success.

Community Service
6. I have served as a commissioner with Dothan Housing Authority (DHA) since June

2017 with the last five years in the role of Vice Chairman. The CEO, team, and commission at
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DHA have transformed the agency from simply overseeing public housing and the Section 8
program, or Housing Choice Voucher program as it’s known today, in Houston County to the
innovative and expanded agency it is today. In the last five years, DHA has become regional,
taking on management of housing vouchers for a total of five counties in the Wiregrass (Coffee,
Dale, Henry, Houston, & Geneva). The agency manages 1,421 total affordable housing units in
the City of Dothan alone. The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development is pushing
for more consolidation and a regional approach to housing authorities to create more efficiency
and, with DHA being the largest in the Wiregrass, it makes sense for DHA to take on more
responsibility. During the previous five years, DHA has been able to work with developers to
create additional housing opportunities and has created multiple resident service programs to
enhance quality of life, improve family self-sufficiency, and increase employment opportunities
for residents. Further, DHA has rolled out landlord financial incentives and guarantees to entice
landlords to come into the voucher program, which further increases the availability of affordable
housing.

7. In my fifteen years in Dothan, | have been involved to some degree with the Dothan
Area Chamber of Commerce. In October 2022, | joined the executive board of the Chamber, and
I was recently elected to the role of Vice Chairman beginning October 2023. The Chamber’s
President, Matt Parker, has a reputation as a premier economic developer for the region,
consistently working with leaders throughout the Wiregrass, not just Dothan. He and the Chamber
always take a regional approach to economic development, believing industry created in
surrounding communities will benefit us all.

8. In addition, | was a Rotary Club member in Dothan from 2008 to June 2023. Rotary

further provides perspective on the region, given my interaction with members in numerous
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different professions from both Dothan clubs and the weekly speakers, who provided information
on their industry and what is occurring in the community.
Wiregrass Area

9. The counties of Coffee, Dale, Henry, Houston, and Geneva have a long history of
working together and are inter-dependent for the good of the region. These counties share similar
culture, interests, geography, industries, and economics. The area is not served by interstate access
or a major airport, which provides for a significant economic disadvantage compared to Alabama’s
major population centers. This may be the reason the region works so well together; we are all in
similar positions, so we work together to overcome these concerns, rather than competing.

10.  Similarly, with the recent exception of Wiregrass-native Senator Katie Britt, the
area has been disadvantaged from a state and federal representation standpoint, as the major
population centers of Birmingham, Huntsville, and Mobile have tended to elect the state’s political
leadership.

11.  Should the Wiregrass be split from a representation standpoint, this will further
disadvantage the region by creating one more obstacle to efficiently work together. It’s important
that the region be generally on the same page with our approach to issues such as economic
development, housing, education, and workforce development.

Wiregrass Major Economic Drivers and Industry

12. Fort Novosel is the home of Army aviation and has a $1 billion annual economic
impact on the Wiregrass, from what | understand from my interaction with the Chamber. Due to
my time as an armor officer in the U.S. Army and as the Army’s armor forces worked very closely
with Army aviation, | have some perspective on the importance of a military fort to a community

and Army aviation’s important role in our national defense. Fort Novosel impacts the entire region
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through its 63,000-acre footprint and soldiers accessing housing, healthcare, retail shopping, and
services. Further, various industries are located throughout the region to support the Fort and its
soldiers. The perspective | have is that it would be very expensive and difficult to replace Fort
Novosel. Army aviation requires an extensive amount of acreage as the helicopters need multiple
landing zones over a large area for training. In addition, the Wiregrass communities understand
and embrace the need for helicopters flying over our homes and businesses constantly. We can
tell this story with one voice as Fort Novosel touches the entire Wiregrass whether it be the base
actually being adjacent to communities or helicopters flying over other areas.

13. Due to serving the banking needs of Southeast Health, the area’s largest regional
hospital, and several large medical practices in the region, | have a strong understanding of what
a major economic driver healthcare is for the Wiregrass. Dothan is the largest city for
approximately 100 miles in each direction, making it a hub for healthcare services for the region.
Dothan’s hospitals and medical practices serve the population of the entire Wiregrass and even
out-of-state patients. In addition, the region’s only medical school, Alabama College of
Osteopathic Medicine, is located in Dothan.

14. My time with the Chamber and as a commercial banker has allowed me to
understand that one of the area’s largest industries is agriculture. Due to the surrounding counties
having similar geography, this is the case for all counties in the Wiregrass. While | have not
provided banking services to individual farmers, | have provided banking services to or been
exposed to ancillary businesses which produce agricultural equipment or provide services for this
industry. | believe the area needs to speak with one voice given the significance that agriculture

plays in all Wiregrass counties.
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15.  The area’s higher education providers, such as Troy University, Troy University
Dothan, Wallace Community College, and Enterprise State Community College and agencies such
as Southeast Alabama Works, which covers the region, work very well together to provide the
education opportunities that industry and political leadership require. Again, speaking as one voice
creates more efficiency in providing secondary education and workforce development.

16.  As an entrepreneurship mentor for HudsonAlpha Wiregrass’ Navigate program, |
understand that HudsonAlpha’s recent announcement that it will move its plant genome research
to a new facility in Dothan could be a game changer for the region. The scientists at HudsonAlpha
will work with Wiregrass area farmers to develop new varieties of plants which may be more
immune to disease and drought. This research should create a number of businesses or
entrepreneurs seeking to be a part of HudsonAlpha Wiregrass’ sphere of influence. It will take the
region working together to make the very most of the significant economic development
opportunities which will be created.

Congressional Representation for the Wiregrass

17.  The Wiregrass region does not have the same advantages as the major population
centers such as Birmingham, Huntsville, or Mobile. Therefore, dividing an area which shares
similar geography, economic issues, and concerns will create even more of a disadvantage to a
region which is already working hard, together, to overcome major obstacles to creating economic

prosperity for all its citizens.
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Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true

and correct,

Executed on August E, 2023.

& Lrre. S P
J}J’fﬁ'ey V" Williams -
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Defendants.

DEFENDANT SECRETARY OF STATE WES ALLEN’S OBJECTIONS
AND RESPONSES TO SINGLETON PLAINTIFFES’ FIRST SET OF
REQUESTS FOR ADMISSION

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 26 and Fed. R. Civ. P. 36, Alabama Secretary of
State Wes Allen hereby responds to the Singleton Plaintiffs’ First Set of Requests for
Admission.
General Statement

Secretary Allen has relied on the information presently available to him.
Further or different information may be discovered during the discovery phase of the
litigation. Secretary Allen will amend his Objections and Responses to the extent
required pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 26.

Secretary Allen’s Responses to each request are made subject to all objections
as to privilege, competence, relevance, materiality, propriety, and admissibility, as

well as any and all other obligations and grounds that would require the exclusion of

1
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evidence. Secretary Allen reserves the right to make any and all such objections at
the appropriate time.
General Objections

Secretary Allen objects to the Instructions to the extent that they purport to
Impose any requirements or obligations different from those contained in the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure, the local Rules of this Court, applicable orders of the Court,
and/or related agreements.

Secretary Allen further objects to each and every request that is not “separately
stated” as required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 36(a)(2).

REQUESTS FOR ADMISSION

Request for Admission No. 1: From 1822 until 1965, Alabama drew its
Congressional districts with whole counties.

Response: Admitted that Alabama used a whole-county Congressional map
from 1822 to 1965, although the Alabama Legislature passed a plan in 1961 that split
Jefferson County.

Request for Admission No. 2: In 1961, the Alabama Legislature passed a bill that
divided Jefferson County among four Congressional Districts.

Response: Admitted.

Request for Admission No. 3: Governor John Patterson vetoed this bill, saying it
would “divest the citizens of that county of direct representation in Congress, is ...
unthinkable, unwise, above all wrong, and therefore unconstitutional.”?

L ANNE PERMALOFF AND CARL GRAFTON, POLITICAL POWER IN ALABAMA 134-35
(1995).
2
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Response: Admitted that Governor Patterson vetoed the 1961 bill and that the
book cited in the footnote reports that Governor Patterson made the quoted statement.
Secretary Allen lacks sufficient information to admit or deny whether that was in fact
Governor Patterson’s statement or position.

Request for Admission No. 4: In February 1964, the U.S. Supreme Court ruled that
Congressional districts must be equal in population. Wesberry v. Sanders, 376 U.S.
1 (1964).

Response: Admitted that the Court “h[e]ld that, construed in its historical
context, the command of Art. |, s 2, that Representatives be chosen ‘by the People of
the several States’ means that as nearly as is practicable one man’s vote in a
congressional election is to be worth as much as another’s.” Wesberry v. Sanders,
376 U.S. 1, 7-8 (1964) (footnotes omitted; emphasis added). Otherwise denied.
Request for Admission No. 5: In March 1964, a three-judge panel held that
Alabama’s nine-district scheme for primary elections violated Article I, § 2 of the
U.S. Constitution and the Equal Protection Clause in the Fourteenth Amendment.
Moore v. Moore, 229 F. Supp. 435 (S.D. Ala. 1964) (three-judge court).

Response: Admitted with the qualification that the Equal Protection violation

related to the one-person, one-vote principle only.

Request for Admission No. 6: The Moore court gave the Legislature two years to
enact a constitutional redistricting plan.

Response: Admitted

Request for Admission No. 7: In August 1964, the Legislature considered a plan
that kept all Alabama counties whole, including Jefferson County, even though at
634,864 in the 1960 census, the county’s population exceeded the ideal population
of the eight Congressional districts at that time, which was 409,250.
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Response: Admitted, except that the ideal district size according to the 1960
census was 408,342.5.

Request for Admission No. 8: Attorney General Richmond Flowers warned that
such a large population deviation would not survive federal court scrutiny.?

Response: Secretary Allen lacks sufficient information to admit or deny this
request.

Request for Admission No. 9: In the 1965 regular session, the Legislature enacted
a plan that split Jefferson County among three Congressional Districts.

Response: Admitted.

Request for Admission No. 10: The Moore court declared the plan constitutionally
valid, even though it had a maximum population deviation of 13.3%. Moore v.
Moore, 246 F. Supp. 578 (S.D. Ala. 1965) (three judge court). The Court found it
“obvious that [Jefferson County] must be divided between at least two Congressional
Districts.” 1d. at 580-81.

Response: Admitted with the qualification that in the 1965 plan the most
overpopulated district deviated by 7.3% over the ideal district population and the
most underpopulated districts deviated by 6% under the ideal district population,
giving the plan a total population deviation of 13.3%. Based on its usage here,
Secretary Allen takes Plaintiffs’ use of the phrases “maximum population deviation”
and “maximum deviation” to refer to the range of deviation between the most and
least populated districts (as opposed to the individual measure of deviation of the

single district with the greatest deviation). Plaintiffs’ remaining requests are

answered subject to that understanding.

2 Alabama Journal, November 23, 1964, p. 13.
4
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Request for Admission No. 11: Jefferson County was the only county split in the
1965 plan and in the post 1970 census plan.

Response: Admitted.

Request for Admission No. 12: The post 1970 census plan split Jefferson County
among three Districts. The maximum deviation under this plan was 0.8%.

Response: Admitted.

Request for Admission No. 13: Only Jefferson County and St. Clair County were
split in the post 1980 census plan. The ideal size of a district was 556,270, smaller
than Jefferson County’s population, which was 671,371 in the 1980 census. The
maximum deviation among the seven districts was 2.59%.

Response: Admitted.
Request for Admission No. 14: In 1992, seven counties were split for the
predominant purpose of drawing one majority-black District. Wesch v. Hunt, 785 F.
Supp. 1491 (S.D. Ala. 1992) (three-judge court), aff’d sub nom. Camp v. Wesch, 504
U.S. 902 (1992), Figures v. Hunt, 507 U.S. 901 (1993).

Response: Admitted that seven counties were split in the 1992 Congressional
plan adopted by a three-judge court. Otherwise denied.
Request for Admission No. 15: Before 1992, the Legislature had never published
any redistricting principles that included a specific maximum population deviation
for Congressional districts.

Response: Admitted.
Request for Admission No. 16: In the 2000 census, Jefferson County’s population
rose to 662,285, which was still larger than the size of an ideal Congressional district
(635,299). The post-2000 census plan split Jefferson County and seven other

counties, maintaining zero population deviation.

Response: Admitted.
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Request for Admission No. 17: In the 2010 census, Jefferson County’s population,
658,158, fell below the ideal size of Congressional districts (682,819), making
splitting an Alabama county no longer mathematically necessary.

Response: Admitted that based on the 2010 census, Jefferson County’s
population fell below the ideal size of a Congressional district. Otherwise denied.

Request for Admission No. 18: In 2011, the Legislature passed a plan that continued
to split Jefferson County. The 2011 plan had zero population deviation.

Response: Admitted.

Request for Admission No. 19: District 7 in the Act 2021-555 plan retains all or part
of the same fourteen counties contained in District 7 in the 2011 plan, including the
majority-Black rural counties, Sumter, Greene, Hale, Perry, Marengo, Dallas,
Wilcox, and Lowndes.

Response: Admitted.
Request for Admission No. 20: 303,168 or 74.0% of the 409,643 Black Population
in District 7 comes from three counties that were split in the 1992 and 2011 plans:
Jefferson, Tuscaloosa, and Montgomery.®

Response: Admitted.
Request for Admission No. 21: Of the 294,027 people in the part of Jefferson
County in District 7, 62.8% are Black. Of the 380,694 people in the rest of Jefferson
County, all of which is assigned to District 6, 27.6% are Black.

Response: Admitted.
Request for Admission No. 22: Of the 184,266 people in the part of Tuscaloosa
County in District 7, 37.0% are Black. Of the 42,770 people in the rest of Tuscaloosa
County, all of which is assigned to District 4, 8.3% are Black.

Response: Admitted.

3 For purposes of these Requests for Admission, “Black” is defined as “Black alone or in
combination with other races, including Hispanic.”

6
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Request for Admission No. 23: Of the 65,519 people in the part of Montgomery
County in District 7, 80.7% are Black. Of the 166,435 people in the rest of
Montgomery County, all of which is assigned to District 2, 50.2% are Black.

Response: Admitted.
Request for Admission No. 24: Plaintiffs Rodger Smitherman and Eddie Billingsley
are Black registered voters who reside in Jefferson County and within the boundaries
of Congressional District 7 in both the 2011 and 2021 enacted plans.

Response: Secretary Allen lacks sufficient information to admit or deny this
request.
Request for Admission No. 25: Plaintiff Leonette W. Slay is a White registered voter
who resides in Jefferson County and within the boundaries of Congressional District
6 in both the 2011 and 2021 enacted plans.

Response: Secretary Allen lacks sufficient information to admit or deny this
request.
Request for Admission No. 26: Plaintiff Bobby Singleton is a Black registered voter
who resides in Hale County and within the boundaries of Congressional District 7
in both the 2011 and 2021 enacted plans.

Response: Admitted.
Request for Admission No. 27: Plaintiffs Darryl Andrews and Andrew Walker are
Black registered voters who reside in Montgomery County and within the boundaries
of Congressional District 2 in both the 2011 and 2021 enacted plans.

Response: Defendant lacks sufficient information to admit or deny this
request.
Request for Admission No. 28: In the Plaintiffs” Whole County Plan, the following

candidates received more votes than their opponent in the general election in the
counties in Districts 6 and 7:



Case 2:21-cv-01291-AMM Document 167-2 Filed 08/08/23 Page 8 of 16

Year Office Candidate
2012 President Barack Obama
2014 Governor Parker Griffith
2014 Lieutenant Governor | James Fields
2014 | Auditor Miranda Joseph
2016 President Hillary Clinton
2016 U.S. Senate Ron Crumpton
2017 U.S. Senate Doug Jones
2018 Governor Walt Maddox
2018 Lieutenant Governor | Will Boyd
2018 Auditor Miranda Joseph
2020 President Joe Biden
2020 U.S. Senate Doug Jones

Response: Admitted that the listed candidates received more votes than their
opponents in the counties in District 6 in the Plaintiffs” Whole County Plan when the
votes cast in all such counties are totaled, and in the counties in District 7 in the
Plaintiffs” Whole County Plan when the votes cast in all such counties are totaled.
Request for Admission No. 29: In the 2010 election for District 7 Representative,
Democratic candidate Terri Sewell received 136,696 votes (72.4%), Republican
candidate Don Chamberlain received 51,890 votes (27.5%), and write-in candidates
received 138 votes (<0.1%). According to Alabama’s preclearance submission to the
Department of Justice in 2011, the Black population of District 7, using 2010 census
figures, was 62.83% of the total population of the district, and the Black VVoting Age
Population was 59.75% of the VVoting Age Population.

Response: Admitted, except that according to Alabama’s preclearance
submission to the Department of Justice in 2011, the Black population of District 7,
using 2010 census figures, was 63.57% of the total population of the district, and the
Black VVoting Age Population was 60.55% of the VVoting Age Population.

Request for Admission No. 30: In the 2012 election for District 7 Representative,

Democratic candidate Terri Sewell received 232,520 votes (75.8%), Republican
candidate Don Chamberlain received 73,835 votes (24.1%), and write-in candidates

8
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received 203 votes (<0.1%). According to Alabama’s preclearance submission to the
Department of Justice in 2011, the Black population of District 7, using 2010 census
figures, was 63.57% of the total population of the district, and the Black VVoting Age
Population was 60.55% of the VVoting Age Population.

Response: Admitted.

Request for Admission No. 31: The United States Bureau of the Census releases
data to the states after each census for use in redistricting. This data includes
population and demographic information for each census block.

Response: Admitted that the United States Bureau of the Census releases data
to the States for use in redistricting that includes population and demographic
information for each census block, but that by using a process known as “differential
privacy,” the Bureau purportedly altered the population and demographic
information for many or all census blocks before release.

Request for Admission No. 32: Following the 2020 Census, the Census Bureau was
statutorily required to release this redistricting data no later than April 1, 2021. 13
U.S.C. § 141. However, in February 2021, the Census Bureau issued a press release
stating that it would not release the redistricting data until September 30, 2021. On
March 10, 2021, the State of Alabama sued the Census Bureau to require it to comply
with the statutory deadline. See Alabama v. United States Dep’t of Com., No. 3:21-
CV-211-RAH-ECM-KCN, (M.D. Ala.) (three-judge court). On March 15, 2021, the
Census Bureau issued a further press release stating it could provide redistricting data
in a legacy format by mid-to-late August 2021. The Census Bureau provided initial
redistricting data to Alabama on August 12, 2021.

Response: Admitted.

Request for Admission No. 33: On May 5, 2021, the Reapportionment Committee
of the Alabama Legislature passed the Redistricting Guidelines to be used by the
Committee during the redistricting process. Those Guidelines passed on a 16-1 vote,
with both Republicans and Democrats as well as Black and White legislators
supporting the Guidelines.

Response: Admitted.
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Request for Admission No. 34: The Reapportionment Committee held 28 public
hearings at locations around the state between September 1 and September 16. The
public could attend these hearings in person or via videoconference.

Response: Admitted.

Request for Admission No. 35: On October 25, 2021, Alabama Governor Kay Ivey
officially called for the Legislature to convene in a special session to address
redistricting.

Response: Admitted.

Request for Admission No. 36: On October 26, 2021, the Reapportionment
Committee met and considered a draft congressional plan.

Response: Admitted.

Request for Admission No. 37: On October 28, 2021, the special session began and
the Congressional Plan (then H.B. 1) was assigned to the House Committee on State
Government. On October 29, the Congressional Plan (in addition to three other
redistricting plans) was voted out of committee. All Black Representatives on the
Committee voted against the map.

Response: Admitted. Admitted further that all Democrats on the Committee
voted against the map.

Request for Admission No. 38: On November 1, the House of Representatives
considered the Congressional Plan. The same day, the House passed the
Congressional Plan 65-38; in addition to every Democratic Representative, several
Republicans voted against the plan. One Black Representative, Rep. Keith Paschal
who is the sole Black Republican legislator, voted in favor of the Congressional Plan.

Response: Admitted.
Request for Admission No. 39: On November 2, the Senate General Fund and
Appropriations Committee considered the Congressional Plan. The Plan was voted

out of Committee that same day. All Black Senators on the Committee voted against
the map.

10
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Response: Admitted, except that the Plan was considered by the Senate
Finance and Taxation General Fund Committee. Admitted further that all Democrats
on the Committee voted against the map.

Request for Admission No. 40: On November 3, the full Senate approved the
Congressional Plan 22-7 and forwarded the Plan to Alabama Governor Kay Ivey. All
six Black Senators present and Billy Beasley, the sole White Democratic Senator,
voted against the map. On November 4, Governor Ivey signed the Congressional Plan
into law.

Response: Admitted.

Request for Admission No. 41: On Tuesday, July 23, 2022 a special election was
held to fill a vacancy in District 73 of the Alabama House of Representatives. The
winner was Kenneth Paschal, the Republican candidate, who received 2,743 votes.
Representative Paschal is African American. His white Democratic opponent
received 920 votes. District 73 is located in Shelby County, Alabama. Based on 2010
census data, the voting-age population of District 73 was 84.12% white and 9.75%
black. (See ALBC doc. 338-1). Representative Paschal defeated a white Republican
candidate in the primary election by 64 votes. Representative Paschal received 1,476
votes, while his white opponent received 1,412 votes.

Response: Admitted.

Request for Admission No. 42: On March 12, 2020, James Blacksher, Dorman
Walker, and Jim Davis appeared together on a panel to discuss redistricting in a
program held by the Montgomery Inns of Court. Blacksher told the audience that it
should be possible to draw Congressional districts that kept Montgomery County and
all other counties whole.

Response: Admitted that the three appeared on a panel to discuss redistricting
and that Mr. Blacksher made the statement.
Request for Admission No. 43: In April 2021, Blacksher asked Bill Cooper, who
had been his map drawer during the ALBC v. Alabama proceedings, to see if a seven

Congressional districts, whole county plan could be drawn using census estimates
that were available at the county level only.

11
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Response: Admitted that Bill Cooper was plaintiffs” map drawer in the ALBC
v. Alabama proceedings and that Jim Blacksher was counsel for the plaintiffs in that
litigation. Secretary Allen lacks sufficient information to admit or deny the remainder
of this request.

Request for Admission No. 44: The only instructions Blacksher gave Cooper were
to keep counties whole and to attempt to keep the Black Belt counties together.

Response: Secretary Allen lacks sufficient information to admit or deny this
request.

Request for Admission No. 45: Mr. Cooper produced the plan filed by the Singleton
Plaintiffs as Exhibit 69.

Response: Admitted.

Request for Admission No. 46: Blacksher and his colleague Ed Still circulated
Cooper’s plan widely among Black political leaders and organizations who were
preparing for post-2020 census redistricting, including the ACLU, Southern Poverty
Law Center, NAACP Legal Defense Fund, Greater Birmingham Ministries, and the
League of Women Voters of Alabama. Counsel for many of these organizations
represent parties in Milligan.

Response: Admitted that some counsel who represent the plaintiffs in Milligan
are with the NAACP Legal Defense Fund or the ACLU. Secretary Allen lacks
sufficient information to admit or deny the remainder of this request.

Request for Admission No. 47: The League of Women Voters of Alabama
(LWVAL) agreed to sponsor the whole county plan in public discussions and
hearings involving the legislative redistricting process.

Response: Admitted.

Request for Admission No. 48: Bill Cooper informed Blacksher in late May that he
was under contract with the Perkins Coie law firm and had a conflict of interest.

12
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Blacksher phoned Abha Khanna, who confirmed that Mr. Cooper would not be able
to continue working with Blacksher on Congressional redistricting in Alabama.

Response: Secretary Allen lacks sufficient information to admit or deny this
request.

Request for Admission No. 49: At Mr. Cooper’s suggestion, in early August 2021
Blacksher engaged Dr. Gerald Webster and the CART Lab at the University of
Alabama to insert the 2020 census data in Cooper’s whole county plan when the
Legacy data were released by the Census Bureau. The LWVAL paid Dr. Webster
and the CART Lab for their services.

Response: Secretary Allen lacks sufficient information to admit or deny this
request.

Request for Admission No. 50: When the Legacy 2020 census data were published
on August 12, 2021, the CART Lab inserted them into Cooper’s plan. At Blacksher’s
request, the only change the CART Lab made was to move Morgan County to District
4 and Colbert, Franklin and Jackson Counties to District 5, in order to lower the
maximum population deviation from above 5% to 2.47%.

Response: Secretary Allen lacks sufficient information to admit or deny this
request.

Request for Admission No. 51: Because the CART Lab did not have the latest
Maptitude software installed, Blacksher retained the services of Louis Hines at the
Center for Leadership and Public Policy at the Alabama State University to put the
CART Lab’s whole county plan in Maptitude format for submission to the
Reapportionment Office of the Legislature. Mr. Hines sent the Whole County
Maptitude files to the Reapportionment Office on September 10, 2021.

Response: Secretary Allen lacks sufficient information to admit or deny this
request.
Request for Admission No. 52: On September 1, 2021, Kathy Jones, President of

LWVAL, was the first witness at the first public hearing held by the Reapportionment
Committee, and she submitted the Whole County Plan to the Committee.

13
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Response: Secretary Allen lacks sufficient information to admit or deny this
request.

Request for Admission No. 53: On September 7, 2021, Blacksher emailed Dorman
Walker to provide a link to the Whole County Plan on the LWVAL web site.

Response: Admitted.

Request for Admission No. 54: The Whole County Plan was finally entered in the
Reapportionment Office system on September 17, 2021.

Response: Admitted.
Request for Admission No. 55: At Blacksher’s request, on October 26, 2021, Mr.
Hines modified the Whole County Plan to reduce its maximum deviation, first to
0.69% and second to zero %. Mr. Hines submitted the “narrow deviation” and zero
deviation Whole County Plans to the Reapportionment Office on October 27, 2021.
Response: Admitted that variations of the “Whole County Plan” were
submitted to the Reapportionment Office on or around October 27, 2021, with 0.69%

and zero % population deviation. Secretary Allen lacks sufficient information to

admit or deny the remainder of this request.

14
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Plaintiffs in the above-entitled matter, pursuant to
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EDDY, RPR, CRR, a Notary Public in and for the
District of Columbia, taken at the Rayburn House
Office Building, 45 Independence Avenue, Southwest,
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e ON BEHALF OF THE DEFENDANT:

JIM DAVIS, ESQUIRE

PROCEEDINGS
Washington, D.C.
July 24,2019

THE VIDEQGRAPHER: This is Video No. 1
in the video-recorded deposition of Congressman
Bradley Byme taken in the matter of Lakeisha
Chestnut, et al. versus John H. Merrill in his
official capacity as Alabama Secretary of State.

It is pending before the United States District
Court for the Northern District of Alabama,
Southern Division, Case Number 2:18-CV-00907.
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Exhibit 3 Alabama -- U.S. House, Revised Plan3 16

Exhibit4 Alabama -- U.S. House, lllusteative 17
Plan 4

Exhibit 5 2011 State Board of Education Districts 25

Exhibit 6 Current map of the U.S. House Districts 46

in Alabama
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16
17
18
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20
21

12 Deputy Attorney General 13 This depasition is being held at the
13 Division Chief, Constitutional Defense 14 Raybum Office - House Office Building at 45
14 Office of the Attorney General 1s i )
15 501 Washington Avenue Independence Avenue, Southwest, in Washington,
18 Montgomery, Alabama 36130 as D.C., on July 24th, 2019. The time on the video
LU (334) 353-135¢6 1 screen is 9:5% a.m.
- jim.davis@ago.state.al.us 18 My name is Daniel Holmstock, and I'm the
18 ig legal videographer from Digital Evidence Group.
20 ALSO PB’ESENT: S . el Our court reporter is Michele Eddy, in association
Mitch Relfe, Legislative Director for ’
21 Congressman Bradley Byme 21 with Digital Evidence Group.
22 Danicl Holmstock, Videographer 22 For the record now, will counsel please
Page 2 Page 4
1 EXAMINATION INDEX s introduce themselves and whom they represent.
2 PAGE 2 MR. SPIVA: My name is Bruce Spiva. [
3 EXAMINATION BY MR. SPIVA 5 3 represent the plaintiffs in the action.
4 4 MS. MADDURI: Lali Madduri, also for the
5 5 plaintiffs.
& EXHIBITS 6 MR. RELFE: Mitch Relfe. I'm counsel
U DEPOSITION EXHIBIT PAGE U for the office of Congressman Byrne.
4 Exhibit 1 Revised Plan 1, Alabama — U.S. House 14 8 MR. DAVIS: Jim Davis representing
2 Exhibit 2 Alabama -- U.S. House, Revised Plan2 16 % Secretary of State John Merrill.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Will the court

reporter please administer the oath.

CONGRESSMAN BRADLEY BYRNE,
having been duty swom, testified as follows:
EXAMINATION BY COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFFS

BY MR. SPIVA:

Q Good moming, Congressman Byme.

A Good moming.

Q Thank you very much for taking your time
out. I know you have a busy schedule. We
appreciate that,

A Sure.

Page 5
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Q We'll try to keep the encroachment on
your time to a minimum.

If you can just state your full name for
the record.

A My namc is Bradley Bynae, B-Y-R-N-E.

(2 What is your address, Congressman Byrme?

A 22489 Sea Cliff Drive, Fairhope,
Alabama, 36532,

Q Have you ever been deposed before?

A Thave.

Q [n what capacity?

A When I was a member of the State School
Board, there was a lawsuit against the State
School Board in our official capacity, and 1
believe when 1 was Chancellor of Pastsecondary
Education, there was a lawsuit against the
Department of Postsecondary Education, and in my
capacity as CEQ of the system, I think I was
deposed a couple of times.

Q Okay. Other than those times, can you
recall any other times that you were deposed?

A Tcan't.
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A No.

Q Was it more recent than that?

A Itwas more recent than that, but |
can't remember exactly when it was.

Q Okay. And do you recall what you
testified about in that redistricting case before
the Board of Education?

A There was some sort of a proposal, and I
don't know if it was a legislative proposal or
not, regarding the makeup of the districts and the
State School Board. There are eight districts,
And [ was asked about my opinion about how my
district -- my State School Board district would
be put together.

Q Okay. And so I take it at that time you
were a member of the State Board of Education?
A [think I was. I can't remember, to be

sure,

Q Allright. And do you recall whether
the districts changed as a result of that lawsuit?

A | don't know what became of that
lawsuit. [ was just a witness.
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Q Have you ever testified -- we've gota
little -~

A Doesn't mean anything.

Q Okay. Have you ever testified in trial
before?

A Yes, I believe there was a trial
regarding the redistricting of the State School
Board in the Federal District Court of the
Southern District of Alabama, and [ think I and
perhaps other members of the State School Board
were required to come and testify at that trial.

There was also a trial in the Montgomery
County Circuit Court that I was a very brief
witness in, and I think it was another one of
those redistricting cases.

@ Okay. And were you deposed in either of
those cases?

A Tdon't believe I was.

Q Okay. Inconnection with the school
board redistricting case, about what time period
was that? Maybe T'll try to refresh your memory.
Was it rnid "90s?

Page 7
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Q Okay. Solet me just -- I'll briefly --
you've been deposed before, but I'll just briefly
go over kind of some of the, you know, usual
ground rules, We're doing great so far. Usually
because the court reporter has got to take
everything down, I will try to wait until you've
completed your answer before asking you the next
question or jumping in. I would just ask if you
would do the same, just wait for the whole
question to come out before you answer, just so
she can get everything down.

If I ask a question and it doesn't make
sense to you, please ask me and [ will do my best
to rephrase it. If you answer it, I'll assume
that you understand it as asked. If you want to
take a break at any time, you know, just let me or
your counsel know and we can -- we can do that.
Just -- we just ask that while a question is
pending, if you can -- if you can answer the
question and then we can take a break at that
point.

I den't think there's anything else.
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And there's no reason why you can't
testify completely and truthfully today? You're
not on any medications or anything like that? I
have to ask everybody that.

may be a need for me to give testimony and so sort
of in general what my understanding of the case
was, what my understanding of the proposed new
districts would be, and what my attitude and

Page 11

5 A No, I'm not. 5 concerns would be about that.

6 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Your microphone fell, 6 Q Okay. And what did you say in response

7 counsel, 7 to those -- to those inquiries?

8 MR. SPIVA: Oh, thank you. The question 8 A Well, somebody showed me at that time

8 is where did it fall to. _ 9 the actual proposed districts, and I told them I
10 Q AndIwill try to not gesticulate with 10 had great concerns about it.

11 my hands so that I don't knock the microphone off. 11 Q Okay. And we'll get into that in a
12 And how did you -- how did you learn 12 minute, Did they show you anything else other
13 about this case, Congressman Byrne? 13 than the proposed maps?
14 A Tbelieve I received notification of it 14 A I'may have seen a copy of the complaint,
15 from the Attorney General's office, State Attorney 15 but if I did, I didn't read it very carefully.
16 General's office. I may have read about it in the 16 Q Okay. Iguess that's probably one of
17 news before, but I can't be certain about that, 17 the benefits of being a member of Congress and not
18 Q Do you recall who you first talked about 18 a practicing lawyer anymore,
19 this case with? 19 A That is one of the benefits, and I
20 A There was a call in which there was a 20 greatly appreciate that benefit.
21 member of the Attorney General staff on the call, 21 Q Idon't blame you at all,
22 and there was a lawyer from a law firm in 22 And do you recall anything else about
Page 10 Page 12

1 Montgomery, maybe two lawyers from that law firm 1 that conversation?

2 in Montgomery that were on the call. 2 A TIreally don't.

3 Q And do you recall who from the AG's 3 Q Have you had any other conversations

4 staff was on that call? 4 about the case since then?

5 A No, 5 A Yes, just one to get us set up for this

6 Q Do you recall the names of the lawyers? J deposition today.

7 A Not really. 7 Q Okay. Who did you talk to to get this

g Q Was one of them Dorman? I'm forgetting 8 set up for the depo?

9 Dorman's last name. 9 A Ithink, once again, there was somebody
10 MR. DAVIS; Walker. 10 from the Attorney General's office. Mr, Walker
11 Q Was one of them Dorman Walker? 11 may have been on that one, too.

12 A T think Dorman may have been on the 12 Q Allright. Did you do anything to

13 call. 13 prepare for the deposition today?

14 Q You're familiar with Dorman Walker? 14 A Just to make sure I remembered some

15 A Oh, I've known Dorman a long time. His 15 things about the district and some of the things
16 wife used to practice law with me, 16 that we had done in the district, particularly my
117 Q Okay. And about when was that that you 17 town halls. I've done a lot of town halls, 1

18 received that call? 18 wanted to go back and make sure that I was certain
19 A This year, but I can't remember when. 19 about what we had done.

20 Q Can you tell me what was discussed on 20 Q Did you look at any documents to

21 the call? 21 prepare?

22 A That the case was pending, that there 22 A Not any documents per se, no, just where

Page 13
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did we have town halls, how often, et cetera,

Q Allright. To refresh your recollection
about that, did you talk to staff or --

A Yes, my staff would give me this
information.

Q Gotyou.

And any other conversations or meetings
to prepare for today's deposition?

A No.

Q Let me -- I'm not going into detail just
yet, but let me -- just so I know what you -- what
you looked at in preparing for today's deposition,
let me hand you -- I'm going to have marked a few
exhibits and then we'll -- I'll ask you whether
these are the documents that you looked at.

MR. SPIVA: Give us just a second.
We're just going to gather them up here.
Let me give these out one at a time so
we don't get confused. If we could -~ if we could
have this one marked as Exhibit 1, please.
(Exhibit 1 was marked for identification
and attached to the deposition transcript.)

Page 14

Exhibit 2, please.

(Exhibit 2 was marked for identification
and attached to the deposition transcript.)
BY MR. SPIVA:

Q Congressman Byrne, Exhibit 2 is a
document that's labeled at the bottom "Alabama --
U.S. House, Revised Plan 2." Does this appear to
be one of the maps that you reviewed?

A The same answer on this one. They're --
they're all sort of different, but they're also
sort of the same, so it looks like it's one I may
have looked at.

Q Pretty similar to the ones you looked --
you probably looked at?

A Right.

MR. SPIVA: Okay. And I'll give you
what will be marked as Exhibit 3.

(Exhibit 3 was marked for identification
and attached to the deposition transcript.)
BY MR. SPIVA:

Q Congressman Byrne, this is -- this
Exhibit 3 is labeled "Alabama -- U.S. House,

Page 16
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BY MR. SPIVA:

Q And, Congressman Byrne, if you could
just take a look at that. Like I said, we'll get
into detail in a little bit, but is that one of
the proposed maps that you looked at?

And just for the record, this one is
labeled "Revised Plan 1, Alabama -- U.S. House."

A Isaw several. They were -- some of
them were pretty similar so I can't tell you for
sure that this is one that I saw, but it looks
like it might have been.

Q Okay. Do you know -- did anybody tell
you that the plans -- that the maps that you saw,
or the proposed maps that you saw, came from an
expert report of the plaintiffs?

A They may have, but I don't remember
that,

Q Okay. Allright. I'll tell you what,
let me -- just as a matter of housekeeping, I'm
going to give you all four of these and then we'll
-- we'll come back to them in a minute.

MR. SPIVA: So if we could mark this as

Page 15
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Revised Plan 3." And really the same question,
does this appear to be one of the ones you may
have looked at?

A The same answer.

Q Okay, got you.

MR. SPIVA: Just so we have them all out
on the table, if this could be marked as Exhibit
4,

(Exhibit 4 was marked for identification
and attached to the deposition transcript.)

BY MR. SPIVA:

Q Congressman Byrne, this one is labeled
"Alabama -- U.S. House, Hlustrative Plan 4."
Does that -~ does that appear to be one that you
reviewed in preparation?

A The same answer.

Q We'll come back to those in a minute.
Let me just ask you a few questions just kind of
about your background and the current -- and the
current map.

You're currently the congressional
representative for Alabama's First Congressional

Page 17
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1 District? 1 Baldwin County. That's not to say there aren't
2 A Tam. 2 Asian-Americans --
3 Q Okay. And can you describe your 3 Q Sure.
4 district geographically? 4 A -- and Hispanic-Americans in other
5 A Uh-hmm. It's all of Mobile and Baldwin 5 places, but that's where you tend to find them.
6 Counties, all of Escambia County, all of 6 Q Okay. How about African-American
7 Washington County, and all of Monroe County and a 7 residents and white residents of the district, are
8 part of Clarke County, 8 there -- can you describe kind of patterns of
9 Q And can you describe your constituents? 9 residential -- residential patterns among those
10 A Well, T have over 700,000 people that 10 two groups?
11 live in my district. Some people live in urban 11 A Well, if you get into the four rural
12 areas. Some people live in suburban areas. Some 12 counties, Monroe, Clarke, Escambia, and
13 people live in rural areas. Some people are 13 Washington, I don't - I don't know that there is
14 working in one type of work, Some people are 14 any sort of pattern, If there is, I haven't been
15 working in different types of work. So it'sa 15 aware of it. In Baldwin County, there's a smaller
16 fairly diverse district, I like that, by the way. 16 African-American population, smaller percentage,
17 And we try to make sure we stay in touch with 17 but it's not like they're just in one part of the
18 everybody in our district, wherever they live. 18 county. You'll find pockets, I guess, of
19 Q What are the racial demographics of your 19 African-Americans in different parts of Baldwin
20 district? 20 County.
21 A Well, I don't know precisely. 21 In Mobile County, it used to be that
22 Q Sure. I'm not asking for precise 22 African-Americans were only - the majority were
Page 18 Page 20
1 numbers, but -- sorry to interrupt, but if you 1 found in the eastern part of the City of Mobile,
2 could give kind of a general description, that 2 Prichard, southern part of the City of Mobile, et
3 would be helpful. 3 cetera, but there has been in the last, at least
4 A Well, the majority would be white. 4 several years, since I've been in Congress, a
5 There would be a substantial African-American 5 growing number of African-Americans that are
6 population and much smaller numbers of Hispanic 6 moving out and they're locating in other areas.
7 Americans. And we do have Asian-Americans 7 So they're actually dispersing more, from my
particularly in the southern part of Mobile 8 experience. Some of that comes from the fact that
9 County. 9 when I campaign, I go door to door, so I'm
10 Q And you gave a little bit of that in the 10 literally seeing people when they come to the
1 last part of your answer, but can you describe how 11 door. And some of it is when I go out and do my
12 the various racial groups, you know, how they're 12 town halls, I'm seeing people in different parts
13 kind of spread over the district in terms of 13 of my district. I know when people come to the
14 geographically? Are they segregated? Are they -- 14 district, well, they come from this community. So
15 is it pretty spread evenly over the district? 15 that's been a change in the last several maybe
16 A Well, the district's got so many 16 more years.
17 counties in it that you have white and 17 Q Inthe City of Mobile, are there racial
18 Aftican-American people in every county. The 18 patterns in terms of where people live?
15 Asian-American population tends to be, not 1s A Well, as I said, you find a
20 exclusively, but the vast majority of them are in 20 disproportionately high number of
21 Mobile County. And you do have a fairly sizable 21 African-Americans in what I call the eastern part
22 22 - of Mobile, east of where I-65 bisects the city.

Hispanic population in the southern part of

Page 19

Page 21
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1 And also in the southem part of Mobile, we call . was probably either after the last redistricting
2 that area Down the Bay, Maysville, et cetera. 2 or before the next gne.
3 But, in my experience, in the last 3 A Yes, [ don't remember when I was in the
9 several years, I'm seeing more African-Americans < legislature that I as a legislator ever actually
5 moving west of 1-65, and there's a more integrated 5 dealt with any reapportioning.
6 population out west than there used to be, and & Q Okay. Aund you also previously served as
U that seems to be something that is evolving and o a member, as we briefly discussed earlier, as a
8 getting stronger. e wemmber of Alabama’s Board of Education.
9 Q Okay. How long have you seen that 9 A Right.
10 pattern that you just described occurring? L8 Q Andlet me actually give you another
11 A You know, 1 didn't notice it until [ ran 1 exhibit. Actualty before [ do that, what -- about
12 for Congress in 2013, I think it was occurring 12 what time period were you on the Board of
13 before I noticed it, but 1 certainly noticed it 13 Education?
14 when I ran for Congress the first time in 2013 14 A |was clected in 1994 in Novermber. My
135 because [ went to so many different neighbors 5 predecessor was appointed to he the DA of Mobile
16 knocking on doors. So you begin to see, you know, 16 County, and the Governor appomted me to serve out
17 there are a lot of African-Americans that are 1 the remainder of his temm. So I actually assumed
18 living in Sims, for example, and so you see that 18 my office in December of 1994 and left that office
19 pattern begin to emerge. Since [ was elected in 19 when I was elected to the State Senate in November
20 2013, I'm secing it occur more and more <0 of 2002, so eight years.
ey frequently. 21 Q All right. I'm going to give you
22 Q Got you. 22 another exhibit, which will be, I think, Exhibit
Page 22 Page 24
1 Did you grow up in Alabama, Cangressman? 1 5.
2 A Idid 2 A T'll move these up here.
3 Q Where did you grow up in Alabama? k] Q Sure, ves.
4 A [ grewup in Mobile. 4 (Exhibit 5 was marked for identification
5 Q Did you grow up in the City of Mobile? s and aitached to the deposition transcript.)
& A Idid. € BY MR. SPIVA:
v Q And you previously served as a State U Q Congressman Byme, this one is labeled
8 Senator from Alabama’s 32nd State Senate District; 8 at the top "2011 State Board of Education
9 1s that right? 9 Districts." I realize that was well after the
10 A Idid 1a time that you served on the BOE, but does -- does
11 Q And what tise period did you serve as 1 this map appear to be pretty similar to the way
1z State Scnator? 12 the districts were drawn when you were on the
13 A Twaselected in 2002. You assume the & board?
B4 affice the moment of your electien, so Movemnber of k) A Itis not,
15 2002 until 1 resigned o become Clancellor of 15 Q it's not, okay.
16 Postsecondary Education in May of 2687, [ believe. 16 What are the major differences that you
17 Q Okay. Were you ever involved in any 11 see?
18 redistricting in any capacity in that role? 18 A Well, 1 ean't speak to the other
18 A Other than being a witness that I told 12 districts, but my district, which is Disirict 1,
20 you about previously, but [ wasn't on the 20 was all of Mobile County, all of Baldwin County,
2 reapportionment committee, no. 2 and all of Escarnbia County. No part of Mobile
22 Q [lassume from the time period, too, it 22 County was a part of District, | guess that's --
Page 23 Page 25
Pages 22 to 25
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L Q Five? 1 Q '98. Or I guess I should say election
2 A Five? And I did not represent 2 because you had been appointed. Did you serve
3 Covington, Butler, Conecuh, or Crenshaw., 3 through '98?
E Q Okay., And when you were on the Board, 4 A I'wasactually elected in '94. My
5 was there ever a court ordered change to the Board s predecessor, John Tyson, was appointed by Governor
i of Education districts? 6 Folsom to be the DA in Mobile County. So he had
7 A No, [ don't think so. U two months left on his term, and so the Governor
8 Q Okay. You don't recall like in 1996 3 appointed me to serve out those two months before
9 there wasn't any kind of a change to the 9 1 assumed my full four-year term in January of
108 districts? 10 1995,
L A Not that I can recall. It certainly k) Q [see, okay.
12 didn't affect my district. 1z So when you first tan, youran as a
13 Q Okay. So during the time that you were 13 Democrat.
g on there, as you recall, you didn't -- you 14 A ldid.
15 represented, as you said, Mobile, the whole county 15 Q Okay. And you later -- you're currently
16 of Mobile? 16 a member of the Republican party.
1 A Yes. My district from Lhe moment [ was 1 A Right.
18 on the Board to the moment I left was all of L8 Q And you at some point changed from the
L Mobile County, all of Baldwin County, ail of 1% Democratic party to the Republican party.
20 Escambia Cotnty. 2l A In January of 1997.
&2 ¢ What district did you represent? 1 2 Q Okay. Why did you switch parties?
2z realize this is not the same configuration -- 22 A Because the Democratic party no longer
Page 26 Page 28
L A Tt was calted District 1. i represented the principles that I stood for
2 Q And it inchuded, I think you said, 2 politically. And I was regularly told by
3 Mobile; did it also include Baldwin? 3 Democratic leaders that 1 was not a Democrat, that
4 A All of Maobile, all of Baldwin, all of 1 [ was really a Republicen. I was regularly told
3 Escambia. 5 by Republican leaders that [ was not a Democrat, 1
6 Q Any other counties? 6 was really a Republican. And I sat down with
7 A No. u myself one day and said, you know what, you're not
8 Q Were you aware that at some point after 8 really a Demacrat, you're really a Republican.
9 you were on the Beard that the map for the Board 9 And I think I was being honest with myself and my
10 of Education districts had changed? 10 constituents, I think it was the right thing to
n A Twas. n do.
12 Q Okay. And what was your understanding 12 Q 1know these things can be complicated,
13 of what brought about that change? 13 but is there a way to describe in general terms
14 A Well, I don't know what brought about 14 what principles you felt made you fit more with
15 that change. 13 the Republican party than with the Democratic
16 Q What — strike that. 16 party?
17 When you first got on the Board, you 17 A There were a bunch. And some of them
18 were a Democrat at that point. 18 really came to focus for me being on the State
19 A Twas. 19 School Board. [ was very much an education
20 Q When you ran for reelection, what year 20 reformer. 1believed that our education system
21 was that? 2 should be there to serve the children, their
22 A 1998. 22 parents, not other things. And 1 found that the
Page 27 Page 29
Pages 26 to 29
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2 first. And I found that to be totally contrary to 2 Education?
3 my view of things. [ was not familiar before ] 3 A Uh-hmm,
1 became on the State School Board with a two-year o Q When was that?
3 college system. At that time we go to a two-year 5 A That was May of 2007.
6 college system, and I was not in agreement with € Q Okay. So that was after your time as a
? the way that the Democratic party approached the U State Senator?
8 two-year college system. 1had great & A Iwas a State Senator and then Governor
9 disagreements with them about that, ] also o Bob Riley calied me and wanted nw to leave the
L disagreed with the Democratic party on basic ¢ State Senate, leave my private practice of law and
L2 issues like abortion, gaming, Second Amendment 11 take on the rele of Chancellor with a two-year
12 rights. And [ was already at odds with the 12 college system, 2 firll-time job. When he
13 National Democratic Party. What really startled 13 initially asked me 1o de it, | wrned him down.
13 me was how much at odds | was with the State 14 But he came back to me, and some other people came
15 Democratic Party. And that made it very clear to 15 back te me 2nd persuaded me to do tt, and I did
16 me that I should change parties because, once L€ it.
17 again, [ was being honest with myself and with the 17 Q@  And what wege your — what was the tise
14 people [ represent about where  stand on issues. 18 period that you did that role?
19 Q And on abortion, what -- how did you 19 A Twas the Clanceltor Bom May of 2007
20 differ from the Democratic party on the issue? 20 untrl | think May or June of 2009.
21 A TI'm ardently pro life. 21 Q  And what did you do after you were the
22 Q And on the Second Amendment, how did you 22 Chancellor of the Alabama Department of
Page 30 Page 32
1 differ from the Democratic party? 1 Pastsecondary Education?
2 A I'm ardently pro Second Amendment. 2 A Iran for Governor and lost.
3 Q Okay. Are you antigun control? 3 Q Sounds like that was probably the only
1 A Yes, I'm antigun control. I think we 4 election you ever lost, though.
& have a right to bear arms under the Second 5 A It's the only election I ever lost, but
€ Amendment. 6 I'll never forget it.
7 Q And there was another issue other than 7 Q Yeah, I've heard from pecple that
B education that you mentioned. 8 that's the case, right, that's the — you never
g A Gaming. 9 forget that one,
10 Q Gaming. What was -- what was your LY A That's true.
e difference with the Democratic party on gaming? gt Q Yes
12 A Well, again, the Democratic party was 12 So -- and what were your
13 very pro gaming and [ was not. You remember in 13 responsibilities generally as the Chancellor?
14 1999, Governor Siegelman pushed a so-called 14 A The Chancellor is the Chief Executive
15 education lottery, And he expected the State 15 Officer of Alabama's two-year college system. At
16 Schaol Board to be supportive of his education 16 that time, the governing board was the State Board
17 lottery. And I remember calling him on the phone 17 of Education so [ was formally appointed by the
18 and telling him, because [ wanted him to hear it 18 State Board of Education. That's who [ answered
19 from me, that | was not supportive of his lottery. 1% to. They were like my Board of Directors. Since
20 1did not think his lottery was good for the 20 then they've created a separate board to govern
21 education system in the State of Alabama. 21 that system. That's the way it was then.
22 Q You became at seme point the Chancellor 22 So [ was responsible for making sure
Page 31 Page 33
Pages 30 to 33
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1 that we carried out the laws, that we carried out 1 Q And where did you practice when you were
2 the directives and policies of the State Board of 2 practicing law?

3 Education, and that the system was delivering on 3 A | started out -- well, all of my
. our mission. At the time [ took over, the 4 practice was in Mobile - geographically I was
5 two-year college systern was in a true crisis. 5 headquartered in Mobile. Obviously I had cases
& There were two Grand Jury investigations going on. 6 all over the State of Alabama, some in the
7 The Birmingham News had just won the Pulitzer 7 panhandle of Florida, a couple in the Gulf Coast
g Prize reporting on corruption in the system. g of Mississippi.
2 Q It's never -- when you get the Pulitzer 9 Q Okay. Let me ask you, ] know you've --
1o Prize for a system that is corrpt, right -- 1o it sounds like you've only had brief conversations
11 A Yes. I mean, when the biggest newspaper 11 kind of about this case, but you understand, I
12 in your state gets the Pulitzer Prize, reporting 12 take it, Congressman, that you've been listed as a
13 about the corruption of the system you've just 13 potential witness for the Secretary.
14 been appointed to take over -- and we were 14 A Yes, [ have,
15 attracting a lot of new jobs to Alabama. The 15 0 And what topics do you expect to testify
18 two-year college system is a critical, if not the 16 about at trial?
1 critical component to providing the workforce 17 A About the proposals that woukt
18 education the people need to be able to be 18 stgmaficantly change District 1.
12 prepared for those jobs. And so the Govemor L O Ckay. Anything else?
20 said, loak, I need for you to first and foremost 20 A No, sir.
21 clean up the corruption in the system. And the 21 O And what do yeu expect o testify about
22 corruption was endemic in the system. Secondly, 22 cencerning that topic?
Page 34 Page 3¢
g you've got to tum this system to be a much more 1 A Twould be testifying, 1 assume, about
2 effective provider of this education as we the sigmificant concerns | have about the
3 continue to develop Alabama economically. And 2 prepesals n each of Exlabits 1, 2, 3, and 4, for
g then later on, after [ became Chancellor, because " the sedrawing of Dastrict 1.
5 of the recession, [ had te do all of that while we 5 Q  We'll dive into that in just a minute.
& were cutting tens of millions of dollars out of 6 And let me just ask you before we do
7 the system, but it was a daunting task. But] y that, did you participate in any capacity in
8 vnderstoed how important it was to the state and, £ Alabama's redistricting process in the 2011
9 despite the fact T did not want to do it -- and a redistricting cycle?
10 Governor Riley can tell you how much I did not Ll A No, 1 was not in the legislature.
11 want to do it - 1 did it. I'm glad I did, and 11 Q Okay. Did you provide any input, have
1z I'm proud of the work that we did. 12 any conversations, anything like that?
13 Q That's great. 13 A Not about congressional districts. [
g And you also practiced law, I know, over 14 think after the fact | had a discussion with Randy
15 a long period of time. What kind of law did you 15 Davis who was the House Member somewhat — in some
1€ practice? 16 way involved in doing this about the School Board
LY A Itell everybody I started out my career oL District (indicating).
18 as a commercial litigator who did labor and 18 Q And you're pointing to what | believe
13 employment law on the side and at the end of my 19 was marked as Exhibit 57
20 career | was a labor and employment lawyer who did 20 A Exhibit 5, yes. Heand L had a
21 comumercial litigation on the side. Both sides of 21 discussion about that. [t may have been afier the
22 law, obviously, and doing a lot of litigation. 22 fact. 'm not certain.
Page 35 Page 37
Pages 34 to 37
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1 Q Afterit had changed to this current g just wasn't configured this way, But it wasa
2 configuration? 2 majority-minority district then.
3 A Tt was either as it was being proposed 3 Q Okay. And was that true the whole time
4 in this configuration or after it had been g that you were on the school board?
5 adopted. 5 A Yes, there were -- there were twa
8 Q Okay. And can you tell me, Congressman § different members. 1 have forgotten the man that
7 Byrne, about that conversation with Mr. Davig? ? was the member on it when [ first was elected.
8 A Yes, | was concerned about taking away g But he was retired and was replaced by Ms. Ella
9 any part of Mabile County and putting it into 9 Bell. So I worked with beth of them and actually
10 another district. He and I had a discussion about e spent a little bit of time in various places in
11 why they decided to do that. 11 that district with them because they were
12 Q  And why were you concerned? 12 different school board members. And particularly
13 A Because I think if's important to keep 13 because | had a contiguous district to work with
o4 counties whale. I think at's problematic for a 14 them, there were times when there were people in
5 State School Board member from Montgomery to be 5 sowne of the counties just to the north of my State
16 able to understand the problems with the school 1s School Board district would call me for help on
1% systein in Mobile County. 17 things, and I would tell them, I'm not your school
12 Q Okay. And what was your undersianding, 18 board member, but I'm happy to help.
14 if any, of why the current configuration was being 18 Q Right.
20 proposed? 26 A And [ would always inform the member
21 A Well, because the population changes 21 from that district, hey, I've had this request
47 within District 5, they needed to grow 1, and so e from people in your district. I don't want to do
Page 38 Page 40
1 they were fooking for ways to grow it. And they 1 anything in your district unless you're okay with
2 dectded to put part of it, as you can see from 2 it. In every case they would say, no, fine, I
3 Exhibit 5, in the nottheastern quadrant of Mobite 3 appreciate you doing it. Sometimes that was true
4 County. And so [ was expressing concerns abont 1 because of the geographic proximity. It's a lot
5 having two schoel board miembers dealing with the 5 easier for somebedy from Mobile to deal with
€ Mobile County School System. That was my primaegy § Washington, Clarke, and Monroe, for example, than
Z concem. 2 it is for somebody from Montgomery. So [ could
8 Q Did you have any understanding of 8 physically be present where # was very difficult
e whether -- of what the change to the cument 9 for somebody fiem Montgomery to physicaily be
16 eonfiguratiots of the Board of Education distriets 10 present.
11 did in terms of majority-minority distriets, 1 Q [liake it from kind of the beginning of
12 either in District 5 or District 4? 12 your answer, it sounds like there were two
i3 A Wedidn't pet into that. [ was nune i3 majority-minority districts in the plan while --
14 concerned about the problem of a person from 14 during the time that you were on the school board?
15 Montgomery trymg to understand all of the issues 15 A Yes, there was this district, District
1g regavding the Mebite County School Systenw 16 5, and T can't remember the number of the
17 Q Did you -- did you have an understanding 17 district, but it was Dr. Hall -- Dr. Hall's
18 that District § is now in the State Board of 18 district. That was mainly Birmingham. I know it
18 Education district -- State Board of Education 19 was more than that. Dr. Hall was the vice chair
20 map, that that is not a majority-minority 20 of the Board when I was on the Board. Vice chair
21 district? 21 is elected by the Board. The governor's formally
22 A Well, it was when [ was on board. Tt 22 the chair of the Board, but the vice chair really
Page 39 Page 41
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1 functions as the chair of the Board. So Dr. Hall L District 5.
2 was our vice chair chair the whole time [ was on 2 Q Okay. And who represented District 5
3 the Board, and [ certainly had a lot of 3 when you were on the Board?
4 interaction with Dr. Hall and sometirnes in her 4 A 1 think the gentleman's name when 1 was
5 district. 3 first elected was Dr. Willie Paul, and then he
& Q Okay. Just looking at Exhibit 5, do you e retired and he was replaced by Ella Bell, who 1
E recall if Dr. Hall represented what's labeled as 7 think is still on.
g District 4 which kind of goes up into Jefferson 8 Q Okay. Did you work with either Dr. Paul
e County and Birmingham? 9 or Ms. Bell?
10 A Yes, [ think she did, but I don't know 10 A Alot
11 that it was configured this way. 1 can'ttell you e Q What kinds of things did you work with
e for sure, 12 them on?
13 Q Sure. 13 A Just about everything you can imagine
e A Mainly when I was interacting with 14 that was within the jurisdiction of the State
15 Dr. Hall in her district, [ was in the Birmingham 5 School Board. So it could be K-12 matters. It
18 area, 16 could be postsecondary matters. There was a lot
17 Q What kinds of interactions did you have 17 of that. A lot of the good things about the Board
18 with Dr. Hall conceming her district? 18 when I was on it was we all interacted with one
19 A  We would have State School Board 15 another about one another’s districts a lot, and [
20 meetings in her district. She would have other 20 really appreciated, when [ was first on the Board
2 meetings in her district pertaining to education, 2 and not as famniliar with that district, Dr. Paul
22 and she would invite some or all of us to come to 22 was really good about explaining things to us,
Page 42 Page 44
1 these meetings. 1 taking us there. [ remember we had a State School
2 Q Sure. e Board meeting in Tuskegee and we got there the day
3 A [tried to accommodate Dr. Hall every 3 before, spent the night. We got to tour, learned
4 chance I could. [ had tremendous respect for her. g all about Tuskegee. So I think Dr. Paul dida
L She was our leader. And if she asked me to do 5 really goad job of making sure we knew about his
6 something, if I could do it, and I was a § district, in each of his district, and I really
d practicing attorney so [ -- lawyer duties, but if ? enjoyed doing that.
8 I could da it, I tried to make my schedule 8 0 So let me shift gears agaim here and
9 available for her, 9 just ask von if you're farailiar with the term
L Q How about in District 3, it sounds like 10 "pommunities of interest” as it applies to
1 you had some interactions with the representative 12 redistricting,
12 from -- school board member, I should say, from 2 A [ couldn't define it for yon.
13 District 5 as well? 13 Q Okay. Not a formal definition, but do
14 A Oh, ves, yes. We had not just those 14 vou have a sense of kind of what that means or -
13 three counties, just above District |, which would 13 A No, you would have to tell me.
16 be Washington, Clarke, and Monroe, but we had 16 Q Okay. Inyour view, are there
17 meetings in Selma, Tuskegee. Lots of things &l communities of interest in your district?
18 around Montgomery. Of course, when we met 18 A  Of course.
15 formaily, usually we were meeting in Montgomery, 19 Q Your congressional district?
20 but we had other things around Montgomery like the el A Yes.
2t Trenhglm State Technical College there in 21 Q Is there a way you can describe those?
22 Montgomery. So I had a fair amount of meetings in 2z A Yes.
Page 43 Page 45
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Q Fcan -- | can give you a current -- 1
know you know it very weld, but if it's easier to
talk about, looking at the current map, 1 can —
why don't we mark one just so we all have itim
front of us while you're -- while you're
discussing. So this will be Exhibit 6,

(Exhibit 6 was marked for identification
and attached to the deposition transeript.)
BY MR. SPIVA:

Q If you want to do i in connection with
Exhibit 6, which is the current map of the .5,
House Districts in Alabama, or if you want 0 just
do i, you knew, without refereacing it, however
is, you know, easiest for you, but if you could
kind of describe the communities of interest in
your district.

A Saure. And I'll start with Exhibit 6
because it is helpful. If you Jook at this map of
those counties, everything feeds into Mobile
Batdwin, okay? First of all, you have two major
river systems that come together, and those two
siver systems belp define both the economy and the
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They have this online presence called AL .comn. Se
-- but il used to be that even peaple in Monree
would get the Mobile Press-Register. That's whewe
they got a lot of their news. But cerfainly today
they get a ot of their news from these theee
Local television stations.
Also because of the fact that you've got

an urban area there in Mobile, a lot of people are
pulled into that for cultural activities, civic
activities, entertainment and things. So Mobile
and now -- now that Baldwin County has grown so
much, they're kind of a magnet for those four
counties noith of there and pull people in, both
for work and for the other things 1 mentiened.

Q (Okay. Mow, I notice that Clarke County
is only partially in your -- in your district. 1s
there -- to your knowledge, is there a reason why
that picce of Clarke County is included in
District 1 but not the rest of Clarke County?

A Well, | wasn® 2 congressinan when this

Q Sure.

Page 48

culture and the communitics of that area, going
back hundreds of years. Many of 1he jobs for the
district are there in Mobile and Batdwin Counties,
and so you have people from Washington, Clarke,
Monroe, and Escambia, who travel into those
eounties for their work and then go home at the
end of the day. So just sert of center of
everything is here in Mobile and Baldwin Cowvies
just because of what they do economically. A lot
of what the people in that area also get in terms
of information comes fiom the three television
stations there because people alt get those
television stations, and they obviously get their
aews from that. Itused to be we had a eommon big
urban newspaper, the Mobile Register, we still do,
but it only prints three days a week so #'s not
quite as strong as it used to be,

Q 1It's kind of a commeon thing arownd the
country, the local papers geing enline or just
gaing out of business.

A Well, in Alabama, the thice biggest
newspapers have gone to | think three days a weelk.

Page 47
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A -- map was done so Fra wot sure whal
their motives were, but if vou followed U.S, 43
north ot of Washington Counly, it would go
basicalty through the niiddle of what you see there
as part of Diistrict [. Se that includes two key
communities, Jackson and Grove Hill. That's no1
ail of the city limits of Jackson or all the city
fimits of Grove Hill, but a big pari of each of
those run right where U.S, 3 goes through there.
And so the people in Grove Hill and Jackson will
drive down to U.S. 43 to get to Mobile both for
work and those other thangs that I mentioned.

€ Right. Okay. Any ether things that you
would deseribe as communities of interest in your
district?

A Well, everything keys off of what I saud
before. Obviousiy jobs, economies pull people in.
You've got that river system. A lot of us Hke to
hunt and fish and so the Mobile-Tensaw River Delsa
is a very rich place in terms of habitat, We're
all interested in that. This is the oldest part
of the state of Alabama, founded by the Freneh in
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1 1701, but you had other people that came in there 1 here I'm not just focusing on your district but
2 to form that area. So you have this sort of : the whole state — do you think they're generally
3 historical tradition there. Mobile was a French 3 kept together under the current map?
4 city where Mardi Gras started in the United 4 A Well, I haven't thought about it for
5 States. So Mabile -- used to be Mobile had Mardi 5 other districts, and I can’t claim that I have the
6 Gras parades, nobedy else did. Now these other 6 same level of knowledge about the other districts.

-
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places all have Mardi Gras parades. And 50 Mardi
Gras has become something that pulls peaple
together. We have a major university, University
of South Alabama. It not only pulls people in
from those areas, it does things out into these
counties. So everything comes back to that for
thase four counties outside of Mobile and Baldwin
County, cverything comes back to that,

Now, the fastest growing county in the
State of Alabama, and, therefore, in my district,
is Baldwin County on the eastem side of Mobile
Ray. And so you used to just talk about Mabile,
but my answer previously included Baldwin County
because increasingly you've got Baldwin County
pulling people in, whether it's to the eastern
shore of Baldwin County or down there on the

Page 50
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Q Sure.

A But knowing what [ know about them, [
think there are common interests in each of these
districts. Yau can look at the map and tell that
there are some districts that are geographically
larger than others. And the larger they are, the
more geographic area you cover, the less you have
communities of interest. So that might be the
case. But when you look at like the District 5,
which [ call it the Tennessec Valley. My daughter
actually lives up there so I'm familiar with it
through her, but I've also spent a lot of time
working up there, That is clearly a community of
interest because of the fact that they share the
Tennessee River. The Tennessee Valley Authority
provides their power, They have their own unigue

Page 52
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beaches, Orange Beach and Gulf Shores, which are
tremendous hubs for tourism activity -- people
play and have fun. Also as part of our sort of
shared culture down there is we love seafood. And
the seafood industry is very important to that
district, Lots of restaurants, not just in Mobile
and Baldwin Counties, but even these other places,
lots of restaurants specialize in seafood. So
that's another patt of it. Gosh. While the
economy is diverse in that aren, there are certain
things about the economy of that area that are
unique. For example, you've got a port. No other
part of Alabama has a port on the ocean or the
Gulf of Mexico. As I said, seafood is a big part
of it. And recreational fishing is a big part.
So you have — if you just think about that part
of Alabama, and every part of Alabama is unique
and has its own good attributes, but those --
those are unique attributes, good attributes for
that part that pull people together.

Q Okay. Do you believe that communities
of interest under the current Alabama map - but
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history up there. Huntsville, which is right near
Madison County, is where they made the rocket for
Apollo 1. So there's a lot of pride around that

for obvious reasons. It's a more mountainous

area. Where I live, it's more of a flaf, coastal

plain going down to the beaches area, So those
two areas are pretty distinet. You can tell that.

District 2 is mainly — we know it
mainly as the wiregrass, plus Montgomery and some
suburban counties. Wiregrass is a pretty
well-defined region that has its own separate
ecanomy, special features, culture. Their
agriculture is somewhat different from the
agriculture that I have in my district. So
they're maore common that way.

District 7 is largely what we would know
as the Black Belt in Alabama, not because of
people's race but because of the soil.

Q Right. Yes.

A And so thase counties have a lot in
cotmmon with one another. And it's contiguous to
my county, and obviously I have a part of Clarke
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County that is consideved to be a part of it. So
Representative Sewell, who represents Bistrict 7,
and [ work together a lot because we have a fot of
thiss that we Rave in conunon

Q ['went to law school with Representative
Sewell.

A Well, she and [ -- she was, by the way,
the bond lawyer -- one of the bond lawyers —
outside bond lawyers when [ was Chancellor of the
Postsecondary system. This is before she was in
Congress.

Q Right, yes, sure.

A So before she and [ were colleagues, she
was my lawyer.

Q Oh, okay.

A Soshe and I have a good working
relationship. I knew some from my time before
being in Congress about that district, Dr. Paul
obviously introduced me to a lot, but I think
Representative Sewell does a good job of that as
well. So I see her district as having a community
of interest.
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have a lot in common aail that sort of grouping
makes sense to me,

Q Okay. Does it make sense to, with
respect to kind of what you just said, District 6
and District 7, to separate the suburban areas of
Birmingham from the - from the city itself?

A Well, T would prefer -- this is not with
tegard to that district — with all districts - [
prefer to keep counties whole. But -- and [ don't
lknow why they chose te do it this way. It may be
that they thought puiting Birmingham together with
the Black Belt districts made more of a community
of interest than the suburban counties for
Birmingham. I don't know. But] just -- just
knowing those counties, I think that they have a
lot in common.

Q Okay. Do you think the City of Mobile
s anythug in commen with the Black Belt
ocounties?

A Not as much. Mebile hisiorically -~

Q Tkeep misprenouncing it. 1 tried to
get it right, but I keep -- [ keep saying it
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East of Alzbama, District 3, that's Mike
Roper's district. 6's a little bi
geographically bigger, but we kind of tend to see
cast Alabamaz as its own geographic region within
the state. It goes from Russell aMl the way up to
Cherokee, but you've got Opelika and Auburn where
Auburm Universiy is, an extremely inrportant asset
tor the State of Alabama,

And then District 4, which is Robert
Aderholt's district, is over there just below the
Tennessee Valley. You have Cullman. You have
Fasper. These arc -- they tend to be kind of the
same area. And that area nght in the center,
District 6, that's Gary Palmer’s district. That's
mainly the suburban areas to the City of
Birmingham. The part of District 7 that gets up
into Jefferson County is mainly -- mainly the City
of Birmingham, So all of this area of District 6
is the suburban areas to Birmingham.

So when I look at those, witl: not having
the same level of knowledge about each of those
districls as I do about my own, I do see that they
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wIong.

A It's real simple. It's Mabile.

Q Mobile, yes.

A Mobile kistarically was the port through
which timber amd agricudtural products moved from
the interior of the state of Alabama and then out
to the world.

Q Right.

A And so back in those days, when that was
a very important past of the economy of the
interior of the state, then there probably was
more contact between Mobile and the Black Belt,
That's not nearly as important anymore. Sol
don't see as much contact and have not in my life
lsave seen as much contact between those Black Bels
counties and the southwestem part of the state.
They just don't have that connection as much as
they used te. T wish we had more of a connection,
$0 be honest with you, but it's just the
practicalities of the economy that they have
there, Mobile is not as important to them because
they're not moving things through the port as much
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1 as they used to. 1 Q Ella Bell, yes.
2 Q Right. Okay. z Has she ever expressed fo you any
B Let me ask you, if you would, can we 3 concerns about the current configuration of the
4 flip back to the current Board of Education map, 1 district — of her district?
3 which I think is Exhibit 5. e A I don't think I've talked to Ms. Bell
§ A Five. & since the current configuration of this district
U Q Five, yes. | apologize. There arca u was made,
B couple questions [ think [ neglected to ask you 4 Q Okay. Have you -- have you heard from
9 when we were falking about that. Do you -- do you 3 anybody concemns about the cuwirent configuration,
10 view the 2011 Board of Education plan as -- 10 especially with respect to District 57
L respecting communities of interest? And in 11 A Well, I referenced earlier the
12 particular, kind of focusing on your area of the 12 conversations I had with Mr. Davis, who was the
i state and the area above it, so kind of what are 13 representative wha was in charge of putting
14 now labeled District 1 and District 5. I mean, do 14 together the State School Board districts. I
15 you -- do you view that as respecting communities et certainly registered to him my concerns. I don't
16 of interest, or not really? 16 know that I remember hearing anybody else have the
17 A Not really. 17 same concerns or at least voice them.
ad Q Howcome? [apologize, [ know you 1e Q Okay. So let's maybe now turn back to
19 covered some of this before. 15 what we've been calling the proposed plans or
20 A That's fine. 20 revised plans, Why don't -- why don't we start
21 1don't think that Conecuh, Butler, 21 with what was Exhibit 1, which is labeled "Revised
22 Crenshaw, and Covington lock to Mobile very much, 22 Plan 1, Alabama -- U.S, House, Revised Plan 1."
Page 58 Page 60
i whereas obviously the people in the northeast 1 A Uh-hmm.
2 quadrant of Mobile County that are in District 5, 2 Q Assoonas [ can get it in front of me,
3 they look to Mobile all the time. So they've been 3 let me just ask you, what is your view of revised
4 essentially for purpeses of the State School Board 1 plan 1, which is Exhibit 17
s taken out and put into a district that looks more 5 A 1don't think il's good for the counties
6 to Montgomery. 6 that are presently in District 1 that would remain
Z Q Okay. When you say "looks to," I think L in this district, which would be Mobile, Baldwin,
e I kind of like intwitively understand what you & and Escambia. And I don't think it's geod for the
9 mean, but can you explain a little bit more what 2 counties that are presently in District 2, which
ia you mean by "looks to"? 10 are Covington, Coffee, Dale, Henry, Houston, and
11 A Where do you get your news from. Where Hil Geneva,
i is the big city that you go shopping. Where are 12 Q Why not?
13 the commonalities of the economy. Where is the 13 A Well, they are two different regions of
14 commonality in your traditions. You think of 14 the state, and they don't have the commonality
15 Conecuh, Butler, Crenshaw, and Covington being 15 that you see presently existing within present
16 more a part of what we call the wiregrass. And, 16 Districts 1 and 2. [i's a long way from West
17 like I say, they look to Dothan and Montgomery. 17 Mobile to the eastern part of Houston County. So
B They don't look to Mobile as much. 18 a congressman has to cover that whole area if
13 Q Okay. Has -- [ think you - you said or 19 they're doing their job right. So itis - if you
20 named the current representative as Ms. Bell, | 20 look at the present composition of District 1,
el believe? 21 it's not easy, but it's not as hard to get around
22 A EllaBell. 22 that district and cover all those different
Page 59 Page 6l
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cemmmunities. Whereas if you had to go all the way
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from West Mobile County to Houston County, : the people to the City of Mobile. 1've been very
wotld be far more difficult to cover all of those 3 invalved in economic development efforts in that
communities. 1 mentioned eatlier, I do a lot of 4 area for a long time. And splitting up our
town halls. [ do them in every community you cas ¥ congressional representation would hurt those
imagine, big, small, rural, deesn't iatter. € economic development efforts which have, frankly,

Q Yes. L done an amazing -- we have gotten an amazing

A 1t would be very difficult for me to be 8 tesult these last several years. Airbus has a
able ta cover what's here in District 1 and have 9 plant there, for example. That Airbus plant just
the same level of town hatls and certainly get to 10 didn't show up there. There was substantial
the variety of places i try to get to. Plus 1L effort to make it happen. We have a Navy shipyard
there's such a difference in the economies, et 12 there in Mobile. That Navy shipyard didn't just
cetera, and what you're an advocate for in 13 show up there and still retnain there. There's
Congress, that you would stilt be an advocate for ] substantial effort for that to happen. I'm
the entire district, but it wonld dilute your 15 packing out some big examples.
ability to be the advecate for the district, A 16 Q Sure.
Senator and 2 Gevernar represent the whole state, 17 A Twould -- T would thunk it wonld hurt
and they have o look out for the whole state. A ig those efforts based upon my expesience going
congressman logks out for their distriet, 19 forward for there to be two congressmen

Q Right. ¢ representing that avea rather than one.

A They're the ones totally focused on the 2t Q Something you mentioned a minute ago oy
distreet. So cight now as a congressman from 22 kimd of at the beginning of the answer you gave

Page 62 Fage 64

District 1, ! ean totally focus on what 1 1 about the map, you said that it would be
described to yon earlier as the economy and the 2 diffrcult, I think, to kind of represent —
other needs for the present composition of 3 effectively represent the whole area because --
District {. What you would be asking a i was that in terms of the wiregrass counties in the
cengressman to do under Exhibit 1 is to take that 5 castern part of the proposed District 1, is that
same level of effort and spread it out over a much J mainly because of the distance or because of other
broader array of interests. 1wouldn't say ¢hat a ? factors?
congressman weuldn't try to do it, but I don't 8 A Other factors as well. Distance,
think even somebody working as hard as they 9 certainly, is a big part of it. It's a larger
possibly could, could do it as well or with the 10 geographic area, therefore, more difficudt wo
same level of attention and focus that there needs L cover, Butthere's a big difference in the
to be, plus you're splitting Mobile County up 12 Covington and Geneva, Coffee, Dale, Henry, Housion
between District 2 and Digtrict 1, and { do nat 13 economy, what they focus on, than there is iy the
think it's in the district —- in the interest of 14 Escarnbta, Baldwin and Mobile, of the counties
the people of Mobile County to be split up like 15 preseily in there. Ome of the big things about
that. [think they need to have a whole county 16 those eastern counties is you've got right i the
working with one congressman. I think they need 17 middle of that Fort Rucker.
to be conjoined with the whole county of Baldwm 1e Fort Rucker is a major focus for any
County. 19 €ongressman representing that area. It represents

Q Okay. Do you think there would be any 20 an enormous number of jobs, not just at the Fort
benefits to the peeple of the City of Mobile to a 21 but private sector businesses that do business
configuration such as this? 22 with the Fort. You've got a lot of military

Page 63 Page 65
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Z around the Fort. 2 different, they're kind of difterent 1ssues, but
3 Houston County and Dothan, they have twoe 3 where vou would say, well, gosh, 1 got to vote
1 or three different very important businesses going 1 for, you know, some water issue over bere but I've
& on there, but one of their newest things, they've 5 got -- I've got to vote conlrary to that because,
€ got an osteopath college, a medicat school, € you know, it's a more tand-based area. Can you
- osteapath school, That's very different from a 2 think of anything like that?
8 medical school like you have at the Universily of A You know, I'll give you an example. ¥We
9 South Alabaina in Mobile. Not werse er betier, 9 had a water bill that moved through Congress a
10 Just different. 10 couple years ago, and because | represent these
1 Q Right 1 seafood arcas, some of the seafood interests came
Lo A You have a major university in Mobile i 1o me and said we want o include in the bill the
13 Counly. They de not have a inajer university in 13 authorization of a study aboul oyster production.
t4 the sastern counties in District 1, but they look 14 Okay? Very umporiant to thal area. The Georgia
15 Just notth to Pike where Tray University is. Troy 15 members saw that language and theught that it was
is University is a very different university from the is there to try to protect the flow of water that
sl University of South Alabama. Net better or worse. o ultimately gets down to Appalachia Cola because
18 Difierent. 18 they have their own oysters. And that's where the
19 Q Right. il Chattahoochee flows out of Georgia along the line
20 A So the interest that you would be trying 20 with Alabama, and then through Florida.
21 to represeit in these castern counties are 21 And so I was able 1o tell them, no, this
22 fundamentally different from the interesis over 2 has to do with my district, which is over bere.
Page 66 Page 68
d here in the western part, Mobile, Baldwin, and : Q Right.
2 Escambia. Even though there’s some commoenatity in 2 A Itdoesn't have to do with this side
3 agriculture, the agriculture s different. H over there, and I'm not gettrag into your water
4 They've got more pouliry and cattle over there 1 wars because there's a svater war between Alabama,
3 than we do on our side. We have more row crops s {eorgia, and Florida -
6 than they do. S0 even though the agriculture may & Q Right.
7 be simitar, there's still some significant Z A -~ with regard to the Chattahoochee and
8 differences. So, for example, in Mobile and d water coming out of the Atlarta. So that was -- I
9 Baldwin Ceunties where I focus on things like 9 was able to escape what would have been a blocking
e fixing the red snapper scason, which is a federad ¢ vote from the Georgia delegation over that, But,
il thing, believe it or not, making sure that we have 1 in large part, it's not necessarity how you vote.
12 the proper funding for the Navy shipyard in 12 It's how much time -- there's only so mary hours
13 Mobile. Tcan really focus on things like that. 13 in the day.
14 But if you throw into the mix Fort Rucker, Troy, 14 Q Right.
15 these other agricultural interests that are 15 A I only have so many peeple on my staff.
15 different from mine, then, once again, not just 16 Okay? If you make me take my time, my staff and
e from the geography, but from the diversity of 17 divide it along a much greater geographic arca, a
18 interest, I'm spreading my focus. I'm spreading 18 much wider area of interest, each one of those is
19 my efforts over a much broader array of interests. L going to get less attention, less effort.
2t Q Okay. Are there amy issues like that C Something is going to suffer. That's just the
2 ¢hat you can think of where it would present kind 1 nature of the world that we live in,
22 of a conflict in the way you would nead to vate on 2 Q Right,
Page 67 Page 69
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but in federal programs, federal grants, and even
in economic development. Believe it or not,
they'll take a congresswoman or congressman when
they're doing -- pitching somebody to come to an
area and bring them in the room and say this is
why this area is so important. This is why you
should bring your business or factory and locate
it here. Iplay that role. Iknow everybody else
in delegation plays that role as well.

Q Sure, okay.

MR. DAVIS: Before you go to the next
question, Congressman, do you need a break or a
cup of water?

THE WITNESS: I would love a cup of
water.

MR, SPIVA: I'm sorry. Iapologize.

I've been sitting here drinking this.

THE WITNESS: Are we taking a break?

MR. SPIVA: Yes, why don't we take a
few-minute break.

MR. DAVIS: Just a couple minutes.

THE WITNESS: Yes, that would be great.

Page 72
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1 A So, once again, that's the difference
2 between being a congressman and a Senator.
3 Q Right.
4 A A Senator looks after the entire state.
5 Q Right.
6 A The congressman is focused on his or her
7 district. I focus on my district. Congresswoman
8 Roby who presently represents District 3 -- is
9 that what it is?
10 Q [Ithink so, yes.
11 A Yes. Isit2?
12 Q Two,
13 MR. DAVIS: Roby is 2.
14 A She really focuses on her district, She
15 knows that stuff about Fort Rucker. And she got
16 it. And if she needs my help, she'll call me and
17 I'll give it to her, but I recognize her as the
18 expert on Fort Rucker. If she needs some help
19 with Troy, even though I don't represent Troy, she
20 calls me and I'm going to help her, but I
21 recognize that she's got the expertise on that.
22 All of us in the Alabama delegation have that
Page 70
1 understanding, If Congresswoman Sewell tells me
2 "I need some help with something in the Black
3 Belt," you tell me where you want to go, I'm going
4 to get behind you and help you. We do that for
5 one another. It's one of the strengths of our
6 delegation, is that we do that. But we have to
7 have that focus and expertise by the member from
8 that district to lead the rest of us and, frankly,
9 to lead the state as to where we need to go.
10 Q Right. I understand you are -- you are
11 seeking to be the next Senator from Alabama.
12 A Tam. Iam.
13 Q You're going to have a change of focus.
14 A Tam. Tam. And that's why right now I
15 can sort of see the difference.
16 Q Right.
17 A There is -- there is a fundamental
18 difference between being a Senator, for that
19 matter a Governor, and being a congressman.
20 Congressmen or congresswomen focus on their
21 district. They're the advocate for their
22 district. And that's true not just in legislation
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THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is 11:06

a.m, and we're going off the record.
(A brief recess was taken.)

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is 11:11
a.m. and we're back on the record.

MR. DAVIS: Before we continue, Bruce,
am I correct that we have an understanding that
this deposition be used only for purposes of this
litigation?

MR. SPIVA: Yes,

MR, DAVIS: Including the video, the
deposition transcript, all of that,

MR. SPIVA: Yes, yes. It's not under
seal, obviously, but we have no intent of like,
you know, displaying this on the evening news or
anything, you know -- anything like that, yes,
right, exactly. I mean, I just -- I just want to
be careful that I'm not like agreeing to keep it
under seal because then it creates all kinds of
problems when you have, as you know, Congressman,
when you have to file, you have to file with a
motion, and, you know, if there's anything that's
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referenced or anything like that --

MR. DAVIS: No, no, I'm not suggesting
it should be under seal. T just want the typicat
understanding that with most depositions, it would
be used for purposes of the litigation.

MR. SPIVA: Yes, that is .- that is -- f
will agree to that, ves.

BY MR, SMVA:

Q S0, Congressiman Byme, was there
anything £lse that was of concern to you regarding
revised plan 1, which is 1 think labeled as
Exhibit 17

A Well, at least in general I've coverad
all of 1t, but there’s -- there are a lot more
«details I could go into with regard to the
different econainies, et cetera. Bit, in gesteral,

1 thirk I've told you about the spread of Hime,
spread of resonrces and advocale over a greater,
not only geopgraphic avea, but greater different
types of interests.

0 And then maybe just fecusing on, for a
minute, the CD 2 under the revised plan 1, and if

Page 74
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of her cffort into it, but as smart and capable
and hardworking as she is, { don't fhink she could
do it as well.

Q And you noted -- well, I'll note, and
tell me if you agree, the propased District 7
under revised plan 1, that actually is a lot more
kind of compact than the District 7 and
Representative Sewell's district in the current
plan.

A Yes.

Q Would you agree with that?

A Twould. 1do have concerns about
splitting Tuscaloosa County. 1 think that split
into Jeffersen County, but it's presently split
inta Tuscaloosa County. And [ think Congressman
Aderholt or Congressman Sewell will handle it very
well, but I think Tuscaloosa will be better off
with one congressman.

Q Right. And Jefferson is currently split
as well.

A Yes,

Q 5o any other concerns about any of this,
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it's helpful to laek at the cument plan.

A Yes.

£ Inloeking at dhat -

A ¥es, here.

Q --do you have any farther concerns
other than the ones you've already articidated
concerning the proposed CD 2 umder revised plan 1?

A Well, [ think [ said this earlier, but
't moke sure [ say it again. I think puiting
that part of Mobile or amy part of Mobile County
in the same district with the county that's
basically centered on Montgomery is going to
difute the efforts that we're making there to
build our economy, and alsa if's asking somebody
who is basicatly focused oen Moentgomery to try to
fearn completely different, you know, economde
setting, cultural setting, civic setting, And i
think that's asking a whole lot from the person
that represents District 2, I don't think they
could do it as well, I'm not saying that they
wouldn't put their effort forth. For example, if
that wag Terri Sewell, I think she would put all
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you know, District 7, District 2, District 1 under
revised plan 1?

A 1have focused just on what it does to
District 1. I haven't really looked that much at
Exhibit 1 as to what it would do to the other
districts. It does make some changes, but I think
from my perspective, the biggest problem is what
it does to District 1 and District 2 and -- let's
see, District 1 and District 2.

Q Okay. Asyou know from, you know, at
least briefly reviewing the complaint and, you
know, you understand kind of the basic allegations
in this complaint, that the plaintiffs are seeking
to create a second majority African-American
district. Do you think there would be a benefit
to the African-American community to having a
second majority African-American district?

A I don't really have an opinion about
that. I'm more concerned about the people where [
live. [don't think it's a benefit to the people
of Mobile County, whether they're
African-American, white, Hispanic, or
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Asian-American, to have a congressman from
Montgomery. [ don't care what the race of the
congressiman is. [ don't -- if Martha Roby is
gomg to be the congressman that would come ia
there, 1 don't think it's good for the people in

ny district to have a congressman who is mainly
fecused on Memigomery.

Q Okay. Now, would you agree that the
voting in your district in the current
configuration is fairly racially polarized? When
I -- just to get a little definition, | mean, you
know, the vast majority of African-Americans in
your district tend to vote, you know, for your
opponent, for the Democratic candidate, and the
vast majority of whites tend to vote for yourself.

MR. DAVIS: Object to the form.

A [don't -- [ don't know the numbers.
Frankly, [ don't pay that close attention to that.
In general [ know that more African-American's
vote Demaceat. More whites vote Republican.
There has been more -- some shifting going on
there, as a matter of fact, You're seeing, like
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Q Yes

A My opponent, the Democrat, was Robert
Kennedy. But1don't know -- as I said, I didn't
go back and look at the results after the fact. 1
don't know exactly how the vate split out. I know
generally how many vates I got, generally how many
votes he got, but [ can't tell you where they came
from.

Q Okay. How about the City of Mobile, do
you know how the votes split out in the City of
Mohbile in the --

A In my election?

Q Yes.

A 1didn't look that closely. I think [
carried Mobile, but I don't know.

Q Okay. And] think you acknowledged a
minute ago that, you know, most African-Americans
in your district tend to vote Democratic as
oppased to the majority of whites voting
Republican. Why do you think that's the case?

MR, DAVIS: Object to form.
A Thatis a great question, and it's
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in Mobile, the City of Mobile, you're seeing more
whites voting Democrat. And in Baldwin County
where [ live, you're seeing more African-Americans
vote Republican. So even that's shifting arcund.

Q Okay. You haven't actually seen the
plaintiff's expert reports in this case, have you?

A No.

Q Would it surprise you that an estimated
97 percent of African-Americans in your district
voted -- sory, it sounds impolite -- but voted
against you, voted for your apponent in the last
glection?

MR. DAVIS: Obiject to form.

A Idon't know the numbers and so [ can't
say I'm surprised. Like I say, when [ look at the
results of an election, I'm really not paying that
close of attention to it or concerned about that.

Q Okay. Do you know whether -- what the
African-Amnerican candidate of choice was in the
last congressional election?

A Well, my opponent -- are you talking
about my election?
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something that I not only have thought a lot
about, I've worried over because 1 don't think
it's healthy. I think there's some traditional
things going on. African-Americans look to the
Democratic party as the party that primarily
ushered through the civil rights legislation in
the '60s. Although, if you go back and look at
the history, it would not have happened without
Republican votes in both the House and the Senate,
and there were key opponents to that legislation
that were southern Democrats, but I think
African-Americans look to that and look to that
history. But more and more [ think what's
happening in my district is really reflective of
what's happening in the country. People are
finding differences -- | don't want to use the
word polarization. 1don'tlike it. People find
differences among one another because they have a
different view of what American — what the
federal government should do for America, so it's
more ideological in my mind than it is racial.

Q Why do you think that -~ well, first let
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What issues, if any, do you believe are
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2 that ideological difference closely tracks with 2 important to the African-American community in
3 race, corresponds to race? 3 your district?
4 A Tdon't know because I've never actually 4 A The same issues that are important to
5 seen a study on that, but I know from talking to 5 the white people in my district. Their jobs, the
6 people, be they white or African-American or 6 education of their children, the safety of their
7 Hispanic or Asian-American, it really starts with 7 homes and their community, the continuation of the
8 their role of the federal government or what's the 8 opportunities that have been afforded to them.
9 role that should be of the federal government. E They want more opportunities for their children
10 So, clearly you've got people in my district of 10 and their grandchildren, I just don't seea
11 different races who see that in completely 1 difference there. When you really sit down and
12 different ways. 12 talk with them, as I do in my town hall
13 And so I think it's more of what's 13 meetings - I had one in Prichard on Friday, for
14 happening across the country, that is that we have 14 example. The main issue in my town hall meeting
15 difference -- those of us who view the federal 15 on Friday was tolls for the new bridge coming
16 government as something that should be far more 16 across I-10. And there were white and
17 active than some of the rest of us do. 17 African-American people there who had the same
18 Q Do you think African-Americans tend to 18 type of disagreement with the tolls, same
18 view the role of the federal government more 19 intensity of disagreement with the tolls, It
20 robustly as one that should be more active than 20 didn't make any difference.
21 white Alabamans tend to view it? 21 Q That was a green disagreement, right,
22 A 1think that -- I don't know about more 22 about how much green they're going to have to
Page 82 Page 84
1 white Alabamans, but the African-Americans that I i spend.
2 have talked to about this express their desire to 2 A Most things are like that, In my
3 have the federal government do more. 3 experience, most things are like that. People are
4 Q Would you say that's because those 4 people are people are people are people. They
5 African-Americans that you talked to view that as 5 have the same concerns. You might find like, for
6 in their interest? 6 example, Friday, that one concern there is,
7. A TI'm not sure we drilled down that far to 7 there's a community in Mobile County called
know. Sometimes people will take an ideological 8 Africatown. And it's a very important community.
9 point of view that's not congruent with their 9 It's where the last group of slaves who were
10 interests. So I can't say that for sure. 10 illegally brought here, by the way, in 1860 or
11 Q Okay. Do you believe that the needs of 11 1861, it's where they congregated and formed a
12 African-Americans in your district differ from the 12 community. We just recently found the ship that
13 needs of other constituents in your district? 13 they came over on. It's a big deal.
14 A No. 14 Q [Iread about that.
15 Q Why not? 15 A We've got some ideas on trying to build
16 A Because I think what people need is the 16 on that and build that community. One concern
17 same. What they need from their families is the 17 that they have that's specific to them, but this
18 same. What they need from their communities is 18 is - it's more geographic — it's one of the
19 the same, What they need from their nation is the 19 routes that people might take to get around the
20 same, 20 bridge would come right through Africatown and
21 Q Do you have a sense of whether there are 21 would harm, potentially, the activities a lot of
22 certain -- let me strike that, 22 us are interested in looking at to try to build up
Page 83 Page 85
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Africatown. But I can tell you from talking to
the Mayor of Mobile, who happens to be white, that
that is not something that is white or
African-American. That is, hey, this is a major
opportunity for Mobile. Let's not let this bridge
thing mess up what could be a major opportunity.
But the -- but the concerns that people have were
the same.

Q What about in terms of socioeconomic
needs? I mean, does the African-American or at
least on average -~ obviously all of these things
you can't -- you can't talk about everybody
because there are people of different
socioeconomic needs of all races -- but on
average, are the socioeconomic needs of
African-Americans in your district greater than
the socioeconomic needs of whites?

A Well, in general the answer is no, but
there are some specifics, I think, that are
important. This is not just true in Mobile
County. It's true in other places in Alabama.
Unfortunately a disproportionate number of
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Q Okay. What about educational
attainment, do you know whether there's a lower
level of educational attainment on average among
black -- blacks in your district than whites?

A Well, as I said earlier, I think some of
them got lower quality education, a
disproportionate number of them got lower quality
education. So I don't know the actual data, but I
would not be surprised to see -- if you don't get
education early, it tends to have a going-on
effect, You may not be able to get into college
or you may not think about going to college, Sol
think it's one of the most important, if not the
most important thing we need to be working on is
how do we give everybody, wherever they come from,
whoever their parents are, the best possible
education we can give them,

Q That's right. You did speak to that.

Sorry to repeat, but what —- what about

healthcare, are there - and health outcomes, have
you seen any data on whether African-Americans on
average in your district have kind of lower
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African-American children are going to some of our
worse schools. If you want to give everybody an
opportunity in America, they got to get a good
quality education. So the one of the reasons why

I got so involved in education reform prior to

going to the school board was -- in my view was
the next real fight in the civil rights movement

is over education. How do we get quaiity
education to every child in Alabama, be they
white, be they African-American, be they Asian, be
they Hispanic. That should be something that we
should all be concerned about. But in terms of

the actual need, it's the same. It's just that

we've got a specific manifestation of it
disproportionately affecting young
African-Americans.

Q Would you say that the income level, the
average income level of African-Americans in your
district is lower than the average income of
whites in your district?

A Tve not seen any data on that so I
can't give you an answer.
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healthcare outcomes, greater healthcare needs than
whites on average in your district?

A T've not seen any data, but I've been
very involved with community health centers in my
district. In fact, I got an award for that.
Community health centers tend to be more prevalent
in African-American districts, They're not only
in African-American communities. So I do try to
work with community health centers because I think
that they're the best way to provide healthcare to
people that are in poor communities. And so I do
see that there's a need for us to do more with
those community health centers. I am glad to see
the University of South Alabama Medical Center
providing really good, quality healthcare to
everybody in our area. And it just happens to be
located in an African-American community. So the
people in that community are like right there,
easy for them to access. So I can't give you
anything from the data, but I do think that
there's a need for us to work harder at that.

Q Am I right that you supported the repeal
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Q Do you believe that most -- the majority
of African-Americans in your district supported
the repeal of ObamaCare?

A Idon't know.

Q And from the people you've talked to,
the African-Americans you talked to in your
district, do you get the sense that they support
the repeal of ObamaCare?

A Some have told me that they do. Some
have told me that they don't. I can't quantify
that, though, because it's not like we
scientifically polled it or even tried to go out
and figure out the race of people who are
responding on the telephone or by email to the
office. ButI have had African-Americans say that
they didn't like ObamaCare. They wanted us to do
something different.

Q Right

A AndTI've had -- I have had
African-Americans say that they supported it. One
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program. But in a community health center, you go
and they take care of you and have a sliding scale
of what you pay based on your income. It may be
that some people go into community health centers
have Medicaid. Some of them may be on Medicare.
Some of them I know, because I've talked to them,
are on private insurance and they prefer to use
their private insurance at a community health
center for all the reasons I said earlier. Sol
don't know that it -- that they're benefiting any
more than any other healthcare institution is from
any expansion of Medicaid.

Q Has Alabama accepted the expansion of
Medicaid under ObamaCare?

A No.

Q That's not really an option, I guess,
for people who wouldn't otherwise qualify for
Medicaid, to take advantage of the expansion of
Medicaid under ObamaCare in Alabama.

A A lot of people who don't qualify for
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of the things that -- going back to community
health centers. 100 percent of African-Americans
that I've talked to about community health centers
like community health centers. That's one of the
reasons I'm so focused on community health
centers. The reason they are, as these community
health centers are located in their communities,

in their neighbors. It's easy -- it's easy for

them to physically access these centers. And the
centers are really set up to focus primarily on

the person, And so you can see where people would
say "I really like going there because they really
care about me." And so I do think that community
health centers are in my mind a big part of what
should be a solution to the healthcare problem
throughout America, particularly in my district,
and I think we could put more resources into that
by putting less resources into ObamaCare.

Q Are those community health centers
supported by the expansion of Medicaid under
ObamaCare?

A No, they're supported by direct money
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Medicaid are accessing healthcare through these
community health centers. And, as I say, they
take you regardless of your circumstances and
figure on the sliding scale how much you will
contribute.

Q Okay. Have you seen any polling either
in Alabama or nationwide about whether
African-Americans support the repeal of ObamaCare?

A Thaven't,

Q Do you believe that African-Americans in
your district supported the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act?

A I'mnot sure I've ever heard from an
African-American one way or the other. Let me
think about that for a second. I can't -- they
may have, but I can't recall any particular
conversation at this point in time.

Q Okay. About whether an African-American
or the African-American community at large
suppotts -- supported the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act?

A 1 don't remember any conversation about
that.

Q Okay. You were supportive of the Tax
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1 Cuts and Jobs Act. 1 A No, there was a ton of stuff. One of
2 A Oh, I absolutely was, yes, sir. 2 the things that disappointed me about that was, it
3 Q And have you -- since you've been a 3 was a bill that was just loaded up. And a lot of
4 congressman, have you taken a vote on the 4 mistakes we make around here are when we take a
5 reinstatement of kind of Section 4, Section 5 of 5 good idea, if this is a good idea, we start
6 the Voting Rights Act? 6 loading other things on there. Then we destroy
7 A Idon't believe I have. Idon't think 7 the good idea, That's not a Republican or
8 we have, Yeah, 8 Democrat thing, but everybody does that around
9 Q Are you familiar with HR 1, the For The s here from time to time.
10 People Act which expands voter registration, 10 Q Right.
11 voting access that was passed this year? 11 A And I was disappointed in a bill that
12 A Yes. 12 could have been such a good bill that could have
13 Q It was passed by the House this year. 13 gotten a lot of bipartisan support I think was put
14 A Yes. 14 together in such a way to where we were guaranteed
15 Q Were you in support of that? 15 it was only going to be partisan,
16 A Twas not. 16 Q Do you think that African-Americans in
17 Q And-- 17 your district on average support the measures that
18 A But not because it did the things you 18 were in HR 1?7
19 mentioned, but because of other things. 19 A T've never had anybody in an
20 Q Why were you against it? 20 African-American community talk to me about HR 1.
21 A Because they put a bunch of other stuff 22 Q What about -- would you support the
22 in there that I thought was not germane to what it 22 reinstatement of Section 5 of the Voting Rights
Page 94 Page 96
1 was supposed to be about and I did not think would 1 Act? This is the portion that was struck down by
2 be helpful to what we're trying to do in America. 2 the --
3 I'want everybody to vote, and I'm actually 3 A The formula?
4 encouraged by the number and percentage of people 4 Q Yes. Yes.
5 that have been voting, particularly in Alabama, 5 A The formula? No. I think there's a
6 these last two or three or four election cycles. 6 better way to do that.
7 I'm pretty passionate about that. But I don't 7 Q And what's that?
8 think -- I think that bill, while it pretended to 8 A I think we should have it apply to
9 be for that, I don't think it actually was going 9 everybody in America.
10 to accomplish that. I think it did some other 10 Q You would support something that would
11 things that I didn't think were pertinent to that 11 apply essentially to the preclearance review to
12 effort. 12 all states?
13 Q Do you recall what it was that you 13 A Yes, what I keep saying is, if it's good
14 didn't like about the bill? 14 enough for Alabama, why isn't it good enough for
15 A We can give a full breakdown, We had -- 15 California? Are we saying Alabama is more raciest
16 I think we put out a statement at the time or we 16 than California? Are we saying Alabama is more
17 can give you something. But that bill was pretty 17 racist than Missouri? Are we saying Alabama is
18 vague and complex. It would take me a while to 18 more racist than Maryland? Because if you look at
19 take you through everything that was a problem 19 what's happened in the last several years, you'll
20 with it. 20 find more racial incidences in places like that
21 Q Okay. Ijust didn't know if there was 21 than you will in Alabama, yet we're going to take
22 any like major thing that stood out. 22 a law and formula and use it to only focus on a
Page 95 Page 97
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1 few parts of America. Ifit's good for Alabama, 1 way things were in the '60s and the way they are
2 it's good enough for everybody. 2 today, and they're dramatically different.
3 Q Right. And I'm not -- I'm not 3 Q Do you - do you know whether your
4 disagreeing with that at all. But there was like 4 African-American constituents agree with you that
5 a coverage formula that, you know, involved 5 that preclearance regime shouldn't be
6 looking at registration rates and -- 6 reimplemented, whether it's implemented just for
7 A Which I think was prejudicial to 7 Alabama or for the whole country?
8 Alabama, and I'm afraid a new one would be equally 8 A Never had an African-American
9 prejudicial. That's why I said the easiest way to 9 constituent talk about that with me.
10 do this is, if we're going to do this at all, 10 Q Do you know what position the state
11 apply it to everybody. 1 NAACP in Alabama has taken on that issue?
12 Q Would you support that? Would you 12z A Idon't.
13 support reinstating a preclearance regime if it 13 Q Do you know the cutrent president of the
14 applied to all states? 14 state NAACP?
15 MR. DAVIS: Object to form, 15 A Tdon't think I do.
16 Q Go ahead. 16 Q [Iassume you haven't met with the
17 A When that is conjoined with some other 17 president of the NAACP of the State of Alabama?
18 things, [ might. For example, I don't think you 18 A Idon't think we've had a request from
19 should have preclearance. I think maybe the best 19 the state or local NAACP for a meeting, We take a
20 way to do it is tell everybody in America, every 20 lot of meetings with groups. We can't always give
21 local, state, et cetera, jurisdiction, you submit 21 it to them exactly when they want them, but when
22 to the Justice Department before you implemented 22 they make a request, we try to figure out a way to
Page 98 Page 100
1 the things that preclearance states you used to 1 set up the meeting. And I just can't recall ever
2 have to do. And that gives a heads-up to the 2 getting a request for a meeting from them.
3 Justice Department. If they want to bring an 3 Q Okay. Itake it from your answer, then,
4 action in Federal Court, they can because they 4 it sounds like you haven't met with the local
5 have that power to do that today, the Justice 5 NAACP?
6 Department does today. Private individuals have 6 A Idon't--well, not formally. There
7 the right to do that today. That wasn't taken 7 may be some members of that group that have met
8 away by the Supreme Court ruling. I just don't 8 with me in other ways.
9 want Alabama to be singled out, and I think we 9 Q Yes.
10 have been. I think in the last couple, three 10 A But-- and we have people that come to
i1 decades that's been unfair, and I don't want that 1 my town hall meetings. I have no idea whether
12 -- I'm not going to vote for something that 12 they are or they aren't,
13 singles out Alabama in a negative way like that. 13 Q Right.
14 Q Imean, you would agree with me, though, 14 A There are times where they identify
18 that there was -~ there was quite a history in 15 themselves, but it's not unusual for them to come
16 Alabama of suppressing black voting rights. 16 and not identify themselves as being a member of
17 A Oh, yes. Imean, prior to the civil 17 this group or that group. So I could have had a
18 rights laws in the 1960s, sure there were. But 18 large number of members --
19 we're 50-plus years past that. And there's been a 19 Q Sure, right.
20 dramatic change in Alabama. I was a kid in the 20 A --of the local NAACP be at a town hall
21 '60s so I wasn't an adult when all of that was 21 meeting and I wouldn't know it.
22 going on, but I know the difference between the 22 Q Right. Butit's not like you -- you
Page 99 Page 101
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haven't had a meeting with, say, the president of
the City of Mobile's NAACP chapter?

A Idon't think I have. I don't think
they have requested one.

Q Have you ever requested one of them?

A No. Imean, I typically don't request
meetings with people. They request meetings with
me. I was telling you earlier, there's only so
many hours in the day.

Q Sure.

A Itry to respond to other -- my
constituents' request. There are times when [
reach out to a group, but there's usually a
particular reason for that, some event has
occurred or something that does involve my job
where I feel like, hey, I need to go out and reach
out to them.

Q Sure,

A But in 90-plus percent of the cases,
people are calling up and say we want to meet with
our congressman, and my staff tries to figure out
how to fit it into my schedule.
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have to go back through my calendar going back to
when I started. I meet with a lot of
African-Americans. I don't always know, as I said
Q Who they're affiliated with?
A -~ who they're affiliated with because
they tend to come to me because of a concern about
a particular issue. So we're being responsive to
a particular issue.
Q Sure.
A They may be there as part of a group and
I just don't know it.
Q Yes, totally understand. Iknow a lot
of -- the job of a Congress person, you're mainly
doing a lot of what is constituent services,
right?
A Right,
Q It's not a Republican or Democratic
issue.
A Oh, yeah, and sometimes it may be a
concern -- a specific concern for a community.
Q Right.

Page 104

Q Is there an Urban League Chapter in
Mobile?

A Tdon't know of one if there is.

Q I assume you haven't met with the head
of the Urban League in the City of Mobile?

A Idon't think I've ever had a request
from them for a meeting,

Q Are you familiar with an organization
called LULAC? It's the League of United Latin
American Citizens.

A I'mnot familiar with them.

Q Ithink I got -~ I think I probably got
the acronym a little bit wrong. It's Swedish
LULAC, but I got the -- I think I mixed up the
words. But you never met with LULAC, I take it,
either?

A Not that I know of.

Q Aure there any other African-American or
Latino or Hispanic-focused organizations like the
NAACP, like the urban league, that you have taken
a meeting with since you've been congressman?

A I've met with so many groups. I would
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A And you may have a group of people come
to see you because of that concern for that
community, but you don't necessarily know what
organizations they're with or not. They're just
there because they all agree about this one issue.
And so we try to take -- if somebody asks for a
meeting, we try to figure out a way to make that
meeting happen. We try to figure out a way to
make it happen as close to where they live as we
can because I know it's difficult for people to
come to places. So I frequently try to go out to
people. So if a group in a community says we need
to meet with you about X, if it's possible, I try
to go out to them. It's not always possible
because of my schedule having to be up here voting
so much. So sometimes they have to come to my
office, but I prefer to go to them.

Q You mentioned town halls. Have you had
town halls in the City of Mobile?

A Oh, yes. Lots of them.

Q Have you had town halls in kind of
African-American residential sections of Mobile?
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1 A Thave. 1 Q What about on issues of civil rights? 1
2 Q Tell me about that. 2 know that that's kind of a broad term. Have you
3 A Well, i's more than once. It goes back 3 had African-Americans at any of these town halls
4 several years from now. We just pick places -- we 4 or elsewhere express to you that they disagreed
5 try -- we don't stay in the same place. 5 with your position on civil rights?
6 Q Right. 6 A Not civil rights per se. It may be a
7 A So I've had them downtown. Downtown is 7 particular issue that someone might associate with
8 -- tends to be more African-American than not, 8 civil rights,
9 We've had them in -- there's a high school in what 9 Q Can you give me an example?
10 1 was calling the southern part of Mobile, 10 A Well, I'm trying to think of one because
11 There's a high school there that we had a town 11 I said might.
12 hall in, which was more memorable for me because 12 Q Right, Right.
13 we had a lot of planned parenthood people there. 13 A Ido remember one of the times that I
14 We didn't know that we were going to have that, 14 ran, I ran against a Democrat by the name of
15 Instead of being focused on that community, which 15 Burton LaFlore, I think Burton raised something
16 is what I like my town halls to be on, we had a 16 in that race, but it's been several years ago and
17 lot of planned parenthood people that showed up 17 1 don't recall now exactly what it was,
18 for some reason. 18 Q Right.
19 We've had lots of meetings in -~ this is 19 I forgot to ask you about one -- when we
20 just outside the city limits of Mobile in 20 were talking about the various bills, the First
21 Prichard, like we just had one last week. I think 21 Step Act involving federal sentencing and prison
22 we -- some of the data I told you, I think we 22 laws,
Page 106 Page 108
1 found out that almost half of my town halls are in 1 A Oh, yes.
2 African-American communities, but that's spread 2 Q Didyou--
3 out all over the district, not just the City of 3 A The one that the President supported?
4 Mobile. 4 Q Yes.
5 Q Have any people at those town halls, any 5 A Idid not support that.
6 African-Americans expressed any disagreement with 6 Q Okay, Why didn't you?
7 your stances on any particular bill or issues? 1 A Because I thought that it had the
8 A Yes, Ihave -- in my town halls it's 8 potential for releasing people too early who had
9 not unusual for people of all races to disagree 9 committed some pretty serious crimes, not just
10 with me. That's why I have my town halls. 10 possession, but people were actually actively
11 Q It comes with the territory. 11 involved in the distribution of very dangerous
12 A Yes, that's why I have my town halls. I 12 drugs. I'm much more concerned about the people
13 think people deserve to have their representative 13 that are involved in distributing the drugs than I
14 come to their communities and listen to them. And 14 am the people that are using the drugs. The
15 so it's not infrequent that I go to a town hall 15 people that use the drugs need help. The people
16 and have people stand up and disagree with me. 16 who are distributing the drugs need to be put in
17 I've had African-Americans disagree with me. I've 17 jail and stay in jail.
18 had white people disagree with me, some of them my 18 Q Do you remember whether
19 friends. But that's the essence of being a 19 African-Americans in your district supported the
20 congressman, If you only hear what you want to 20 First Step Act?
21 hear, you're not going to be a very good 21 A Never heard anything from any of them
22 ' 22 about that.

congressman,
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1 Q Let me just take a quick look at my 1 mentioned it briefly, what is The Pilgrimage?
2 notes, I think we're getting close to the end 2 A There's a group here called Faith In
3 here. 3 Politics here in Washington. And they started
4 A Sure, 4 working some years ago with Representative John
5 (Discussion off the record.) 5 Lewis from Georgia. And they bring people to
6 Q Just one more. Are you familiar with 6 Birmingham, Montgomery, and Selma. They call it
7 the Southern Christian Leadership Conference, the 7 The Pilgrimage because it's like coming back. Not
8 SCLC? 8 only do they go -- we go to the main sites of
9 A Oh, yes. 9 civil rights actions in Birmingham and Montgomery
10 Q Do you know who the Alabama chapter 10 and Selma, but we have programs as part of it.
1 president is of that now? 11 People make presentations. When Representative
12 A Idonot. 12 Sewell was elected, because she's from Selma,
13 Q Have you met with them? 13 she's a daughter of Selma,
14 A Idon'tbelieve they've ever requested a 14 Q Right. Yes.
15 meeting, but I'm obviously familiar with that 1s A She became a lot more active in it,
16 group. 16 After I was elected, she said -- knowing me like
17 Q Famous -- has a famous founder, right? 17 she did, she said, "Bradley, you need to be
18 A Absolutely. Representative Sewell 18 involved in The Pilgrimage. I said, "What is it?"
19 brings a group down, we call it The Pilgrimage 19 She told me. I said, "Wow, that's really cool."
20 every year. It's really sponsored by a group 20 So we participated at least in some part of it
21 called Faith In Politics. So I've tried to 21 every year since my first year, I couldn'tdo it
22 participate in that every year. I've been very 22 my first year because I had a conflict. So we
Page 110 Page 112
1 interested in the civil rights movement going back 1 were actually there with John Lewis and all of
2 several years, I've got a lot of books about it. 2 them for the 50th Anniversary of the Selma to
3 And my wife's family was sort of around it. She 3 Montgomery march, which was one of my sort of top
4 lived in Montgomery. Her parents -- her mother in 4 10 experiences in my life to be with John Lewis at
5 particular were friends with some of the people 5 that very important -- President Obama spoke, as
6 who were very active in the civil rights movement 6 you proBably know, in Selma. That was a really
7 in the Montgomery area. So I've always been 7 cool experience.
8 interested in it. I'm very familiar with the 8 What I'm saying is, I'm probably talking
9 history of it. 9 to some of the people you're talking about when
10 I don't know who's in charge of it in 10 I'm at The Pilgrimage every year, but I don't
1 Alabama right now, but if anybody in any of those 11 always know who's an officer of what because --
12 groups wants a meeting with them, they're going to 12 Q Sure.
13 get it. And I'm probably seeing them at The ‘ 13 A --Tknow it's important, but we're so
14 Pilgrimage every year, but I don't always know 14 caught up in what's going on with the event of
15 who's who, 15 that day.
16 Q Right. 16 Q Sure.
17 A And there's a lot of people there, But 17 Give me just one second to confer with
18 I love going to The Pilgtimage. I love the time 18 my co-counsel --
19 we get to spend together talking about what 19 A Sure.
20 happened in the '60s and '70s and what we can do 20 Q  --the real brain here, and then --
21 to work together today. 21 A Tused to have one of those.
22 Q And tell me what that is again. You 22 MR. SPIVA: Thank you so much,
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1 Congressman Byme, It's been a pleasure, 1 1 Congressman Bradley Byrne, c/o
2 appreciate you taking the time to do it. Office of the Attomey General
2 501 Washington Avenue
3 THE .
WITNESS: Good to see you. Montgotmery, Alabama 36130-0152
4 MR, SPIVA: We can go off the record. 3
5 Oh, sorry. You -- I'm sorry, Jim. 4 Case: Lakeisha Chestnut, et al., v, John H. Merrill
6 MR. DAVIS: It's okay. For the record, : Date of deposition: July 24, 2019
2 I do not have any questions, Z Deponent: Congressman Bradley Byme
8 RAP) . 1
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: That's what I was 7 Please be advised that the transcript in the above
s waiting for. Okay. The time is 11:49 a.m., July 8 referenced matter is now complete and ready for signature.
10 24th, 2019, We are going off the record, 9 The deponent may come to this office to sign the transcript,
11 completing the videotaped deposition. 10 a copy may be purchased for the witness to review and sign,
12 11 or the deponent and/or counsel may waive the option of
) ) ) 12 signing, Please advise us of the option selected.
13 (Signature having not been waived, the 13 Please forward the errata sheet and the original signed
14 deposition of Congressman Bradley Byme was concluded 14 signature page to counsel noticing the deposition, noting the
15 at 11:48 am.) 15 applicable time period allowed for such by the governing
16 16 Rules of Procedure. If you have any questions, please do
17 17 not hesitate to call our office at (202)-232-0646.
18 .
18 19
19 20 Sincerely,
20 Digital Evidence Group
21 21 Copyright 2019 Digital Evidence Group,
Copying is forbidden, including electronically, absent
22 22 express written consent.
Page 114 Page 116
1 CERTIFICATE OF SHORTHAND REPORTER 1 Digital Evidence Group, L.L.C,
2 1730 M Street, NW, Suite 812
. ) ) 2 Washington, D.C. 20036
3 1, Michele E, Eddy, Registered Professional (202) 232-0646
4 Reporter and Certified Realtime Reporter, the court 3 .
: " 4 SIGNATURE PAGE
5
reporter before whom the foregoing deposition was Case: Lakeisha Chestnut, et al., v, John H. Merrill
6 taken, do hereby certify that the foregoing transcript 5 Witness Name: Congressman Bradley Byme
7 is a true and correct record of the testimony given; Deposition Date; July 24, 2019
6
8 ; ; .
that said testimony was taken by me stenographically " I do hereby acknowledge that I have read
9 and thereafter reduced to typewriting under my and examined the foregoing pages
10 supervision; and that I am neither counsel for, 8 of the transcript of my deposition and that:
9
11 ; i
related to, nor employed by any of the parties to this 10 (Check appropriate box):
12 case and have no interest, financial or otherwise, in ( ) The same is a true, correct and
13 its outcome., i1 complete transcription of the answers given by
me to the questions therein recorded.
14
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, 1 have hereunto set my 12 () Except for the changes noted in the
15 hand and affixed my notarial seal this 28th day of attached Errata Sheet, the same is a true,
16 July, 2019, 13 correct and complete transcription of the
17 answers given by me to the questions therein
14 recorded.
18 My commission expires July 14, 2022 15
19 16
17 DATE WITNESS SIGNATURE
18
20 MICHELE E. EDDY 19
21 NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR -
22 THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 22 DATE NOTARY
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PROCEEDINGS
{In open court.)
JUDGE MARCUS: Are the partiss ready to proceed?
MR. DAVIS: Defense is ready, and Mr. Byrne the next
witness is here and ready, Judge.
JUDGE MARCUS: Okay. Caster plaintiffs are ready?
ME. KHANNA: Yes, Your Honor.
JUDGE MARCUS: And the Milligan and Singleton
plaintiffs?
MR. BLACKSHER: Singleton are.
MS. WELBORN: Milligan are, as well, thank you.
JUDGE MARCUS: We are going to turn now to your next
witness, Mr. Davis,
MR, DAVIS: Thank you, Judge. The defense calls
Mr. Bradley Byrne.
BRADLEY BYHNE,
having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as
fallowss:
JUDGE MARCUS: Thanks wery much.

kind enough to state your name for the record,

THE WITMESS: My name 1s Bradley Byrne, B-B-A-D-L-E-¥,

B-Y-R-N-E.

JUDGE MARCUS: Thank you very much. A&nd with that,

Mr. Davis, you may proceed.

ME., DAVIS: Thank you, Judge.

Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR
Fedaral OFficial Court Reporter
101 Helmes Avenus, NE
Hunteville, Alabams 35801
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DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR, DAVIS:
Good morning, Mr, Byrne,
Good morning.
Where do you live, Mr. Byrne?
1 live in Falir Hope, Alabama.

How long have you lived in the Gulf Coast region?

¥}

b3

Q

1Y

[}

A My entlre life.
Q And what do you do for a living?

A I am & lawyer.

Q Haye you ever served in puiblic office?

A T have.

Q Would you please tell the Court about your experience in
public service beginning with your marliest appointed or
elected position?

A Yes. 1 was elected to the Alabama State Schoel Board in
1894 =nd took office in December of that year because my
predecessor left to go take another pesition, s8'1 started that
a little bit earlier.

I served the Alabama State School Board eight years. 1
wWas elected to the Alabama State Senate in 2002, and under
Alabama law, you take office Immediately after general
0.1 b the state senator in November of 200Z.

election.

I served there until May of 2007, when I became the chancellor

post-secondary education for the state of Alabama.

Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR
Federal Qfficial Court Bsporter
101 Holmes Avenue, NE
Huntswllle, Alabama 35801
256-506-0085/Chrlst inaDecker. rmr.crefaal, com
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In December of 2013, I was elected in a special election
to the United States House of Representatives representing the
First District, which is the southwestern part of Alabama. I
served there until January 3rd of last year, when I left
office, and my term expired.

0 Thank you, Mr. Byrne.
I want to share my screen now and show you a map that has

been marked as Defendants' Exhibit 55. Can you see this map,

Mr. Byrne?
A I can.
Q I will represent to you that these are the congressional

districts that the Alabama Legislature passed November the last
districting cycle.

Does the First Congressicnal District lock similar to the
district as it existed when you represented the First District?
A It is similar. It does not include the lower half of
Clarke County that T had in my district. A&And there's a small
sliver of the eastern part of Escambia County that is now part
of the Second District, but other than that, it's the same
district that I had.

Q To your recollection, does the Second District loock

similar in structure to the way it was when you were serving in

Congress?
A It does.
Q Thank you. How wounld you describe Gulf Coast region,

Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR
Federal Official Court Reporter
101 Holmes Avenue, NE
Huntsville, Alabama 35801
256-306-00B5/ChristinaDecker.Tmr.crr@aol.com
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1| the hospital, thelr shopping, =t cetera. So there'ls this sort
2 | of larger community involving these four, five counties that

3| flow inte and out of Mobils and Baldwin counties. It used o
4 || b8 just Mobile County. Baldwin County has grown ao mich.
5 | Baldwin County 3% now a very big part of that, a5 well.

4 R #hat role does the Fort of Mobile play, LE dnything, dn

7| binding that region together?

2l & well, it's hugs, Mobile started cut in the 185th Century
9| a3 @ port. It was a port for French traders, but it was sgill
10 | a port, and it's been a port for 300-plus years, and the porc
11 | continues te grow. In faet, it had amazing growth last year.
12 | ¥t'=s not just the portatself. The port is at the very center
13 | of what is a major logistics hub. For example, W& have one of
14 | Welmart's four mega distribution centers here in Mobile County.
15 | That's all relsted to the part,

16 The fact that we have Alrbus in Mobile, we have it in part
17 | becatise they can ship directly via the ship channels directly
18 | from a port in Hurope to & part right cutside nf ctheit sssembly
19 | fapility here in Mobila. B8b that porf is the anchof for the

20 | economy around hers. And it literally directly and indirectly
21 | oreates Lens of thousands of jobs. Soc it's extremely important
22 | to this area.

23 @ Are there industriss in the area along the rivers that
24 | flow ints the pore?

25 | & Oh, yeah. We have major Industriss, chemical industry

Christina X. Decker, RMR, CRR

Federal {fficial Court Reporter
101 Holmes Avenus, NE
Huncaville, Alabama 35801
256-5306~0085/ChristinaDecket . mar. crrflaal  com
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Mr, Byrne? BAnd by that, I mean what is it, if anything, that
binds that region together to make It a community af Incersst?
A #etl, 'We ard go the water, We are on the Guif of Mexico.
We have lots of bodies of water in the district. Meoblle Hay is
vecy prominent, snd Perdide Bay is pretty prominent. A fumbar
of rivers, sounds, et cetera. So water defines the district
very much, T£'s not just any kind of water. TIi's salt waker,
brackish water, et cetera.

What that means is we have a major deep water port, We
have a major ship building industry. We have major tonrism
industry that'as related to the beaches and the water. And also
A major seafood industry. And all of those are unigue in terms
of Alabama uniqoe to this part of the state.

And 50 when you deal with the things that happen in this
part of the ktate, you are dealing with something that's Unique
in the state of Alabama,

I+ Po people throughout the region through the sther counties
in the Flrat Distrlct commute in to Mobile Tor employment?

F Yeah. There are major highways that come fram the
northern part of the district into both Mobile and Baldwln
counties. 5o people in what T call the collar counties, which
are Washington County, Escambia County, Monrse County,-and
presently that lower part of Clarke County, they'll use those
highways to go back and forth,

It's not just their jebs. It may be geing to the doctor,

Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR
Fadsral Official Court Reporter
101 Holmes Awvanus, NE

Huntaville, Alabami 35601
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playars, steel Industry players up and down the Moblle river
and as you get further nmorth of that into the Tombigbee Eiver.
Go the river, the Tombigbes River, then on the eastérn #idae,
the Alsbama Eiver, those sre very important to the sconomy and
the culture of this arsa.

a And do any of these Industries rely an the port for
distributieon 6f the products?

A ¥Well, for the distribution of their products, but alsa far
stuff that ceomes in that they have to use to greate their
product. Maybs different types of elements that go into the
chemical process. In the mase of steel, we actually have stesl
slabs that come up from Brazil that are then offloaded off the
ships-and put on barges that coms up to 2 company talled AM/NE
Calvert. It's a multimationsl company that smploya well ovsc
2,000 people in the production of cosl and stesl.

o Is thére anything unigue about the history of this regilen,
in terms of internaticnal influsnce?

A yesh. wWe were founded by the French ia 17020 e Had

20 years in there where we were a British colony and then 30 or
A0 'years whers we were a Spanish colony.

S0 unlike the rest of the state of Alabama, we have this
extensiva Colbnial history, and it continues to form our
culture teday. We're far more likely to have Catholic
racidents here than in any other part of the state. We have
Mardi Grag, which may sound like just sort of a frivolous fun

Christina R. Decker, RMR, CRR
Fadsral Official Coort Reporter
101 Holmes Avanus, NE

Hunrsville, Alabams 35801
456-506-0085/ChriatinaDecker, rmx  orrilaol. com
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thing; but Mardi Gras is big business here. There are a lot of
businesses that that iz what they do. BSoit¥s #ot unusual to
find Mardi Gras parades not just here in Mobile, but you go
north of here into Washington County, you go over into Baldwin
County, several of the oitles {n Baidwln Colnty, and even up
into Monroe County, they have Mardi Gras beczuse there is that
cultural connectlon between Lhe tuo.

1 was reading an intereating article the other day about
Truman Capote., He used to have relakives in Monroe County that
he would vlsit. Mr. Capote weote that he actually entered into
gontests as & child to write steries, and those stories were
parkt of a pomtest in the Mohile Press Reglster. He was in
Monros County, This is 100 years ago.

So you can see that there's this long-term connection
between what I oall the collar counties in the First
Congressional District and Mobile itsslf.

6] Are Baldwin County in Mobils County olosely connected?

a Oh, yeah. If you fcok at a msp of Mobile and Baldwin
countiss, it Yooks like an inverted U. 2And what's in the
inkerior of that O is Mobile Bay. &nd S0 if you go back
literally centuries, you wiil see 3 connection betwsen the two
countiss.

So my family L= originally from Baldwin County. The
Byrnes were from Baldwin County. But if you go back to the

late 18th Century, you will ses one of my ancestors was

Christina k. Decker, RMR, CRR

Fedarsl Dfficlal Court Reporter
101 Holmes Avenus, HE
Huntsyille, Alabama 35E01
256-506-0085/ChristinaPeckes. rme.creianl .com
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chemical companies. It must be 20,

a Of ooursa.

2 We have the University of south Alabams, which is a major
employar in this area. We have Bustal Usa, which iz a
ship-building company. We have Airbus USA, which is major
alrplans assembly faclliry here, We have the Mitchell Cancer
Hesearch Canter. We have —- I mentianed the Walmart megs
digtribution center. We have a number of other logistic
distribution centers because of the port.

and then if you go into the southern part of Baldwin
County, you have major businesses are there to provide
condominium sccess to tourista that come down herms, hotels,
restaurants, 2t cetera. In Bon Secour, Alsbama aad Bayou La
Batre, Alsbama, these are two of the largest seafood
distribution places literally in the Onited States of America.

8o Nelson Bon Secolr Fishery in Bon Secour, huge
distributor for seafood. 1 can remenber eating ersb meat in
Washington D.C. and finding out during the meal that that crab
meat came from Hon Secalr, Alabama.

Sp you know, no other part of Alabsma has industries like
this. I am not saying it's better ar Worse than the other
parts of the stata. IE's just untque,

43 Would vou describe the First District as racially diverse?
A Gh, yes. WVery much =o. Ws have opbviously long-time white
and black communities, but we have Hispanle communities. Down

Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR

Federal Official Court Reporter
101 Holmes Avenus, HE
Huntaville, Alshama 35801
256-506~-00B5/Christinatecker, enr. crefant . com
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agtually baptized in the Roman Catholic Church hers in Mobile.
S4 there's this intersection between those twa counties that's
been going on for a very long time.
Q Would you say those countles are more clogely connected
A  Oh, yeah. For example, when -- I live in Baldwin County,
and I work in Mobile County.

1f you were in my Car with me today, you would have seen
thousands of cars crossing from Baldwin County lnto Mobile
County. &o you have lots of people who live in Baldwin County,
but work in Mobile County.

Not as many people, but there are people who 1ive in
Mobile County and work in Baldwin County.

So there's really strong interconnection between the two
counties.
L] What are -=- you mentioned & few of thess. Iet's get on
the record and zay what are some of the major industries and
employers in the Mobile region?
A For Instance, tHe Bart of Mphkile. That's a big one, ¥ou
have AM/NS Calvert, which Is the stéel company. [here's
Outokumpu, which is & stainless steel company: there's SS5AB,
ancther coel and steel companyy and Earth Pipe, which is 2
steel pipe company, so those are steal spmpanies.

Numercus chemical companies. I think about it. Huntsman,
there's -- oh, shoot. Thers's Shell, I can't remember all the
Christina R. Decker, RMR, CRR
Federal officlsl Court Reporter
101 Holmes Avenue, ME

Huntsvilla, Alabama. 35801
256-506-0085/Chelut lnabecker, tme. orrBagl . caom
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in Bayou La Batre, we have a number of southeast Asian
comnunities, people that left those arsas in the aftermath of
the Vietnam War and settled Bayou La Bakre, Alabama and fermed
thesa huge fighing communities. We have other Adian
communities Hera. This ls always been because of the port T
guess 3 very diverse area, going back to the earliest times
here.

So it's not unusnal te find somebody like me who Has
French ancestors, you know, Scottish ancestors, Irish
ancestors, German ancestors. IE's not unusual to find people
here that pan draw their lines back to various parts of Africa.
There are people here that can draw their lines back to the
wvarloos nations in southeast Asia. This iz a very diverse areas
and always has been.

Q Are there military interests in the First Diatriot?

kS ¥esul gir.

@ What 'da you have?

E We have a shipyard here called Austal USa that makes tus
different ships presently for the United States Navy, combat
stip and the expeditionary fast transport vessel. Those are
the only vessels that that shipyard makes. It amploys
presently shout 3,500 people. At one point, it had as many as
4,500 people. Ship bullding has besn a major part of Mobile
going back to Colonial times.

We have all -- you have people here who are like fifth,

Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR
Federal Offlclal Court Reporter
10l Holmes Avenus, HE

Huntswille, Alabams 3SEOL
256-506-0065/Christinabeckar.omr, crrffanl. com
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sixth generation ship builders. Making ships is not like any
other manufacturing process because they're sd darn big. It's
just a lot more to it than making a car, or even making the
alrplanss that Alrbis makes hera,

S0 we -- that ship building for the Navy here is a big
deal,

[+ 1In the years when you were representing this area in
Cangress, Mr. Byrne, were thers any particular issues that you
would focus an?

A Bure. When you are s Congressman, you're the primsry
representative for the people in your district in Washington,
2388 008

Bo there were a myriad of things that were particular to
thig district that I had ro focus on. The shipyard, for
example, very critical that we make sute thoss ships are
authorized and appropriated year after year after year.
There's nothing automatie about that. There's s fight over
that every year.

But 1t may =ound mundans, We had a huge issue hers In
invelving the Gulf Hed Snappar, which is the number one fish
people like to catch oot in the Gulf of Mexico. We have a huge
industry in OGrange Beach built up arcund chacter boats, people
that own thelr gwn boate. Think about it. It is not just the
fact of the bost, it's you have to buy fuel for the boat: you
have to buy dice for the boat, you have to buy bait for the

Christina X. Decker, RMR, CRR
Fedsral Dfficial Court Repatter
101 Holmes Avenue, NE

Huntsville, Alabama 35801
256-506-0085/Chriat inabeckes, pme.ocrlapl . com
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work on those. 3And really had Lo becoms an expert on thossa
issues along with my staff.

o Obviously, 2 longsr spapper sesson would benefit the
people who enjay going out in the Gulf and fishing. Does it
have any benefit to other residents of the First District
having a heaithy Flshing Lnduskry?

A Okay. That*s an industry around it. There are charter
bogt fleets, pecple that work on charter boats, Thers are
people that run marinas. There are pegple that =ell fuel.
There are people that aell ice. fThere are pecple that sell
bait. There are people thar, you know, provide condos and
hotel rooms that people-stay in when they go Eishing.

I mesn, I remambec when T was fizstielected and T had:s
mesting with the people in Orange Beach that were in that
Industry, and the room wes just crammed full of peppls, T
never really thought of it that elsarly befors just how many
people were touched by the fadt that we do or do not have a
good’ snapper sesson. And it'was 3 major motivation to make
sure that we got that problem solvad because 1t touched so many
different lives and touched sp many different jobs.

@  wWould issties that you worked on such as is the snapper
season of a healthy port or a healthy ship building industry,
would they help both the black and the white residents pf the
Eirat Distriect?

A Oh, yeah. I mean, people down hers, we have people of all

Christine K, Decker, RMR, CRR

Fedaral Official Court Beporter
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boat; you have te buy beer te go out and have fun in the summer
timg. It's e huge industry, B&nd we Have a real problem with
those seasons being artificially shortened, and we had to go
work on trying to get these séasons back ta a reascnabls level.
For friends of mine that wanted to go fishing on Saturday, it
was for that industry. It was important.

We have a program in the federal government called GOMESA.
It is an actonym. But basically, it provides a certain
poarcentage of what the federal government gets ln off shore gas
leases and oil leases that go to the stdtes that border the
GULE of Mexica. That's to help them deal with what could'be
the very negative effect from that like with the BP oil spill
that we bad back in B010. So I was constantly working on that
and similar programs.

So T actually formed & caucys in Congress called the 1-10
Caucus because thoss of us thet represented districts in the
Gulf Coast had sort of unigue problems that we would actually
wark on together becanse those same intarests weren't shared
with our colleagues and our state delegations up in the upper
parts of our states. So we would work together on things 1ike
that,

And then there would be just the stuff that, you know,
every industry fages when you deal with federal government
requlations. Ship building has all sorta of interesting issoes
with the Cpast Guard, et cetera. So, yesh, I'mesn, I had to

Christina X. Decker, RMR, CRR
federal Official Caurt Reporter
101 Holmés Avenus, NE

Huntaville, Alabama 35801
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races that ars working in 2ll of thess dipdustries. &nd it's a
major source to get good high'paying jobs. BSo 1t's a4 benefit
to everybody that we do that.

O th-huh, HAre you Familiar With the Wiregrass region in the
Second District?

& I am. T told you sarlisr £hat I 'wss a chancellor of
post-gecondary education for the state of Alabama. &And we had
three or foor colleges in the Wiregrass reglon. We had a
number of vacanctes in those colleges, 20 I had to go through
presidential searches. When you do a presidential search for a
community college, you have to involve the community. ¥Youw have
terget Invelved with the community. You have to understand
that community.

Bo, for example, Lurleen B. Wallace Community College in
Andalusia, Alabams, that's Covington County, I spent a lot of
time in Andalusis because we had to build a vacancy thers. 5o,
yes, I have spent a lot of time in the Wiregrass of Alabama
because of that position.

@  Tell me how the interest of the Wiregrass would compare to
the interest of the counties that are in the First
GOongressional Discrict.
A Wall, what I described to you before iz ln the First
Congressional District southwest Alabama, scmething's boilt
around the water, okay? The Wiregrass is built arpcund a couple
of things. Fort Rucker, which an Army helicopter training baas

Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR

Federal Official Coprt Reporter

101 Holmes Gvenue, NE

Huntsville, Alabama 35801
258-504-0085/Chrelat inadrcker. cme. crrflaal  com




fbederay 5

i

B

9

o853 10
11

1z

13

14
OEr50.36 15
16

13

18

12
caisnzse 20
21

22

23

24

nan1:0725

nezsages 5

B

9

osesasag 10
11

12

13

14
[(TELIS bR ]
16

17

18

18
tisntesa 20
21

a2

23

24

05:54113 25

case 2210153 AG @212 L2V 294 -AMM zaaDqE%u ment 167-4

there-in Ozark is a big part of the Wiregrass. Troy State
University is = huge part of the Wiregrass.

People In the Wiregrass sort of revolve arcund Dothan down
at the southern =nd and Montgomsry at the northern smd.  And
thay ‘have agricultiral intsrcsts that are'different from the
agricultural interests that will be out here in southwest
Alabama. They don't have 2 nursery industry like we have here.
We have major wholesale nursery businesses hare. They don't
have major watermelon crops. They don't have major pecan
ocrpps. They'rs more built in to peanuts and cotton and cattle.

So they face, for example, during -— during in Andalusia,
Alabama, you face more towards Troy or Omark or Dothan. You
don't fape down here in southwsst Alabama. In addirien, itfs
kind of heard te get from Mobile to the Wiregrass. We don't
have really good highway connections over there. So {t's not
easy for pecpie from there to come here or for people from here
to go there.

8o they sort of face to'the scutheastern part of the
state, We face to the southwestern part of the stats.

@  If you were representing the Second District, would you
foous on the same iseues that you are focused on when
representing the First?
a WNo, sir. For example, I was on the Armed Ssrvices
Committee, and with the Mavy shipyard, I am golng to be focused
on Navy stuff.

Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRE

Foderal Official Court Reporter

101 Bolmea Avenus, NE
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ia. Do you sea any issues wlth representing these districes?
A  Yes. If you look at Plan K @nd Blan B, you ses it takes
in part of Mobile County, all of Baldwin County, and then goes
&35t into the Wirsgrass leglon. So you wWould essential have ta
becoms an expsrt on two different regions altogether, two
diffarent communlties of fnterast. I know that's important for
those procesdings.

Then if you look st that district just above it, that
diptrict is essentially part of the Blagk Belr and part of
southwest Alsbama. So the person representing that distrigt
would essentially have ta have two very dramatically different
g=ts of expertise. I think it would be wery difficult to be
the: eong
you would have this wast geographic area you would have ta

o for either of those districts not just the fact

covar; but you would be covering two very different communities
of interast.

Q Uh-huh. Why wolld it make it more difficlit to represent
a district if it encompassed different communities of intersst?
& Well, for example, if you repregented that hlue distrief
at the wery bottom, you would have to be an sxpert on things
Invdlving ‘Navy shipyards and Bemy helicopter bases. Yoo would
have to be an expert when it comas to ageiculbfural isgues 1ike
everything from wholesale nurseries, watermelons, pecans, to
peanuts, cattls produstion, and cotton production. You would
have to be focused on two major universities that have vary

Christins X. Decker, RMR, CRR
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Tf T represented the Second Congressional Districk, T
would be fooused on the Army and particularly Army helicopters.
That's what they do at Forf Bucker.

Tn this district, I Wwas focused for higher education
reasons on the University of South Alabama. If I represented
the Second Dlsteiet, T would be focused on Troy. Now, Troy has
& different mission from the University of South Alabama. They
have an international presence. S0 working with Troy would be
very differant from working for the Unlversity of South
Alabama. Troy doesn't have a medical school, but it has a
whele lobt of other stuff that's pretty daen important. So
there would -- and the agricultural interests 1 just described
are yery different.

So I would think being the congressman from the Second
District reguires & different level of expertise and level of
expartise that I feel 1iks I had to have to represent this
district,

Q I want to share another screen now, Mr. Byrne. And this
iz Miliigan Exhibit 3, page 7 of that exhibit.

These are some proposed congressional maps that one of the
plaintiffs' experts presentad, I will represent to you,

Mr. Byrne.

Heview just say these -- here's Plan A and B, and then T
will seroll down to Blan C and Plan D, as well,

Focus on any of those, and tell ug what's your resction

Christina K, Deckez, RMR, CRR
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different missions. You would have ta be focused on Dothan.
¥ou would have to be focused on Andalusla, You would have to
be focused on Brawton, Mobile, and then s1l of Baldwin County,
which ds the fastest growing county In the ‘stateé.

8o T am not saying you couldn't do it. It would ke
extremely difficilt to do ik, and you would Elind yourgelE
somewhat diffused in your ability to Be an effective advocate
for that region.

Q wWhat do you mean by diffused?

A Well, there's only so many houra in the day for &
congressman and the st=f£f that that congreseman has. And there
are hundreds if not thousands of issues in Washington. &And yoo
have got to figure out what your focus is going to'be én. And
foous is wvary important for a member of Congress because
there®s just not enough bandwidth, and there's only 435
congressmen, and you are one of them.

5o you really have to figire out where am I 'going ta put
my time? Where am I going to put the tesources of my shatt?
wWhat fights am I golng te flght. I you'are Fighting a whele
bunch of different fights becauss you have te, because you have
got that many interests in your district, you are not going to
be effective on each ane of thase. The more you can soct of
focus your energies, the meore effective you will be.

I will give you:-an example. Ewerybody in the House of
Representatives and the staff and the leadership, et cstera

Christina ¥, Decker, RMR, CRR
Federal Official Court Raparter
101 Eolmes Avenus, NE
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knew that T was interested in & bridge across Mobile Bay,
fining the snapper preblem, and galning the ships authorizing
and appropriated for the shipyard hers. Titerally, T had the
Speaker come Up fo me on the flobr and say, we get it, Ti's
that bridge, it*s those ships, and it's those fish. Now, when
they know that, they knew thay have got to make me happy on
that to get my votes, If they den't make.ms happy on thar,
they are not going to get my votes.

Now, if T say I have 20 different things I want you to
make me happy on, they will say, look, I am not going to make
you happy on 20 things. ¥ou tell me what your priocities are.
We will help you get thosse things done, and then you will be a
part of the team. That's how it works. &nybody that tries to
e like out there fighting on every fight tends hot to win any
fight.

Q Let's say you répresented —— I guess I shounld show you the
mapa again, If you represented’'a blue district, do vou sea any
difficulty in just gebting arcund and visiting your
constituents?

A Yeah. It's a long way from Mohile to Dothan. Actually,
the way you get Trom Mobile to Rothan is that you get on
Interstate 10, you drive east through the Florids panhandle,
and then you get just north of Panama City you turn north. So
it's egbout a three to three-and-a=half hour drive from Mobils
to Daothan.,

Christina X, Decker, RMR, CRR
Federzsl O0fFficial Court Baparter
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you have got to spread that over Mobile and Dothan. And

Baldwin County is the fastest growing county in the'stats. ¥ou

have to have a presence in Baldwin County for a lot of
different reasons.

‘Hén I gusss you try to find Some way to put something in
Ardalusia. ‘That's kind 6f more centrally Iocated
geographically. But as I said, and I can say it's really hard
to get from here to Andalusia. Andalusia is a pretty hefty
drive Trom here. Not as far as Uothan, but it's still a hefty
drive because there's no good highway to get there.

o Look at this yellow district or tan, the one above the
blue district.

Lat's say -thers was & primary election in that districe,
and sometne wss Tunning to be the Democratic candidate, and
that someone was from Mohile. There was another person running
in the primary from Montgomery. Do you have any thonghts on
who might have & stronger bsse of support geographicslly?

B I would think that Lf you were Erom Montgomsry, you would
have a stronger ghance than if you're repreasenting that part
that's in Mobile,

The Black Belt —— what these counties primarily Yook 1ike
to me, the Black Belt is kind of its own thing. It's got very
rural, very agricultural. And they lock more to Montgomery
than they look to Mobile for sure. So I would think somebody
from Montgomery would have a berter shot at that distriet than

Cheistina K. Decker, RMR, CRR
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#And north'of there to Henry County, that's a ecounty just
north of Houston County, it's even further than that. And s0
in order té represent the pesple in Abbeville who deserve good
representation, sven if you just wvisited there for an hour, yoo
would spend thres-and-a-half, maybe four hours just to get
there and that much going back, so it's 4 lsAg hadl.

‘And the interests as I said of that southeastern part af
the state are very different than the interests in the
southwestern part of the state.

Sp when you finish with having your meatings in an azes
Iike that, go back to Washington, you have te decide, all
right, what T am going to Eocus on? What ars the priorities
for this sert of sprawling disvrict with all these different
interasta?

And somshody s going te lose out. That's just the way it
is. There's enly so much bandwidth for a congressman, and that
person has to decide what am T going to foobs on? Am 1 going
to help the shipward in #obile, or am I going to help Fort

Ruckex?

Q where do you think a ¢ i or congresswoman who
represented the blue district would want to have Ilogal offices?
A Well, you clearly want to have your main office Mobile,
but you want to have as pretty significant office 28 you ©an
afford in Dochan. ¥ou are only allotted so much money as a
congressman for your office, ataff, and your office rent, 5o
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somebody from Mobile.

o Do you think it possible, Mr. Byrne, if you had & map in
Plan A or Plan B that you could have, say, a congressman for
the blue district from Dothan or Andalusia and & congresaman
for the yeilow district from Montgomery so that yot had no one
in Congress from the Mobile region?

& That could happen, yeah. It's kind of hard to know
exactly what parts of Moblle Cotnty are being taken with those
two plans, But if you dilute the vote in Mobile County, that
obviously 1= golng to make Lhe wvote of the rest pf tharn
district -- those two districts more impertant. So, yeah, you
oould have & congressman from Dothan under both of those plans
and a4 congressman from Montgomery and Aot & congressman Erom
tMobils, which would be a tragedy for the people down hers.

Q Why would It be a tragedy for the people down thera?

a I'm not saying somebody from Dothan or Montgomery woulda’t
care abnnt this area. But ags I said before, you wouldn't have
somebody that's fooused, fooused on the perr, focised an the
shipyard, Ffocused on our fishery in the Gulf of Mexico, focuszed
on the nursery lszues we have hars. They just -- they're just
not enough bandwidth to be as focused as I was able to he
fooused. T popld walk in @ room and talk about any of those
lasues and master it. TIf I had to represent those other areas,
a5 well, or somebody from the other areas had to represent

Mobile, T just don't think that you coold master it.

Christina K. Decker, EMH, CRR
Federal DIfficial Coort Reporter
101 Holmes Avente, NE
Hontevills, Alabama 35801
Z56-506-0085/Christinalecker. rmr.crranl, com
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[+] Do Mobile and Montgomary ever compete @ach other, in terms 1
Gf tryiog to recruit businesses, for example? 2
A Mot that I know of. Thelr econofie davelopment plan, 3
their industrisl plan is very different from ours. Mantgomery, 1
for all the right reasans, has reaily focused onthko things —— fa:03i10 5
automotive, obviously with the Myundal plant thare and all the 3
supplisrs of the Hyundai plant, but also becalse of their Air 7
Foroce presence, they really focus on how they can magnify i
Maxwell Air Force Base and things that are & part of that. ]

I think they have mads a very smart decision to do that, ugioay 10
by the way, but that's a different economie plan than what we 11
have done here. So w='re as much trying to help them because 12
of the port. 6o as anything else, I don't really think we 13
belisve ourselves that we're competing with them. 14
Q Would you have any concerns with the congressional map 08t03:47 15
that divided the Mobile region along racial lines? 16
a Ves. 17
(v} yhat would thoze he? 18
&  well, when you are a Congressman, you should be 18
répresenting everybody and thinking sbout how T do ¥ is that bbi0ec0s 20
going to affsct everybody in my district? You shouldn't be 21
thinking about, I am going to do this because it helps blagk 22
peopls, or I'm going to do this because it helps white peocple. 23
1 am going to do this because it helps everybody. ZAnd £f you 24
help everybody, evervbody rises. That's what you want, osinaies 25
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A I did. There was some people in Monroe County, I 1
remember, and maybe Clarke County who thought T was their state 2
school board member, ‘and they would call me, and [ would always 3
call the member for that district when they did and ask him or 4
her because it changed if they wanted me to hélp those pecple, FEATS N
and they would say, please. And 1 would go up there and talk {3
with them and explain te them T wae fiot their schopl board. )
@  WNow, I want to share a neWwer map. This is from Caster g
Exhibit 1, which for the recoecd, Was Mc. Cooper's report, This L
is page 19 pf that report. And I will represent to you,. 02506137 10
Mr. Byrne, this is the new state school board map that was 11
passad by the Legislaturs this oyele just a souple of months 12
ago. 13

What thoughts Lf any do you have about this map, ia 14
particular, the way the blue district includes part of Mobile perlE-aE 15
and Baldwin County is constructed? 18
n Well, I testifled before the Legislature Redistricting 17
Committes that I felt like Mobile and Baidwin County should he 18
kept whole and contlighous. So to the axtent that this map 18
includes a district that comes from Mentgemery all the way inte 1p:o7713 20
Mobile County, T didn't much like it. 21
Q why did you not like it? 22
A Because Mobile County schopl system s the largest school 23
system in the stafte. And it has unigue issues because it's the 24
largest in the state: And T felt like we nesded a school board a7 25

Christina K. Decker, RMR, CAR
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Mobile is a lirtrle bit different from the rest of the
state. We do not heve the same histery during the Civil Rights
movenent that Selms, Montdomery, Birmingham did. We had a
mayor here named Joe Lang who worked with a Civil Rights leader
down here named John LeFlors. And 50 we didn't have some of
the viclence, the extent of the wiplence that you saw in the

obther parts of the state. We tried to work through our lssues
because we thought £t was more important for Us to werk through
those issues and work together to try te figure out a way te
live together harmonipusly. Wers we perfect about 1t? Mo, we
did not. But we didn't have the problsms you saw in the rest
af the state becsuse we at least made Che effort to work
together.
Q When you sald that you worked =- that you served on the
state school board, correct?
A Yeah.
Q I want to share & map now which is Defendants' Exhibit 26.
This is the 2001 map, Mr, Byrne. T know -- T think you

were in the State Senate then, weren't you?
&  Tn 2001, T was still on the state school board,
Q Okay. So which district did/you represent in the state
schogl board?
A Pistrict number 1.
[+ Thank you. Did you sver get calls from peocple in, say
Pistrict 5 when you were on the ‘schogl board?

Christine X, Decker, RMR, CRR
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member who was focused on Mobile County as well as the ather
eounties. I had Baldwin and Escambia as w=ll. But theres were
5o many issues with the Mobile County schonl system, a lot of
my time wes spent fochsed on that. #nd if you break it op into
two differant pecple, you dan't really have that level of
foous.

I'm not saying that the people that represent those two
districts aren't working as hard as they san. I'm sure they
are. But it's very difficult to be foocused on the Mobile
County school system L€ you hava got almost all the Black Bslt,
which that district up in the northern part is and a big ochunk
of the Wiregrass; which the lower part of the -— the lower
district Is.

Q Bomeones who has served both in Congress and on the state
school bozrd, how do the roles of those two offices compara to
each cther, Mr. Byrne?

A They're very different. You'r= on the state school board,
you are fociused on educational dssues. That's it.

Now, there are some work force development issues that go
with that, et cetera. Bubt thit's pretty much it. ¥You are just
fouused on educational issues. When you ara ln the United
States Congress, you are focused on a large number of issoes.

I mean, lt's almost everything comes within the purview of the
United States Congress from foreign puliﬁy, defense poliey,
health care, to internal security, and sducation, @z well, 1
Christina K. Decker, FMR, CRR
Federal Official Court Rmpartes
101 Holmes Avenus, WE

Huntevills, Alasbama 35801
256-506-0085/Christinabacker., rmt,crrlaol.dam
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was on the Educatisn and Labor Committes in the House of
Bepresentatives. And one of the problems I had &5 a
congressman i that people expected yoo fo be knowledgeable on
so many different things.

Neow, at least you have got a staff in Congress. When I
ez on thelstabe school hoard, T Had Ao'staff. T had to rely
upon the staff of the State Department of Education, and they
had other things to do.

86 Lt was difficilt to me to be on the state school Hoard.
But at least T could Jhst Tocus on one set of issues and try &a
master them.

And sc it was very different being in both of those roles.
But T enjeoyed both of those roles.

Q Congidering the different roles between the school board
and tha ocongressman, sven if you assumed it made sense to split
Mobiile County in a school board map, does that mean it would
make ‘sense to do 80 ina congressional map?

A Wo. It would not make sense. At lsast on the school
board, vou are focused on one set of issues. Sp if 1'm from
Montgomery and I have got half of Mobile County from Mobile and
I have part of the Wirkgrass, at least, T have got a
geographlcally diverse area. At Ieast, I'm really only focused
on a very set, defined set of isgsues.

Wow, they are very important fssues. Don't get me wrong.
But at least I gcould focus on those issues and Lry to make sure
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Prichard prohably didn't give me 5 percent of the wvote in
my elections. I probably lost there by a huge margin. But I
would go and have town hall meetings and campaign in Prichard
because I believed the people in Prichard deserve to have a
good congressman.
Q When you ran for Congress, Mr. Byrne, did you run as &

candidate of any political party?

A Yes, I was a Bepublican.
[+] wihy are you a Bepublican, Mr, Byrne?
A Because the Republican Party ls gloser bto the conservative

pringiples that T believe in than the Democratic Party is. I
started out as a Democrat, but I felt like by 15397 I guess is
when I switched parties, the Democratic Party had migrated away
from what were my principles, Not putting down the Democratic
Party if people are Democrats. I have friends who are
Democrats and work with & lot of Democrats, but I just felt
1ike the Hepublican Party is more closely aligned with where I
stood on issues and principles.

L¥] Did you work with Democrats when you were in Congress?

A Ch, yes. All the time, I will give yodu two sxamples. I
served on the Armed Services Committee. Every year, the only
bi1l the Armed Services Committee works on is the National
Defense Authorizatien, which we have passed cut of the Congress
every year since John Kennedy was president. Those bills are
always bipartisan 100 years ago percent of the time. We work

Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR
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as I go from county to county that I am applying what I kbhow on

thege issnes to each cneof those counties as they

different.

Q When you campaigned for Congress in the different
elections, Mr. Byrne, what parts of your district would you
campaign in?

A All of them, T had & -- go ahead.

4] Would you campaign in areas that were both more —- would
you campaign in neighborhoods or areas that had a large
African-American community?

A Oh, yeah. You can't run for Congress in this distriet ——
I will just make sure -- to be clear =-- in this district
without touching every part of It. And I made a concerted
effort to go everywhere. In fact, if you look at my schedule,
I szpent a disproportionate amount of my time in the more rural
areas than T did in more populated areas, because if you want
Lo go up to Monroeville, you might as well spend some time in
Monroe County.

There are parts of Monree County that are almost
completely African-American. There's a little town in north
Monroe county called Beatrice that's 50/50. I had a town ball
in Beatrice. Someone said, why in the world would you bother
spending time in Beatrice because it's sg¢ small? 1 said they
deserve to be represented, too. BSo I went te all parts of my
district.
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== from the very beginning of the years, we work on that bill.
We consciously work together to make sure that bill, the bill
that authorizes the defense of this country is something that
we can all vote for,

S0 we work at being bipartisan, very much so.

The other example I give you ia this: Shortly after
Fresident Trump was elected, this "Me-Too" movemsnt came out,
And we discovered that we have "Me-Too" problems in United
States Congress., But we alsc discovered that members of the
United States Congress weren't subject to the same processes
that the private sector was subject to under Title VII of the
1964 Ciwvil Rights Act.

Now, I spent a career as a labor employment attorney
telling small, medium-sized businesses in Alabama what they had
to do to comply with that law. &And here in Congress, the body
that passed that law was not holding itself under the same set
of accountability processss.

S0 I worked with a very llberal Democrat congresswoman
from California, Jackie Speier, and we put together a bill that
made Congress be as accountabls, even more accountable than we
hold people in the private sector, and that bill that Jackie
and I put together passed the United States House unanimously,
passed the United States Sepate unanimously, and is a law of
the United $tates now:; &nd those ars just two examples,

I worked all the time in a bipsrtisan manner, because I
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firmly believe that the best legislation in Washington is
bipartisan legislation. The hardest legislation to pass in
Washington iz partisan legislation, And it's always a problem,
always.

So I enjoyed working the bipartisan fashion. T know you
look up there now and think, they're completely divided. They
can't get along, And there are problems. Don't get me wrong.
But thers are still people up there, former colleagues of mine
on beth sides of the aisle that understand what I say is true,
and they're still trying to work together to make things happen
and happen in the right way.

Q When you ssrved on the delegation with Congresswoman
Sewell for the Seventh District, did yeou have the opportunity
to work with her on any issues?

A Oh, all the time, ®&ll the time. We shared Clarke County.
We actually had joint town halls together.

If she had an issue that affected her district, you know
uniquely, she would call on the other members of ths delegation
to help her, and we always did, 100 years ago percent of the
time. And she always helped us. We all worked together. It
wasn't like 1t was unigque ta her.

So Terry was a part of a group called Faith and Pelities,
I esssume she 15 still @ part of it. That's the group that
brings the pilgrimage te Alabams every year around the
anniversary of the Edmund Pettus Bridge March from 1%65. She
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capital towards that you thought and sxpected to have a
particular benefit to your African-American constituvents?
A Just about sverything, If I am deing something that's
going to benefit the economy in southwest Alabama, it's going
to benefit African-Americans in my distriect, of course, it is.
If you go to the various businesses in this area, and T
trayeled and met with workers in every one of these industries,
It was always black and white. That's the nature of our work
foree down here. I mean, whether you are at a chemical plant,
steel plant, ship building plant, airplane, you are golng to
have a mixed group of people.

So every time I was dolng something for the sconomy. But
I particularly felt like I was helping them every time we
worked on education issues: And this goes back to my state
school board davs. [ think the number one Civil Rights issue
in Alabamz today is the fact that we don't give a guality
education to black people like we do the white people. And I
really feel strongly about that. We are not going to have the
sort of gains and advances and progress we need in this stats

until we make more improvements te our education system,

That's true across the country, but I am more focused on

Alabama,
Q Have you spent any time working with HBCUs, Mr. Byrne?
R Yes, sir. HBCUs are historically black colleges and

universities. We had several of them in the two-year college
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wanted to make sure that when that group cama here to Alabama,
which would bring couple hundred pecple, pecple from Congress,
people from business and industry, pecple from foundations, she
wanktaed to make sure that we were all worklng together, that
they saw Alabama, the Alabama delegation working togethsr.

Ho I always participated in that pllgrimage with her,
Usually on Saturday mornings when she did her program sither at
Brown Chapel in Selma or the Dexter Avenue Baptist Church in
Montgomery, she would ask me to be sort of her sidekick for it,
so that we could get up and tell the people from all the cther
parties of America here's a Dempcrat and Republican, black
woman and white man working together on issues that matter to
the people of Alabama, in partienlar, matters that revolve
around Ciwvil Rights.

And I was always honored that she felt comfortable enpogh
to ask me to do that, And I can tell you, you can sit in that
room with some of the people in that room like John Lewis who
we lost last year, and you reallze what people in this state
went through to get us the quality of life we have got today ——
to get to today. T fsel like & little bitty nothing compared
to people Like thar. But It waz an honor always to be with
Terry and to work with her on -- whether it's the pilgrimage or
other things thet were impeprtant to our district.

Q When you were in Congress, Mr. Byrna, were there any
izzues you worked on to devote your time and your politiecal
Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR
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8

g

os:18:3310 | A Oh, yes.

11| the district. I've gotten to know them pretty well. I am very

12 | impressed with the gquality of health care that they provide to

13 | their patients. BAnd I was a strong advocate for them and

14 | continue to be a strong advocate for them because I think that
09:16:56 L5 | they provide quality health care close near where people live,

16 | so it's community plan, and it's the best way I think to get

17 | primary health care to people in those communities. So I am a

18| strong supporter of community health center

1] o Pack to your co-chairmanship on the HBCU caucus, I am not
09:13:2120 | suggesting this was the reason you did it, but did you receive

21 | any recognition for your service in that area?

22| A I did. The Thurgood Marshall Fund gave me an award

23 | three years. Probably one of the awards that I am the most

24 | proud of.

09:13:2025 | private funding to HBCUs across America. And I had no idea

1688

system in Alabama include Bishop State here in Mobile. So when

I was on the state school board, I worked with them. When I
was chancellor of post-secondary education I worked with them.
And by the way, including Tuskegee, and then when I got to
Congress, a congresswoman from North Carclina named Alma Adams
asked me to be a co-chair with her of the HBCU Congressional
Causas. 8o for five years I guess it was, I was the co-chair
of the HBCU Congressional Caucus.

Q Did you spend time working on community health centers?

We have several community health centers here in

Thurgood Marshall Fund works to provide funding,
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they were going to give me an award, and it just knocked me out
when they did., I remain in contact with them. T still
continue to work with them even theough 1 am not in Congress
because I am a huge bellever In HECUs, and I think what the
Thurgood Marshall Fund is doing and the United Negro College
Fund, both of them together are doing great work for those
colleges, and 1 think they are important to America.

[+] Just a few more guestions, Mr. Byrne., And I will remind
you. We want to make sure the Court understands your testimony
that Ms. Decker can take it down. We will try to sliow down
just ‘g little. I want to -- when you were in Congress, did you
consider yourself to be the representative of both Republicans
and Democrats in your district?

A Yas.

Q Did you consider yourself to be the representative of bath
the white and Afrigan-American constituents in your district?

A Absolutely, ves,

Q I want to share & screen now, Mr. Byrne. This is Milligan
Exhibit 5, It is the report of one of their experts, Dr. King,
and she is offering opinlons on certain issues. 1 want to read
this intreduction section into the record so you can get some
conkext., Dr, ¥ing writes, White law makers in Alabama learned
long ago to coler mask thelr public statements, just as they
have learned teo color mask the legislation intended to protect
their racial prerogatives.
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Kaspernick appears in the fire as Byrne calls him an entitled
athlete dishonoring the American flsg. Members of the
congressional caucus known as the Sguad, Ilhan Omar and
Alexandria Ocasio Cortez appear in the fire and are accused of
attacking Amerieca and cheapening 5/11, HNo white paople appear
in the fire.

My guestion to you, Mr., Byrne, is: TIs there anything you
care to say in response?
A ¥es, sir., That ad was about my brother. And the fire was
a fire in the fire plit at ocur hunting camp that he and I used
ta git arcund all the time, So that ad was :about my brother.

Mow, the fact that I'm contrasting a rich, NFL gquarterback
named Colin Kaepernick who won't stand up during the naticnal
anthem with my brother's service who mads far less than Colin
Kaepernick makes and literally contracted a disease during one
of his deployments with the 20th Special Forces group that
killed him, I think that's a legitimate thing for me to raise,
I have grave disagreements with Representative Alexandrla
Ocasic Cortez and Representative Omar. But I can tell you I
never had any negative interaction with either one of them,

Representative Alexandria Ocasie Cortez, actually, her
office was in my office building. And when she was relatively
naw;, she couldn't find her way to her office and literally
stopped me in the hallway and asked me, can you tell me where

my wffice is? I said, yes, ma'am, and I told her where it was.
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Not since the high tide of brazen white supremacy when
George Wallace proclaimed, segregation forever, have public
figures been so bold,

MS, WELBDRM: Mr, Dawvis, this is Dr., Bagley's report,
not Dr. King's report.

MR, DAVIS: I apologize for that confusion. Yes.
Thank you for the correction.
BY MR. DAVIS:
o] Then Mr, Bagley after giving some examples zays this.

JUDGE MARCUS: I think you have Lo just --— as we
proceed, Mr. Davis, Jjust take your time and speak right into
the spsaker.

ME. DAVIS: Thank wyou, Judge.
BY 'MR. DRVIS:
4] I will read now an excerpt into the record from Milligan
Exhibit 5, the Bagley report,

Dr. Bagley wrlites, Rapresentative Bradley Byrne of the

State's First Congressional Distriet when he was vying for a
Senate sest aired s campaign ad in which he condemned black
people by placing thelr Images in a fire.

The televisien spot begins with Byrne staring into a wood
fire in a backyard and lamenting the less of his brother in the
armed services. He shifts to lamenting the course the country
is taking as the faces of black and brown pecple appear in the
fire: Former national football league gquarterback Celin
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And we sort of developsd a personal rapport just because she
got to the moment of weakneas, which we all have in Congress by
the way. It's easy te get lest in those buildings.

5S¢ we never really had a political conversation, but we
would have these personal sort of, you know, informal seoeial
interactions, I disagree with her on the issues, but I don't
have any problems with her as a person.

The same is true for Ms, Omar, MNow, Ms, Omar served on
the Education and Labor Committee with me: So we would have
intsractions about education issues, and we had some
disagreements about -— but there was no -- that was really
about my brother. It was not aboul those other peopls. And
the fact that we used them was to simply contrast them and
their positions with the service that my brother had rendered
Lo oUr country.

Q Was it your intention to single cut anyone because of
their race?

A Ho. T singled put Mr. Kaepernick because he won't stand
up during the national anthem, and theres ars plenty of black
athletes that stand up during the national anthem by the way.
I have noticed that's not as what a lot of pecple try to
portray it to be.

And I am singling ocut Ms. Alexandria Ocasio Cortez and
Ms. Omar becauss of their attacks against America. Thay attack
American values, And I think it's perfectly within the realm

Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR
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of what's appropriate dialogue to say, [ expect somebody that's
making this money as Collin Kaspernick to stand up during the
national anthem, and I don't think members of Congress should
be attacking the country.

Q Mr. Byrne, 1 want you to think of the people who are
involvad in congressional campaigns, whether it's a candidate
or someone considering a run, that person's staff, wvolunteers,
and then I want you teo:assume that a couple of weeka before the
January 28th deadline, the congressiconal map changes from the
way it's usually been and what the Legislature passed to all of
a sudden it changes to something like what the plaintiffs are
representing excuse me —— what the plaintiffs are proposing.

Do you see any issuss that would cause with congressional
campalgns?

B Yes, sir. First of all, we have primaries in four months,
general eglection in ten months. Once you turn the calendar to
the beginning of the year, you have that primary staring you in
the face, you have already set your campaign in place, ¥ou
already have your plan in place. Y¥pu have already got
voluntesrs set up ready to go. You have got, you know, the
campaign ad messaging already worked out, And wvou are hitting
the ground running.

So Af you change my distriet on me with that little time,
it's going to put a substantial borden on my ability to refocus
my’ fampaign, conduct my cempaign, get wolunteers, et cetera.
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it for Washington County.

JUDGE MARCUS; Let me stop you for a sedond,

Mr, Byrne. You cuot owt. The sound out out for a minute., So
take your time and just repeat what you just said if you would,
please.

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. What & have been the most
concerned dbout is that people that pull apart southwest
Alsbama and have different parts being represented —— we work
together down here in southwsst Alabama. The example T vsed
was the Mobile area Chamber of Commerce; the economic
development for both Mobile County and Washington County,
becanse we're so closely connected,

We need to stay together down here. WNe have a group
called CAP, Cultural Alabama partnership, that pulls togsther
these counties so that we have common representaticn, cdmmon
advocacy efforts with the Alsbama Legislature and the members
of Congress, So keep Us tbgetheér, Don't pull us apart. Let
us be one group of people that work together for our reglen of
the state and maximize the benefits that we want to get for our
people down hare.

MR, DAVIS: Thank you, Mr. Byrne. I have no further
questions and pass the witness at this time.

JUDGE MARCUS: Thank you, coonsel, Jross-examination
in what order did you propose to proceed on behalf of MIlligan

and Caster and the Singleton? And we leave that up to you.
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1| And particularly if you give me a new gecgraphic area that I
2| haven't represented before, where I don't have, you know, the
3| natural contacts, et cetera, that's a huge problem for any
4| community. And I don't -- and that's true for any candidate,
pe:27:52 5 [ Democrat, Republican, people that are long-time public office
6 | holders, people that are brand new. It could be a tremendous
T difficulty.
Bl @ Mr. Byrne, you said you went to a public hearing where
9 | some of these districts were at issue. Why did vou ge to the
09:28:1310 | public hearing? Why are you here teday to talk to the Court
11 | about districts?
12 ] a Number one, I am a citizen, so I have -- so I am not just

13| any citizen. I mean, I served on the state school board, held
14 | a distriet for eight years. I served in the United States

03:28:3515 | House of Representatives representing one of the districts for
16 | seven years. I have, you know, a unique set of understandings
17 | about what it's like to represent these areas. Aand I felt like
18| I owed it to the system. I owed it to the public to stand up
15| and say -- as somebody that's actually done this work, these

o3:ze:5120 | districts the way I'm proposing them makes sense this way.

21

22 | this particular community together. Keep these communities
23 | together. Don't pull southwest Alabama apart because we work
24 | together down here. Mobile area Chamber of Commerce doesn't

02:29:1325 | just do economie development for Mobile County. They also do

a
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And the most important thing T was trying to say is keep
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MS. WELBCRN: I will be going first for the Milligan
plaintiffs, Your Honor.

JUDRGE MARCUS: All right. &nd, Mr. Whatley, would you
be going second or the Caster folks going second?

ME. WHATLEY:; Doesn't matter to me, Your Honor.

JUDGE MARCUS: I leave that up to you. So let's
begin --

ME. WHATLEY: I am happy for the Caster plalntiffs to
go second,

JUDGE MRRCUS: ALl right. Thanks wvery much.
Ms. Welborn, you may proceed with your cross-examination.

M5. WELBORM: Thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY M3. WELBORN:
] Eepresentative Byrné, my name is Kaitlin Welborn, and I
represent the Milligan plaintiffs. Good morning.
3 Good morning.
aq So 1'd like to talk about the current radlstrieting plan
first., You had po direct role in drawing the current
congressional map in Alabama, right?
A I didn't have any direct role, but 1 did testify before

the committee.

Q But other than that, you did neot do anything to --
A That's correct.
Q == help draw the congressional map?

Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR
Federal ©fficial Court Reportsr
101 Holmes RAvenus, HE
Hunteville, Alabama 35301
256-506-0085/Christinafecker. rmr, crrfscl.com




=]

w

0:31748 5

9

09:31:53 10
11

12

13

14
o®:3z:08 15
16

17

1B

19
09:32:22 20
21

22

23

24

a:32:30 25

&)

09133467 5

8
0934135 10
11

1z

13

14
069:34:33 15
16

17

18

19
ou3aza7 20
21

22

23

24

asi3s:0z 25

case 221-0v-015@C Ager 2021 2ev-01 291 AM N z@oggment 167-4 F

F-S That's correct.

el And you did not prowvide any input to Mr. Hinaman, the map
drawer?

1 I did not know Mr. Hinaman,

Q I'm sorry?

A I don't think T know him.

Q Ckay., and you did not speak with Representative Pringle
about the 2021 map?

I did.

You did?

Yes.

I'm sorry?

R = R R = R

He is the chair of the committes, and I testified before
the committes.

Q Okay. But did you speak to Represantative Pringle outside
af the public hearing?

A I don't believe I did, no.

Q Okay. And did you not speak with Senator McClendon

outside of the public hearing?

A 1 den't believe 1 did, no.

Q And you did not speak with Secretary Merrill's expert
Thomas Bryan?

A Mo, ma'am.

Q Okay. Youw first ran for Congress in a special wlection in

2013, right?
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everything.

Q And some Representatives in Congress represent entire
states, right?

A That's true.

Q Is it impessible to be knowledgeables about, for example,
both the University of Sputh Alabama and Troy University at the
game time?

A Well, you can be knowledgeable about them, but you can be
more knowledgeable about one than two.

Q Okay. Wouldn't baving two congressional representatives
representing Mobile and Baldwin give the region even grearer
inflyence in Congress?

A Well, the truth of the matter f= 1f you have two different
anas, you don't have one that's Jjust entirely focused on a
particular interest. 8o ——

Q Mo, You have two that afe focused on that area?

¥ Unfortunately, when you have two, you don't have the same
amount of foous. That's just the honest truth about it, 5o if
I am only conceened about the University of South Alabama, 1
know T am the congressman for the University of South Alabama,
and thay don't haye anybody but me te go up thers and do whab
needs to be done for them. And so it really is better to have
just ope than to bave twp that are sort of split and paying
attentieon to other things.

Q Representative Sewell and Palmer both live in Birmingham,
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1A That's correct.
2] &nd at that time, you had already held state office in
3| Alabama for some time ‘as you had menticned, right?
4] A That's correct.
osiazas 0| Q 8o you wers something of & known quantity te the voters in
& | vour discriet?
7l A Well, 1 thought I was better known than I feound out that I
& | was, but, yes, to some people, I was a known guantity.
ale And in the 2013 special election, your opponent,
n8:33:0310 | Mx.  TeFlepre was black, right?
11] a That's correct.
121 And he Iost to you by over 30 percent?
13l a I don't remember the percent.
14 And then you faced Mr. LeFlore again in the 2014 general
asizzizo 15 | election?
16| A That's right.
171 ¢ And at that time, he lost to you by over 35 percent?
18| & Once again, I don't ramember the percent,
19 a Okay. As a cpongressional representative, don't you have
0%:33:35 20 | to focus on multiple issues all at once?
21| A You da.
zZ21Q And you have to learn about all of the issues that matter
23| to your constituents?
24| A ¥You doy but thers's some issue you know more about than
06:33:4325 | othars to be honest with you. You can't bs an expert on
Christina R. Decker, FMR, CRR
Federal Dfficial Court Réaparter
101 Holmes Awvenus, KE
Runtswille, Alabama 35801
256-B06-0085/Cheistinabecker, rme.crrfacl . com
Case 2;21-cv-01530-AMM  Document 105-6 Filed 01/18/22 Page 56 of 283
1700

o8:at:30° 5§

osras:an 10
11
12
13
14
09:38:53 15
16
17
18
19
233e0a0 20
21
22
23
24

69:36:22 25

right?
A I don't think == I know Representative Sewell lives in
Blrmingham. I think Representative Palmer lives outside of

Birmingham, but in the metro area.

Q In Jefferson County?
A Yeah.
Q Ckay. Are you aware of any criticisms of either of those

representatives failing teo adequately represent the rest of
their districts?
2 I've never heard anybody criticize either one of them for
what they do for their distriet. Each ope of them in their own
way do an excellent job for their district.
a] Okay. B&Are you aware that District 4 stretches across the
nerthern part of the state from Lamar and Tuscaloosa counties
all the way east to Etowah and Pekalb counties?
A I am. I believe that's Congressman Aderholt's district.
Q That's right. It's Congressman Aderholt
And presumably, Representative Aderholt campaigns
everywhere in his district, right?
A I dopn't know where he campaigns, but Congressman Aderhole
1like Congresswoman Sewell and Congressman Palmer, does an
excellent job in his distriet,
o] I would like to talk about the econemics of the Mabile
ares.
¥ou spoke gquite a bit about the port in Mobile. Does
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Republican Carl your successor 5lso work ta protect ship
building in Congress?

A ¥es, ma'am. He ig dolng a good job.

a Wouldn't you expect anyone who repressnted Mobile to work

to protect the ship building lndistry in Congress?
A oh, I think that's true. The guéstion is, once again,
it's bandwidth.
you have got other competing lssues?
Congressman (arl because T am not there with him all the time.
But for me, every day that I woke up in Congress, I was
concerned about that shipyard.
thers were all sorts of people trying to take the monsy away
from thoss programe that they were building ships for; for
otbher programs.

anapper fight was & fight every day.

Now, if I have got-to worry about several other Issues in

addition to thoss, I am not going to be as sifective in that
fight as 1 would he {f I'm focused an those.

a Okay. But if the port in Mobile were in a different
district than €D 1, it would still be trus that someone would
work te represent, you know, the ship —— protect the ship

building industry in Congress?

A 1 would think g, but I would think it would be a gueation

of how much time, how much efforr, and how much priority they

put on it. And if they have got other things they are
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And those pecple may come from-Clarke County?
Yes.

Conecuh 'County?

Mot too many people from Conecuh County.

Gikay. What about Wilcox County?

T )

Not very many pecple from Wilcox County.

How much time can you devote to that izsue if

Sa I can't say this about

And that's what it togk because

And it was a fight every day just like the red

1703

And migration from othes Areas would lnslude pecple moving

from the area commonly known as the Black Balt, right?

a There are people that move here from the Black Belt, yes.

Q Okay., You don't know the level of migratian ipto the
Mobils area in the past decade, do you?

A You mean whers they came from?

Q The level of migration.

A The level, ©Oh, I souldn't gquantify it for you, but we
have had migration.

Or the past 50 years?

We have had migration the last 50 &f years, yes.

But you don't know the level?

Mo, I ean't fquantify for you.

B B o o

And you don't have a breakdown of where those migrarits
have coms from?
A No, ma'am,
Q Are you aware of the racial disparities in the poverty
level in Mobile?
A You mean the percentage of people who are in poverty who
Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR
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1| competing with, ir wouldn't be as mush. That's just the nature
2 | e things.
EN ]

4 | industries sugh asz Airbus and fishing, and said that thoge are

Okay. And other than the porty you mentiocned & few other
5| some of the largest industries in the Mobile ares, right?
6| & Yeah, I also menticned toirism and seafood, et cetera.

T8 Okay. The largest industry in Mobile County i3 health
B | care; is that right?
o B I guess if you put all the hospltals together, it might ——

14 | that might be true, yeah.

11| e and the second largest industry is retail sales; is that
12 | right?
13|z In terms of numbers of employees: that may be true., T

14 || don't know about payrolls.

15| @ Gkay. ®#nd the recent sconomic growth in Mobile County has

1% | attracted more peaple to move to the Mobils area; is that

17 | right?

18| & That's correct.

BN ] And people go to Mokile County from sther countiss ta
20 | work?

21| & Oh, yes. A lgt of people do.

zZ|lao And to live?

23| & Yes.
2419 And to shop?
25| & oh, yes.
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are black versus white?
Q Yes.
A I know that it's a higher percentage poverty among black
pecple than white people in Mobile County.
Q Are you aware that over 51 percent of people living below

the poverty line in Mobile County are black, even though only
36 percent of Mobile County is black?

A I don't know the figure precisely, but I wouldn't be
surprised if that was the case.

Q Qkay. Are you aware that the Mobile City Council had to
be sued in the 1970s and 1980s to ensure black representation?
A I am well aware of that, yes, ma'am.

Q And are you aware that the Mobile County School Board had

to be sued in the 1970s and 1980s toc ensure black

representation?
A I am well aware that, yes, ma'am.
Q You mentioned representative John Lewis and the

commemoration of the Selma to Montgomery March?
A Correct.,
Q But you did not support the John Lewis Voting Rights
Advancement Act while you were in Congress, did you?
A I did not.
Q You are familiar with the area referred to as the Black
Belt, right?
A Oh, yes, ma'am.
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Q And the Black Belt is gemerally an ar=sa whose counties are
generally majority black, right?

A It's actually ealled the Black Belt because of the soil.
The so0il is dark and rich there, 2o it's not called the EBlack
Belt of race or ethnicity.

Q That's not what I asked. I=s it an area whose counties are
generally majority black?

A Yes, There are some exceptions to that, but yes, as a
region, it's majority black.

2 Okay. And in general, the Black Belt has lower income

levels than other areas of the state, right?

A Yes, ma'am, that's correct.

Q And it has lower educaticn levels than other areas?

A There are exceptions to that, but that's true.

Q And it has worse hezlth care and facilities than other
areas?

A I don't know that. 1 have toured hospltals in the Black

Belt, and there the number of good hospitals in Black Belt, so
I can't verify what you just said,
Q Ckay. That's perfect, because I would 1ike to talk about
health care now.

In December 2020, you were interviewed by al,com about
your time after Congress. Do you recall this interview?
F-S Well, yeah, T did a lot of interviews when I was & member
of Congress, but I do recall generally that interview.
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1 M5, WELEBORN: And, Mr. Ang, could you flip to the last
2 | page; please?
3| BY MS. WELBORN:
a1 And, Representative Byrpe, could you read the paragraph
5| starcting with, many of us have access?
Gl B Many of us have access to primary health care, and we take

7| that for granted, but for a disproporticnate number of pecples
8| in the state, and a disproportionate number of black people,

9] that's not true. It's not good for our communities, for our

o#:44:7710 | state, or our natien.

11l g Thank you.
12 MS. WELBCRN: And, Mr. Ang, you can take that down.
13| 8Y MS. WELBORN:

14l o Representative Byrne, do you agree that it is difficult

0844413715 | for black people in Mabile County teo get primary health care?

1e| A Yes, ma'am.
17y ¢ And would you agree that it is difficult for black people
18| in the Black Belt to get primary health care?

188~ I don't know as much as the Black Belt as I do about

99:42:5020 | Mobile County, but I wouldn't be surprised if that was true,

21| ¢ Ukay. Thank you., You are aware that the Affordable Care
22 | act allows states to opt in to Medicaid expansion; right?
23 A 1 am,

241 Q And you are aware that Governor Bentley convened a task

force that recommended that Alabama opt into Medicaid
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MS. WELBORN: Mr. Ang, could you bring up that
article?
BY MS. WELBORMN:
o] Mr. Byrne, do you recognize this article?
A It's been a while since I've read it, but, yes, John
Sharp. I remember the article he wrote, yeah.

MS. WELBORN: Your Honor, we would like to mark this
document as Milligan Plaintiffs' Exhibit 55 for identification.

JUDGE MARCUS: OQkay.

MS. WELBORN: Mr. Ang, could you flip tc page 2,
please?
BY MS. WELEBORN:
Q And, Republican Byrne, could you please read the paragraph
starting with, the daily data?
A The daily data that I've got in this -- which really
forced me to focus on the fact that there is a problem with the
ability of black people to be able to get good, primary health
care. One thing I have worked on in Congress and will continue
to be interested in, is how do we get primary health care to
black people? It's clear with the data we have is that black
people with underlying health conditions are disproportionately
affected by the novel Coronavirus virus. We should want
everyone in our communities to have real access to guality
primary health care.
Q Thank you.
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expansion; Tight?
A 1 don't know about that.
2 Okay., But Alabama has not opted inteo Medicaid expansion?
A That's correct.

Q@ And if Medicaid were expanded in Alabama about, 220,000

more Alabamians would receive health care coverage; is that

right?

A Ho.

Q I'm sorrcy?

A I said no.

Q Okay. Do you have a different figure?

A Ma. I think what you are saying is they would be covered

by Medicaid, but it doesn't mean they would have access to
health care because there are not encugh hesalth care providers

to previde health care to.

Q I'm sorry. I'm talking about health care coverage, s0
insurance?

S It's a difference between goverage and gaining health
carsa,

Q Qkay. 220,000 more Alabamians would be covered by
Medicaid and have Medicaid insurance?
A Yes. But they wouldn't necessarily be able to get health
care because we don't have doctors that will take cars of them.
We have --
Q Thank you.
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A We have one pediatrician in Escambia County, Alabama that
will take Medicaid patlents because the level of pay is so low
for Medicaid. Sg you can have Medicaid and not be able teo get
health care because there's no doctor to give it to you.

That's --

o Okay. Thank you.

A -— why I support community health centers

ol But of those 220,000 Alabamians who would be covered under
Medicald in that they have Medicaid insurance, black pecpls
would disproportionately be ameng those at those people, right?
a I den't know that figure: T couldn't -- T couldn't
quantlfy that.

Q And while you were in office, you opposed Medicaid
expansion, right?

A I did because I thought we should have community health
cénters instead.

Q Okay. And Representative Sewell supports Medicaid

expansiaon?
A She does.
Q &nd that Alabama Black leglslative Caucus supports

Medicaid expansion?

B I don't know.

Q Okay. In Congress, you made opposition to the Affordable
Care Act @ major priority: is that fair?

A I did.
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Q Okay.

MS. WELBORN: I believe I have no further questions,
but if T could please confer with my colleagues for a few
minutes.

JUDGE MARCUS: You may.

MS. WELBORN: Thank you.

We have no further questions. Thank you.

JUDGE MARCUS: All right. Thank you. And you may
proceed, Mr, Osher.

MR. OSHER: Thank you, Your Honor.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. OSHER:

Q Good morning, Representative. How are you?

A Good morning. I'm well, thank you

Q Can you hear me ckay?

A I can.

Q Great. My name is Dan Osher. I represent the Caster

plaintiffs in this lawsuit. I think we met a few years ago
during the Chestnut litigation where you testified. Do you
remember that?
A I do.
Q Great.
Representative, how long did you serve in Congress?
A Seven years.
Q And during that time and when you were campaigning, did
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Q And you sponsored a 2015 bill to repeal the Affordable
Care Act?
A Repesl and replace.
Q &nd in 2017, you supported a budget revolution to appeal

the Affordable Care Act?

f That's correct.
L] Do you recall the American Health Care Act of 20177
A I do.

[+ And it sought to repeal the Affordable Care Act, as well,
right?
o Repeal and replace.
Q@ And you supported the American Health Care Aect: right?
P Yas, because I thought 1t was going to give a better
health care system than the cone that the Affordable Care Act
providad.
Q Okay. Thank you.
Do you know what percentage of black veters voted for you
in the 2014 and 2018 general electicns?
A I don't.
Q Would it surprise you that in your 2014 election only
15 percent of black wvoters in Distriect 1 voted for you?
A No.
Q 2nd would it surprise you te know that in 2018 only
5.4 percent of black voters in District 1 woted for you?
.4 That would surprise me, yeah.
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you reach oubt bo your constituvents to try to learn what their

interests and needs were?

A Constantly:

Q I'm sorry. 1 didn't cateh that answer.

A Constantly.

Q What about organizations that served your constituents,

did you reach out to meet with any such organizations?
A Typically, thay would reach out to me, So somebody
reached out to me and said, will you come speak to our group,
or <an we come meeb with you? I would say, yes.
o] Okay. You mentioned Airbus during your testimeny. That
is a pretty big presence in Mobile; fen't that right?
I Yes; sirs
[+] Did you ewver seek oot a mesating to meet with
Representatives from Airbus?
- Ho. They sought out mestings with me.
Q 50 you never reached out to them during your candidacy or
serving Congress?
A 1 didn't have to. They reached out to me.
Q Fair encugh.
What about Austal, did you ever reach cut to them?
n Yes, sir, but that was part of the back and forth in
trying to get ships authorized and appropriated, BSo I would
initiate cenversations with them and tell them this is what
just happened or what's about to happen.
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1]le Sure. MAnd that was a huge project in your district,

(%]

right? I beliewve youo spent a lot of time on that?

3| A Yes, sir. A let of time.

11 Eny other of the companies that vou identified in your

5| direct examination, did you reach out to any of those while you
& | were serving or campaigning?

7l & I would probably sach reach out to the University of South
8| Alabama because 1 was on the educatlion committee, and I was

3| trying to -— but in genetal, if T spoke with companies, that

opes1:22 10 | would have been becauss they or somebody representing their

11 | industry reached out to me.

120 o Sure. Busy guy. I wouldn't dispute that. So you

13 | testified in the Chestnut trial while you were in office you

14 | never had a formal reading with the Alabama State Conference of

05:51:42 15 | the NARCE; isn't that righr?

6] A That's correct. They never reached out to me.

17] And you never reached out to them?

Is | A Neo.,

19 g &nd you didn't know who the president of that crganization

09:51155 20 | was when you testified in Chestnit; is that right?

21| A ¥Yag, Sir.

22 JUDGE MARCUS: Give him & chance to complete his

23 | answer. You may proceed, Mr, Byrne.

24 THE WITHESS: I still don't know.

sn:32:08 25 | BY MR. OSHER:
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el and you further testified that you never paid sttention to
what extent your black constituents supported or opposed you in
your congressional races; isn't that right?

A That's right. It didn't matter. I still had to represent
them, whether they voted for me or nof.

Q Sure., But yvou didn't pay attention te whether they

actually supported or opposed you?

R Ho. Wouldn't matter.
Q So during your seven years in Congress, and I think you
already talked about this, you got to know the other members of
the Alabama delegation; 1lsn't that right?
.S Cur delegation worked together very well, wery closely.
Q And I -— in Ms. Welborn's cross-examination, you talked
about this & little bit, but I'd like to dig down & litrle
more.

M. OSHER: Jeff, can I have you pull up Caster
Plaintiffs' Exhibit 127 Thanks.
BY ME. DSHER:
Q And, Representative, 1 will représent to you that this is
a map of the congressional plan that was in place I believe the
whole btime that you were in office?
A That's correct.
(a3 Over a decade between 2012 and this year, or I should say
last year.

5o Robert Aderholt represented District 4, right?
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Q And you testified in chestnut that you never held a
mesting with anyene from the Urban League while you wers in
office, right?

A That's correct. They never reached out to me.

Q And you never reached out to them?

A That's right.

o And you testified in Chestput you never met with anyone
from the Southern Christlan Leadership Conference; isn't that
right?

A Mot that I am aware of.

o] And you testified in cChestnpt that you never had a meeting

with anyene from the NWational Coalition of Black Civig
Participation; isn't that right?
A That's correct. Now, I think what I said in that trial
and I will say again today is I may have met with those people
when I was somewhere else. Like I may have met with them in
Selma during the pilgrimage, but T didn't meet with them asz
members of organizations., It was part of a bigger meating.
Q Of gourse, Understood. And you taestified in Chestnut
that you nsver met with anyone from LULAZ, the Leagus of United
Latin American Citizens; isn't that right?
A That's correct,
Q And you testified in Chestnut that you didn't even know
what that organization was?
& That's .correct.
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A That's correct.
@ S0 looking at his district -- and let's sse.

ME. OSHER: Jeff, could you focus in on the purplis
district there? Yeah. Perfect.
BY MR. OSHER:
5] S0 looking at that district, it spans the width of the
state, It has corners in Colbert County in northwest down to
Lamar and Tuscaloosa counties, then ever sast to Etowah,

Marshall, and Dekalb County; i=n't that right?

A Yos, sir.
Q Would you say that's an accurate description of that
description?

A Yes, sir.
Q Did Representative Aderholt ever express to you that it
was too difficuolt for him tortravel to the different parts of
his district?
A Ho. I actually know that area fairly well because I have
campaigned in there twice running for statewide aoffice, and
that ares, it has an awful lot in common with one another.
Q Sure. That —-
JUDGE MARCUS: Just let him findsh his answer.
THE WITNE3S: I said they're very similar.
BY MR. OSHER:
Q My apologies. for -- I didn't mean to talk over you,
Representative.
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That wasn't my guestlon. My guestion was: Did
Representative Aderholt ever express to you that it was too
difficult for him to travel to the different parts of his
district when he represented them?

A No. When you are in Congress and you are delegated to a3
distriet like that, you do what you have to do, and I am surs
he does an excellent job of it.
Q And he is an effective representative of his district?
A Yes. Very much =0,
Q And you testified that vou got to know Representative
Eewell pratty well during your time in Congress?
A Actually, I kpew her before I got to Cengress. But she
and I worked very closely together when T was in Congress:
Q 8he is also a very effective Representative of her
district?
& Very effective.

MR. OSHER: Jeff, can we focus on District 7 in the
map?
BY ME., OSHER:
Q 8o, @gain, looking at this district, her district started
out in -- well, it goes down to the south in Clarke Countcy,
then to Montgomery In the east, up to Birmingham in the
northeast in Jeffersen County; and then over to Plckens County
in the west:. Do you ses that? Did T describe her district
accurately?
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Q So looking at his distriet, it has at least half of the
eastern border of the state running all the way up from
Cherokee County and all the way down to Russell County; isn't
that right?

A That's right.

0 Okay. Did Representative Rogers ever say Lo you that it
was too difficult for him to travel to the different parts of
his district?

A ¥e. I think he felt like his district had a lot of
commonality -- not necessarily easy to get from Cherokee County
tc Russell County, but the commonality of interests they had
made it a little bit easier on him.

He deoes have the Anniston Army Depot, so he is going to he
focused on that. But in Russell County, he has got people that
are across the river from a major Army base, so he's got that
to contend with, too. But he's a ranking member of the House
Armed Services Committee now, scon to be the chairman, and so
he will be in a unigue position to help both of those.

Q Sure. That wasn't my question, My guestion was about the
difficulty of travel to the different parts of the district.
And —-

A Yeah. He would say, I have had a long day or a long
couple of three days because I have tc go from Cherokee County
all the way down to Pike Road in Montgomery. That's a long
way.
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A Yas.

[+] In your time in Congress, did Representative Sewell ewver
express to that you it was too difficult for her te travel te
the different parts of her distrist?

A she never said it was too difficult, but she =aild Lt was
pretoy difficult

Q When did she say that?

A On several different occasiocns. She would talk about what
her schedule was and how difficult it was for her to be able to
go from Birmingham to Clarke County to Lowndes County to
Choctaw County, just the difficulty in travel, and the fact
that, yeouw know, she's got parts of Jefferson County an urban
county, parts of Montgomery County another urban county
tegether with the rural Black Belt ecounties. Tt's tough, it's

real tough on her, but she is very smart and very capable, and

she does -- she works hard.
2 And you said she's a very effective representative?
& 0Oh, yes very effective.

Q And let's look at District 3.
As you spoke & bit about earlier, looking at that district

-= and I'm sorry, Who represents District 37
B It's Mike Bogers,
Q And he did the whole time you were in office; is that
right?
A 0h, yes. Yeah.
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Q But he's =-- you think he's a very effective reprasentative
in his district?
A Oh, yeah, yeah.
Q Okay.

MR. OSHER: You can take that down, Jeff, thank you.
BY MR. OSHER:
Q In your direct examination, do you recall talking to
Mr. Davis about how the illustratlive plans that the plaintiffs
have offered in this case may result in no congressional
representative living in Mobile? Do you remember that?
A Yeg.
o] End I think —— T can't remember: It might have besn
Mr. Davis or you sald that that would be a tragedy?
A It would bea tragedy if we didn't have semebody from
Meobile representing the Mobile area, yeah.
Q Okay.

ME. OSHER: Jeff, could I have you pull up Defendants’
Exhibit 2, which I believe 1s Mr. Bryan's report that was
offered by the state in this case?

Can you go te page 277 Next page, plesse, And can you
zoom in on the Figure 5.6, Alabama enacted plan. Any way to
zoom in further.

BY ME. DSHER:
Q Representative, can you see that map?
F:Y I can.
Christina R, Decker, RMR, CRR
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Q Okay. T will represent to you that this is the current
enacted map, and it has dots as to where each of the current
Representatives live, Do you see that?
A I da.
@ Can you tell me which congressional repressntative
currently lives in Montgomery?
A I don't think anybody currently lives in Montgomsty.
4] And you would agree that Montgomery is the third biggest
city in Alabama?
A Actually, now, I think it's the fourth.
Q Fair enough. You would say that Montgomery is a wvery
important city in ths state of Alzbama?
A Oh, yes, very important ecity.
(u} Okay.
ME. OSHER: You can take that down, Jeff. Thank you.

BY MR. OSHER:
Q You spoke a bit sbout District 5 in the State Board of
Education plan. Do you remember that?
A I can't remember which district it was.
Q District 5 is the one that connects Montgomery to Mobile
with the Black Belt?
& Okay. T remember that aone.
(] And up until a few years ago, Ella Bell represented that
district for a long time; ils that right?
A 3he did, yes.
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County.

Q And Clarks County is the only distriet —— I'm sorry — the
only county that your district split last redistricting eycle,
right?

A That's right. And we had an understanding we would werk
together in Clarke County, and there was never any isgsue.

2 Sure, Ella Bell extremely effectively represented that

distriet, right?

A T don't think I would agree with that,

[v] Dr. Toemmy Stewart succeeded Ells Bell to represent that
district?

LS I -- yeah. I don't know him, but I -- I know the name.

Did you eéver speak to Dr. Stewart?

Q
a Not that T can recall.
o] What about Dr. Chestput, who currently rapresents that
district?

A I don't recall having any interaction with Dr, Chestnut
sither. 1I've been away from the state scghool board for a
while,

Q You veted to -- in Ms. Welborn's cross-examination, you
spoke about your efforts ko repsal the Affordable Care Act;
tsn't that right?

ES That's right.

Q You testified in Chestaut that you never tried to
determine whether your black constituents wanted the Affordabie
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Q Did she ever express Lo you that it was too difficult for
her to represent a district that had both Montgemery and Mobile
in it?
A resy
Q When did she say that?
A 1 think | mentioned earlier that I would get phone calls
from people in her district at -- thinking I was their state
school hoard member. And asking me to coms to meetings., A&nd I
would ¢all her and I would say, it's your district, not my
district. I don't want to do anything in your distriet you
dan't know abeout. I said, do you want me to do something? She
said, would you please, becasuse I cannet get dawn there. It's
too far me to get from Montgomery to there, I have other
things geing on. And sc I said, sure, I will be happy to do
ir. So I would do that for her from time to time and for her
predscessor,
@ And if she was a member of Congress and you were alsc a
member of Congress and that sort of confusion arose, that would
-=- the same thing would happen, right, you would talk to the
ather member of the Congress and try to figure Lt out?
A Yes. But I got to be honest with you, that never happened
when 1 was in Congresa. I gquess people know who their
Congressman 1s: &g I never got any calls from Terri Sewsll's
district, for sxample, saying would you come meet with us
except for Clarke County because she and 1 shared Clarke
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1| Care Act to be stay in place, right?

2| A

3| that. T just listened to what people were telling me. And I

4| had a lot of people telling me they wanted to change it.

10:05:02 5| Q

6| of the NAACP on that issue?

712

8| with them conscicusly. T may have been in a room with some of

8| them and didn't know they were members of that organization.

10:05:16 10 || @

11 | was on the issue?

2] a

13 | people tell me what their positions was. I didn't have to

14 | reach out to people.

Q

16 | you never even tried to determine how many black constituents

17 | you actually had; isn't that right?

18] A
9] 1

10:05:44 20 | ©

21 | district that was black during Chestnut, you said, it didn't

22 | matter to me. Isn't that right?

23] A
24 g

10:05:5925 | A

1724

I didn't try to determine anybedy's particular views on

You never sought out the advice from the state conference

I think I testified earlier I never had any interacticn

And you never even tried to figure cut what their pesition

No. I -- when it came te that issue, I had plenty of

In Chestnut, you testified that while you were in office

Well, I knew them in general, but I didn't know precisely,
knew it was about 25 percent,

In fact, when you were asked about a percentage of your

It didn't matter to me.
You voted against the First Step Act?

You have to refresh me. T don't know what the First Step
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ACt was.

Q The First Step Act was the criminal justice reform?

by Dh, yeah, yeah, wyeah, 1I'm sorry. Yes, I did.

Q But you testified in Chestnut that you never tried to
determine whether your black constituents felt that that biil
would improve their lives, right?

A I never heard frem anybody about that bill.

Q You didn't attempt to discern the Alabama NAACE's view on

the bill?

A I never had any interaction h them. Consciousiy
knowingly.
Q You spoke a bit about the various factories and plants
that are located in Mobila?
A (Nodded head. )
Q Do you recall that?
A That's right.
Q Are you aware that there are higher rates of cancer and
asthma among the black community in Mobile due to their
proximity to those factories and plants?
A I'm net, but I wouldn't argue with it, In general, I know
that we have an issue with regard to the quality of health care
that's been available to black pecople in Alabama in my
district,
Q2 Do you know who Alabama commemorates in Congress' Statuary
Hall?
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that raised the money to put the status there because I think
Helen Keller was a betfter representative of the state than the
person we had there before.

Q Oh,. you're referring to the Joseph Wheeler statue, or the
one that was replaced by Helen Keller?

A The one replaced by Helen Heller,

Q You didn't take any action in the Leglslature to remove
the Joseph Whesler statue or replace it with something else?

A No. We were kind of focused on Helen Keller whan I was im
the Legislature.

@ Speaking of your time in the Legislature, when did you
serve in the Senate?

A From November of 2002 to May of 2007,

Q During that time, I imagine you went to the Alabama
Capitol pretty often?

A Yasz, sir.

Q2 Did vou often walk by the monument to Confederate soldiers
and sailors that sits in front of the Capitol?

A If I did, I didn't pay any attention to it. I didn't know
that we had one.

Q So you sort pf turned a blind eye te it?

A I was busy doing other things. I wasn't paying attention
toe stuff like that:

Q Were you aware that while you werse there; the memorial was

surrounded by flags of the Confedesrate states?
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Yes. 1It's Helen Keller, and it's -— I forgot his name --
former Qivil War general

Jasaph Wheeler?

Yeah.

And Joseph Wheeler was a calvary general for the

I know he was a general, I don't know if it was calvary

But he was on the Confederate side of the Civil War?

Right. I know a lot more about Helen Keller than I know

Did you ever try to determine how your black constituents

I never asked them, but I think I can guess,

You never reached out to?

Ka.

And what is your guess as to how they would feel about it?

I don't think they weuld like it. That's a decision by

You would agree with me that membsrs of Cengress can use

Some de. I didn't. I didn't think it was appropriate
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. § I don't remember that, elther.
g Is it your contention that that shrine to the Confederacy
does not exist In front of the Capitol?
A Oh, no. I'm not saying they don't. I just never pald any

attantion to them.
[+] So you never tried to determinme whether your black

constituents had a problem with that sitting at the foct of the

Capitol?
A I never had a discussion with any constituent about that.
Q and is your assumption that you described earlier the same

here that you would think that your black constituents probably
did not asppreciate that?
B I1f they even knew about it.
Q Representative, you would agree that the poverty rate
among black Alabamians {2 significantly higher than it is among
white Alabamians?
2 I know it's higher. 1 don't know I zan say it's
significantly higher.
R Am I right that when you testified in Chestnut, you
actually said you didn't know if that was the case, right?
B No. But 1 wouldn't be surprised if it was higher.
Q@ Understood, I will represent teo you that the poverty rate
is more than double ameng black Alabamians than it is white
Alabamians,
What about child poverty rates? Do you know if there's a
Christina R. Decker, RMR, CRR
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disparity there?

A 1 don't., I don't know what the child poverty rate is

Q Would it surprise you if it was nearly triple among hlack
Alabamians than it is white Alabamiansf?

A It would not.

Q Household average incoms, do you knew if that's lewer
among black Alabamians than white Alabamians?

A I don't know, but I would not be surprised if it were.

o] Same with unemployment rate, do you know if it's -- 1f
it's higher than among black Alabamians than white Alabamians?
A I don't know, but I wouldn't be surprised if it were.

[+3 1 will represent to you that it's mors than double among

black Alabamizns than white aAlabamians. Does that surprise

you?

A Yeah, that kind of does surprise me.

Q Okay. Do you have any reason to dispute that?

A Mo, I am just saying -- I don't have the data in front of

me, 50 I am not going te try to guess at the data, but as T
come around and looked at this as an industry down in this part
of the state, there are plenty of black pecple that work in
every industry that we have got down here. B2nd that doesn't
surprise me beczuse 25 parcent of the people that live down
here are black and expected to be in the work force, and they
are,
Q Representative you are a little gquiet now, if you wouldn't
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having these effects that I think hurt everybody in Alabama,
but particularly the people who are not getting that guality
education.

Q So is it your testimony that the disparities that T have
described have no roots in the centuries' long discrimination
that Alabama, the entrenched discrimination in Alabama against
black individuals?

a I don't know that I can say that there's no effect. But
what I'm saying is, is that the single biggest problem, the
thing that's the biggest cause for them is ocur failure to
provide quality education to everybody in the state. We live
in a time when you're geing to be valued by what you know and
what you do with what you know. BAnd if we don't provide
quality education to all of our people, they won't get the
economic value in their lives that they need. If they don't
hawve the economic value in their lives, they can't afford
guality health care and all these other stuff. 8o I continue
te believe today as I did when I ran for state school board in
1994, if you want to address all the other issues, fix the
education system in the state.

Q You agree with me that Alabama had for a very long time a

strictly segregated education system?

A Oh, yes, sir, absolutely. To our great shame, we did
that.
Q Just a few more guestions, Representative,
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Federal Officisl Court Reporter

101 Holmes Avenue, NE
Huntsville, Alabama 35801
256-506-0085/Christinabecker. rmr. crrPacl.com

ITTETET I

T

10:13:41 25

10413717

10135129

10715144

ABr16red

1730
mind speaking up.
A Okay-
a Thank you.
3 I will move a little closer.
Q I will represent to you that one of the Caster plaintiffs’

exXxperts in thils case reported that the black unemployment rate
among -- the black Alabamian unemployment rate is 7.8 percent,
and that for white Alabamians, it's 3,8 percent. So the -- so
he reports that it's more than double among black Alabamians?
A I don't know:

2 S assuming the figures that T discussed thers are true
you would agree that those disparities stem from Alabama's
canturies' long diserimination against black psople in the
state?

2 I think the problems that are facing the black community
with regard te all these issues is a function of the failure of
the state of Alabama to provide a quallty education to them,

a] Does that have -- is that rooted in the discrimination

that Alabama had against black individuoals?

1732

A We. 1t's rooted in the overall fallura to the Alabama
public education system, which -- white people just not as much
as it affects black people. It's the reason T got in public te
begin with is kecause I thought the blggest preblem facing
Alabama was our inability to provide quality sducation to all
of our citizens, and we're =till not doing ensugh. And it's
Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR
Federal offlc Court Reporter
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T You testified on direct about the -- the campalgn ad., To
2| you recall that?
ila Yes.
4l a Your campaign ad.
5 I understand your testimony that that ad wag intended to
6| be primarily about your brother; is that right?
71 & That's correct.
gl10 So regardless of your Intent, do you know how that ad was
9| perceived among your black constituents?
] a I don't know that I sver had & discussion with a black
11 | person about that ad.
120 o You didn't hear any feedback from the hlack community or
13 | the press on this?
14 A Mot that I can recall.
BE N+) You understand, don't you, that images of black people in

16 | a fire could trigger a connection in the minds of some to the
17 | more horrific eras of racial discrimination in Alabama?
18] & Ho.
131 @ You would agree that in Alabama, there is a horrific
20 | history of lynching black Americans?
21| A Yes, sir.,
22|l o And that history included burning black individuals alive?
23| a Wewver heard of that.
4]0 You would also agrae, wouldn't you, that Alabama has had a
history of bombing and burning down houses occupied by black
Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR
Foderal Official Court Reporter
101 Helmes Avanoa, MNE

Huntsvillae, Alabama 35801
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Elabamians?

terrorize black individuals in Alabama?

taday, do you understand how the images included in that ad

Yes, sir. To our great shame.

You would alsoc agree that the KKK used burning crosses to

Yes, sir. To our great shame, they did that.
MR, OSHER: Your Honor, if I can Jjust have a minute.

JUDGE MABCUS: You may.

Just one more guestion, Representative. Sitting here

No.
MR. OSHER: That's all I have. Thank you.

JUDGE MARCUS: All right. Thank you. And who will be

ME. WHATLEY: Your Honor, I am Joe Whatley, I wiil
JUDGE MARCUS: All right. Thank you, Mr. Whatley, and
ME. WHATLEY: Thank yaou,

CROSE-EXAMINATION

Mr, Byrne; it's good to see you again. T have a few

First of all, I, slong with other counsel, I represent the
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correct?
A That's correct:
Q And by putting Covington in instead of Washington and
Monroe; they came -- the Singleton plaintiffs came to districts
that had relatively equal population, correct?
. That's ecorrect, It has some flaws other than that, but,

yes, it does do that.
Q And you would also agree that Covington and Escambia

counties have scme commonalities, correat?

. Yes. But Esgambia County is not the core of the district.
] I'm sorry. I couldn't hear you?
A I'm sorry. Escambia County is not the cere of the

district. &nd the part of Escambia County that is closest to
Covington County, which is Brewton and east Brewton, not really
Atmore; which on the cther end of Escambia County, clearly much

mere to Mobile.

Q And the county ssat in Escambia County?

A Brewton.

g Remind me where that is?

ES It's Brewton.

[u] Okay. In that eastern end of the county that's closer to
Covington?

A That's right.
o Znd not far from Andalusia?
A That's right.
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plan that the Singleton plaintiffe have proposed; Singleton
plan number cne?
A I don't know if it's the Bingleton plan, bBut I have seen a
map that shows whole countiss.
0  Oksy. A&nd are you'sware that that plan keeps Mobile
County whole?
A The map that I saw kept Mobile County whole.
g And you would agree that's a geed thing?
. That's a good thing. H#hat 1 was concerned about was that
it added Andalusia and the county that Andalusia is in and took
away Washington County and Monroe County. I don't think that's
& community of Iintersst betwsen Covington County which is where
Andalusia is and Mobile.
Q Okay. We will etalk about that in & second.
A Ckay.
5] But it also kept Mobile and Baldwin counties together, the
two Gulf counties?
& It did.
Q &nd that was something you viewed to be crucial, correct?
A Yas.
Q Okay. And you know When you are drawing distriects you
have to keep the population -- you have to have an eye on the
population. What you have -- how equal it has to be is5 &
question the judges will decide. But you know that you have to
look to population of counties when you are drawing districts,
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Q Okay.

MR, WHATLEY: Let's pull up Caster Exhibit 12. And geo
down 5o we can see the southern part of that, Suzanne.
BY MR. WHATLEY:
o] This is the eurrent district -— T think you just testified
the district that =-- District 1 is the one you served in this
configuraticon?
A That's correct,
@ Okay, MWow, I will tell you as a preliminary matter bath
Mr, Hare and I grew up in Monroeyille.. And my mother and his
parents still live in Monroeville. 8o let's spend a little bit
of time talking about your testimeny about Monroe County.

Mow, Monroe County -- in Monros County, the economy is

largely or in many respects built around the tree; isn't that

right? You have paper mills, you have the timber business

especially in the northern part of the county. It's —-- that's
a huge part of the county -- sconomy; isn't that right?

A It's a significant part of it, yes.

Q Okay. &nd they don't have ship building in Monros County
for exampla?

A No. But you hawve people from Monrpe County that work in
the shipyards.

Q True, Feople commute, But they don't de it in Monroe
County?

A They don't do it in Monreoe County, no.
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censuses; Monrce County lost a significant part of its
pepulation, didn't it, what, around 15 percent?

A
significant amount of population.
&
has a tourist element to its econcmy, doesn't it?
A
the home of Harper Lee, who you probably kaew.
g
testimony. Were you aware that Truman was the other boy, To

Fill a Mockingbird?

To Kill a Mockingbird?

I don't know to what extent they have been successful.
Q
some extent they have a == the To Kill a Mockingbird play and

attract hundreds -- attrsct thousands of psople into

ind; in fact, betwsen 2010 and 2020, between the two

I don't know the exact percent, but they did lose a

Ckay, And in Monroe County or at least Monroeville also

It does. They try to attract people there because it's

Right. And you brought up Truman Capote in your direct

Yes,

Not Harper Lea's brother obviously, but the other boy in

Tes.

And what you're saying — in Monroeville, sspecially

They're trying to develop more tourism off of that, yes.

Well, you know at least pra-COVID and even last year to

Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR
Federal Official Court Reporter
101 Holmes Awenus, NE
Buntsville, Alabama 35801
256-506-0085/Christinalecker, cmr, orrilacl . som

Case 2:21-cv-01530-AMM  Document 105-6  Filed OL/18/22 Page 95 of 283
1733

@ You don't know that.

Do you know that both its population and its economy have
a lot of similarities to the rest ‘of the Black Belt, correct?
A I don't think I weuld agrees with that., It has some
interesting unigue industries there, You mentioned tourism, in
terms of the Mockinabird, but also there's a plant there that
does pre-manufactured concrete walls, It's ancther plant there
that makes the cardboard containers that are used to package
various goods including some of the craft beer that are made in
Mobile. So I don't know other counties in the Black Belt that

have those sort of meore advanced industries.

Q Yes, sir. I'm sorry: Did I cut you off?
A Wo, T finished.
Q Okay. You were talking about the precast concrete, You

were talking about Gate or Gate-Lazenby?

& Yes.

Q Okay. What I was really focused en is more the part of
the county north of Monroeville?

A Ckay.

Q And Gate-lazenby -- I don't mean te make this personal,
but I worked my way through college working there. But north
of Gate-Lazenby is also south of Monroewville, right?

A Yes,

Q Qkay. And north of --

A But in Monroe County.
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Monroeville to see the Mockingbind play?
E Yes, thay do. In fact, I've seen it three cr four times
and got te be on the jury ons time.
Q Okay. And that -- especially in the spring is a big part
of the ecenomy?
A In the spring, T would think it would be, yeah.
Q Okay. And you mentioned that you attended a town hall
meeting in Beattrice, right?
a Yeah, Yeah.

MR. WHATLEY: And, Suzanne, can you make the District
1 larger?

BY MR. WHATLEY:

Q Is kind of in the northeastern corner of Monroe County?
Y I don't know -- yeah, I guessz that's northeastern
Q &nd one of the things that's important in Beatrice's

economy is hunting camps. You mentioned you were at you a
hunting camp, at your hunting camp, but hunting camps are big
up there, right?
A Yes.
4] Okay. aAnd I think you sald the northern part of Monros
County is a predominately black area, right?
A Yes.
o And, in fact, especially the northern half of Monroe
County 18 considered to be part of the Black Belt, right?
A I den't know that.
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Q North of Monrovia, in the northern part of the county,
that iz the area where wouldn't you agree with me at least the
population is wery similar to what you found in the Black Belt?
A I would think in very north Monroe County, it would be
very similar to say Wilcox County.

@ Right. &and you talked about the education. The high

school in Beatrice is J. F. Shields, right?

B I don't know the name of it.

o But you know there ig a high school in -—-

B That's right. T think I bhave been there.

o] Yes, sir. And it ls an all-black school?

B I know it's predominantly black, I don't kmow if it's all
black.

Q And the white children around Beatrice go to the all-white

private school, Monroe Academy down in Monrosville, don't they?

A I don't know that.

Q ¥You don't know that?

A Ha.

Q Well, you mentioned that there were some white folks at
your town hall mesting in Beatrice. Do you know where their
children go te school?

A I didn't ask where they children went to school. People
in the town hall meeting wers mainly older.

Q Okay. You do know that there is an all-white private
academy in Monroe County where many of the white students go te
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1| school? ile Okay: And my cousins in Whatlsy, Alabama, six miles to
20 & I know that there's a private academy. I don't know the 2| the esast in the same county, would have been represented by
3| racial mix of it. I don't think I hawveé ever been to that 1| Congresswoman Sewsll?
4| school. 41 A I think that's right, yes.
w2l 5 @ Okay. Now, let's go over to Clarke County, Lf we could. ti:zsios 51 Q Ckay. &And I want to be ciear. This guestion is not meant
& You represented -- and, again, I have relatives there, so & | te disparage sither you or Congrasswoman Sewell, You would
7] I am going to focus on some issues. You are represented the 7| agres, I think you already have, that she is an cutstanding
8| part of Clarke County that includes Grove HiI1% B | congresswoman?
ala Part of Grove Little, not all of Grove Hill. L) .8 She 1= an outstanding congresswoman,
tea2eroe 10 | O and you represented the part that goes out on Highway 84, torzeae 1O | @ But wouldn't you agree, sir, and I think this has bean
11 | the reoad that goes sort of east and west to there; that's 11 | your testimony, that if you had combined Clarke County, that my
12 | Highway B4, right? 12 | cousins in Whatley and my cousins in Grove Hill would have been
i3] a Yeah. 13 | better represented regardless of whether it was you or her?
B e And are you aware that there's a town of Whatley about 14 & By having just one congressman?
10:2012315 | iz miles east of Grove Hill? w15 | Q Yes?
6] A I am aware of it. 16 A Yeah. I think that's what I have been saying in previous
17 | @ On Highway B47% 17 | testimony. I think it's better for a county td have one
18l a Yes, 18 | congressman and not to be split up. But what Congresswoman
190 Okay. And so as an example, my cousins in Grove Hill or 19 | Sewell and I did was from the very beginning we said we will
10:28042 20 | nerth of Highway 84 in Grove Hill would hawve been represented wi30:0520 | work together, and we did., We worked together wery well. We
21 | by vou, right? 21 | usad to do joint town halls together for example. Thomasville
221 A Depending upon exactly where they liwve, probably so. But 22 | wae not in my district, but the mayor of Thomasville would come
23| 1£ they were northeast, they wouldn't be representsed by me. 23 | and see me every time he was in Washingrton. He is a personal
24 | 2 And if they were northwest, they wculd ba? 24| friend, and if Congresswoman Sewsll needed help from
10:28:57 25 | A They would be. w225 | Thomasville, she got it from me 100 ysars ago percent of the
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1| cime. That's just the way we worked things out. ifa Yeoah.
2] ¢ But despite that fact, your testimony is that it would be 2] a Okay.
3| better off to keep counties together? 3| a You start splitting counties like that, and that county
40 a Yas. That's my position. 4] losea lts influence. That's why I don't want Mobile County to
w33 5 Q And vou believe that it would be better to keep Tuscaloosa mianess 5 | be split.
6] so it's not split, for example? 6l e And —-
7 A Yes, 7 MR, DAVIS: Give me one second., Sorry to interrupt,
gla And the same for other countiss in Alabama that are split, 8| Mr. Whatley, Judge, I just want to check on Mr. Byrne. We
9| such a=s Montgomary? 9| have been going about twoe hours.
10:30:46 10 | A Yes. Now, I understand that when you're trying to balance 1432010 JUDGE MARCUS: We have been going a long time.
11 | out population, sometimes you can't make that happen. But to 11 Let me ask you, Mz, Whatley: How much lenger you have
12 | the maximum extent possible, counties should be kept whole and 12 | with Mr. Byrne. Perhaps this would be a convenlent time for a
13 | contiguous in cengressional districts. 13 | shert break.
4] o And you were asked specifically about the -- ahout 14 MR. WHATLEY: It's fine for me to take a short bresk,

Your Honor.

1:31:001% | Montgomery not having a Congress person. Do you recall that?

6| A I don't remember the guestion just put that way, no. 16 JUDGE MARCUS: All right. We will take & break for
17| ¢ In any event, Montgomery currently does not have a member 17 | 15 minutes, and then we will pick up the balance of your
18 | of Congress living there, correct? 18 | examination.
19 A No one that lives there, yes, that's cerrect, 19 Question, though, Mr. Whatley: How much longer do you
woeaiize 20 | Q Yes. I'm sorry, I wasn't clear with my question, 10:32:32 20 | think you have with Mr. Hyrne?
21l A They had Martha Roby previously, and now their present £1 MR. WHATLEY: 1T would guess about 10 or 15 minutes.
22 | membear 1a from Coffee County, 22 | Perhaps the hreak will make it shorter.
23| ¢ And was it your testimeny that by splitting or splitting 23 JUDGE MARCUS: I'm sorry. I didn't mean to cut you
24 | any county you might make it less likely that a congressperson 24 | aff.
19134025 | reside there? 1015204025 MR, WHATLEY: I said perhaps the break will make it
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shorter and more organized:

JUDEE MARCHS: ALl right, We will break for
15 minutes and then pick up the thread of the cross by
Mr. Whatley and any redirect by Mr. Davis.

Thank you. We will ip @ I5-minute recess.

({Recess. )

JUDGE MARCUS: Mr, Whatley, are you ready to proceed
&t this point?

MR, WHATLEY: Yes, sir.

JUDGE MARCUS: Mr. Byrne, you all set to go forward?

THE WITMESS: Yes, sir, I am,

JUDGE MARCUS: Thank you very much. Mr. Whatley, you
may cemplete your cross.

MAR. WHATLEY: Thank you, Your Honor.

Bugzanne, will you put back up for just a minute the 2011
plan? I think it's Caster Exhibit 12, Your Honor.

JUDGE MARCUS: Just so I'm clegr, Mr. Whatley, this is
the plan that actually was snacted by the state Legislature in
2011, correct?

MR, WHATLEY: <Yes, sir., Yes, sir, Your Honor. &nd
just to put it in context, Mr. Byrne, it's the plan that
existed when you served in Congress, correct?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.

BY MR, WHATLEY:

Q Ckay. I want to focus back on Clarke County for just one
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A ¥Yes. I think that the four metro areas in the state, plus
Dothan, Tuscalososa, Auburn, all those areas need to have sort
of at the center of their communitcy adeguately represented in
the United States Congress.
Qo Z0 there ought to be in separate -- and to be clear, there
ought to be separate congressional districts or Huntsville,
Mobile, Montgomery, and Birmingham should each be located in a
geparate cangressional district from each other?
& Yes.
Q Dkay. B&And going to Congressman Palmer, I think there was
some questioning about Congressman Palmer sarlier maybe by both
counsel. Ien't it correct that Congressman Falmer currently
lives in Shelby County?
A To be honest with you, T don't know exactly where he
lives. He either lives in the scuthern part of Jefferson
County or in Shelby County. I don't know.
@ Were you ‘aware that at one point he did live in Jefferson
County and he moved to Shelby County?
A I am not aware of that.
a You are not aware of that. oOkay.

MR, WHATLEY: “Your Honors, I think that's all 1 have.

JUDGE MARCUS: Thank you. Redirect, Mr. Davis?

ME. DAVIS: Yes, Your Honor, briefly.

REGIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. DAVIS:
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e

second.

2 And I don't think I asked you ‘about the sconomy of Clarke
3| county: In Clarke County, a big part of the county dlso

4 | focuses on the tree, corract?

145452 5| A Tes.
] e And 20 a paper mill and lumber mill in Jackson?
Tl A Yes,
Bl e In the southern part of the county, correct?
Gl A That's gorrect,
1rsnas 1 | @ And there is a paper mill == I don't know if you can see
11| it — 4t's in the edge of Wilcox County and Pine Hill, npt far
12 | from Thomasville that you menticned, correct?
13| A Yes. Yas.
140 < And so they make paper, and they produce lumber in Clarke

wise:za 15 | County, and they don't make ships, correct?

6| A They don't make ships in Clarke County.
171 ¢ But they do make paper, and they do produce timber?
BE: N -0 That's ecorrect.
13| a Ckay. We can take that dawn.
1ns50=38 20 Mr, Byrne, I think in your -- you have clearly said before
21| -- T don't remember if it was in vour testimeny in the previous

22 | cage, or In your deposition, that you think it's Important that

23 | =ach of the urban or Metropolitan -- or each of the cities in

24 | Alabama have its own congressional district or be in a separate

1ya1:1225 | congressional district?
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Q Mr, Byrne, did you turn down any meeting requests from the
Alabama NAACE?

A Ko,

o Would you have been happy to meet with them had they asked
for & meeting?

A Absolutely, I meet with just about everybody.

g We talked abeut the thizd districts -- and the Third
District and the Fourth Congressicral Distrlet when you were
gpeaking with Mr. Osher. ©Ud you consider the areds enconpassed
in Alsbama's

community of intersst?

Third Congressional District to be part of a

B T da. That's east Alabama, and it got a common set of
industries and things that they're lnterested in, and they
largely lock to Auburn as their university.

Q What about the Fourth Congressional Bistrict, dooyou
consider-thoge areas to be part of a community of interest?

A They are. We have similar industry in 8ll those areas all

tied to the autcmobile industry, for example, And they have

very similar -- when you go from one of those towns to
next, walking from the east sida of the state to the west, the
towns are very similar to one another,
=] Do you consider the more urban parts of Mobile County te
be part of the same community of intersst with Montgomery,
Macon, and Barbour countias?
A I have been up and down those other places. They just
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don't have a connection to Mobile or so.

[~ And what about the more roral parts of Moblle County? 3Ara
they part of a community of interest with' the Wiregrass in
Dothan?

A o, they are not,

Q When you are considering --

iy Let me 'give an example there. ©Dne &f the mips T s&w of
Covington County in the First Congresalonal District, tharae's
really no econnection between Covington County snd the main
intersst that you can see in the First Congresslonal Olstcide,
S0 T don't see that it makes any sense to put a Wiregrass
county like Covington in with a district that's primarily
centered with Mobile and Baldwin County. It's hard to get o
Andalusia from Mobile, very hard. And so as the result, very
few people go back and forth between Andalusia and Mobile.

Q Which districts would allow a Congr GE-'Congr

to mors effectively represent the coftstituents of Pistrict 1,
whether they're black, whether they're white, Republican,
bDamecrat, rich or poor? Weuld that be the districts ss passed
in Alsbama's plan, or the districts that plalntiffs are
proposing that we viewed s little while ago?

A  The Legislature plan by far., BAnd as T ssid before, I
tedtified before that committee, and I listened to other people
talk while T was there. A&nd the Legislature effectively did

what we wers asked to do, which was to keep cur part of the
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have the very sams detrimental effect on those candidates and
on those congressmen, sittling congressmen if all of a sudden
these things sre moved around soms more.

And the second thing I would say is, T'we tried to say a
little bit earlier, Covington County doeso't fit with the First
Congressional District. They're wonderful pescple over there.
I have good friends, 1 wWorked with a I&t of them when we wWere
replacing the president of the community college. But I don't
think they would wane to'be in a district with Mobile because
they look to Dothan. fThey look to the Wiregrass.

So that map that has Covington County with Mobile, that
just doesn't fit. And I think the way the Leglslature has
drawn the First Congressional District makes ail the sense in
the world, glven the needs that they have to try to take a few
areas away from that district presently because of the growth
in Baldwin Cpunty. I think they did the best they could
possibly do,

MR, DAVIS: Thank you, Your Honor.

M5. WELBOHNt I'm sorry. We just objected to that
last Iine of questioning and move to strike it as beyond the
scops of Mr. Byrne's direct, Asking, you know, anything else
he wanted to add wag not in Mr, Byrne's dirsct examinstion.

JUDGE MARCDS: It would have been wizer to object
before the gquestion was asked, but while the question I think
did go beyond, the answer, I think bors upen the stuff that
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state together.

Q Uh=huh. And would your abllity as a Congressman to
represent your constituents, would it be negatively impacted if
your district changed at the last minute to & vastly different
structure, including different areas of the ‘state?

A Wery definitely so; yes.

Q We talked about a lot lssues, Mr, Byrne. Is there
anything else you would like to bring te the Court's attentien
a3 they consider these various plans?

A Yes, sir. I would want ta say thls, 1 have great respect
for the Court and this proceeding, and I know the Court's got
some difficult declsion# to make. But we're pretty far along
into this campaign cycle. And I have seen what it does ta
congressmen in other states when at the lsst minute, courts
start moving things arcund. And I think it hurts the
effectivensss of congressmen when that happena. I am not
saying the Court may not have a good reason to do it.

But as I said earlier, we are just a few months away from
primaries. &nd it would be very difficult to start shifting
this thing arcund, It was hard encugh as it was when the
Legislature pass these districts. People held back and held
back and held back. And now, they're right in the meat of
these campaigns, And I just think it would be terrible if we
change course on all these candidates running for these various
offices, Democrat, Republican, doesn't matter. It's going to
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cama up in cross, So the objection 1s overruled, and we will
not strike that portion of the testimeony. But thank you.

Any other guestions, Mr. Bavis, that you have for
Mr. Byrne?

MR, DAVIS: WNa, Your Honor. That completes redirect.

JUDGE MARCUS: Any other questions any of the lawyers
have for Mr. Byrne?

All right, Judgs Moorer, Judge Manasce, did either of you
have a gquestion for Mr. Byrne?

JUDGE MANASCO: None from me.

JUDGE MOORER: No, sir.

JUDGE MARCUS: Mr. Byrne, I have gat a question for
you. Perhaps you can help me with this,

©n your direct examinatien by Mr. Davis, you were asked
about the 2021 map that the Legislature adopted for the State
Board of Education.

THE WITNESS: Right.

JUDGE MARCUS: And it was ocbserved that -- wvou
observed that you testified, if I heard you right, with regard
to that and urged the Legislature not to split Mobile County.
Did I have that right?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir, that's what I said,

JUDGE, MARCUS: And then the testimony came out that,
in fact, the Legislature in 2021 split Mobile County in the
maps that Lt draw for the board of education, and it

Christina K, Decker, RMR, CRR
Federsl 0fficial Courc Reporter
1201 Holmes Avenus, NE

Huntsville, Alpbama 35801
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w5847 5

8

9

tiroos0a 10
11

12

bz

14
11400:25 15
16

17

18

18
11100108 20
21

22

23

24

11:00488 25

casn 21005 GRS @RrR1ey-0129T-ANMM :Document 167-4  Fileer08/08/23c-Page 28:0f 28 e 1oz

specifically split Mobile County hetween Ristriects 1 and 5.
This is the board of ed map I am talking about. Do you recall
all of that discussion?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir, I do.

JUDGE MARCUS: I just have one question, if you know
the answer. I was curicus, do you know why the Legislature
dactually split Mobile County batween Districts 1 and 5 when
they drew the boasrd of education maps?

THE WITMESS: Yes, sir, They actually did this in
2011. The other distriect -- District 1 is the one down here.
District 5 I guess is the other one. That district lost a lot
of population, and they had to pick it up somewhere. B&End they
belieyved that the best way to pick it up was te go south into
Maobile County.

%o while I was sympathetic to the fact the Legisiature had
to make some significant changes to that district, T didn't
like the fact that they were splitting Mobile County because of
the fact the Mobkile County school system is so big and has so
many issues as any big school systems does.

I would 1like to see a school board member that's focused
on that primarily as their job.

JUDGE MARCUS: Thank you much,

Any follow-up questions from any of the lawyers based on
the guestion that I had asked Mr. Byrne? Mr. Davisz?

MR, DAVIS: No, Your Honor.
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JUDGE MARCOS: Mr. Whatley?

MR, WHATLEY: WNo; Your Honor.

JUDGE MARCUS: Mr. Gsher? Counsal for --

MS. WELBORN: No, Your-Honor.

JUDGE MARCOS: -~ for #illigan?

B11 right. We thank you very much for your time and
efforts this morning, Mr. Byrne, and you are excused.

THE WITHNES3: Thank you, Your Henor.

JUDGE MARCUS: Does that close the presentation of
evidence for the state?

MR, DAVIS: It does, Your Honor.

JUDGE MARCUS: And that would be for both the
Secretary of State as the party defendant and for the
intervening defendants MeClendon and Pringle; correct?

MR. DAVIS: That's right, Judge.

JUDGE MARCUS: Okay. Did -- before we get to
exhibits, which I wanted te talk about before we went on to
closing arguments, was there anything by way of rebuttal sither
from the Milligan plaintiffs, the Caster plaintiffs, or the
Singleton plaintiffa?

ME. BLACKSHER: Singleton plaintiffs, no, Your Honor,

JUDGE MARCUS: Thapk you., Milligan?

MR. ROSS: MNo, Your Henor.

JUDGE MARCUS: And for Caster, Ms. Khanna?

M5, KHANMA: No, Your Honor.

Christina K, Decker, RMR, CRR
Fadaral Official Court Reporcer

101 Holmes Avenus, HNE
» Alshama 35801
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1 APPEARANCES : roxoxo® X oF A
5 Continued 2 STIPULATIONS
( ontinue ) 3 It is hereby stipulated and agreed by
3 and between counsel representing the parties
. 4 that the videotaped deposition of JOSIAH
4 . ped depo
Representing the Defendant: BONNER is taken pursuant to the Rules of Civil
5 Mr, Dorman Walker 5 Procedure, and that said deposition may be
6 : taken before Bethany Whaley, Certified Court
7 Balch & Blngham 6 Reportet, as Commissioner, without the
105 Tallapoosa Street formality of a commission,; that objections to
8 Suite 200 7 questions, other than objections as to the
9 form of the questions, need not be made at
Montgomery, Alabama 36104 8 this time, but may be reserved for a ruling at
10 3342693138 such time as the deposition may be offered
N > ;
11 into evidence, or used for any other purpose
dwalker@baICh-com by cither party hereto, provided by the
12 10 Statute.
13 11 It is further stipulated and agreed
by and between counsel representing the
14 Also Present: 12 parties in this case, that the filing of the
15 . (] i3
16 Erika McKay, Governor's office 14 deposition of JOSIAH BONNER is hereby waived,
Bryan Taylor, Governor's office and that said deposition may be introduced at
17 Skip Warren, videographer 15 the trial of this case or used in any other
18 P i grap manner by either party hereto provided for by
i6 the Statute, regardless of the waiving of the
19 17 filing of same.
20 18 It is further stipulated and
19 agreed by and between counsel and the witness
21 20 that the reading and signing of the deposition
22 21 by the witness is waived,
*
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L THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The marks the 1 A, My nxae is Josiah Robins Bouner,
2 beginning of MPEG one, volume one in the 2 .
3 videotape deposition of Josiah Bonner. We are 3 Q. And what is your address?
4 on the record. Today is Tuesday, July 30th, 4 A. 1163 Wellesley, W-E-L-L-E-S§-L-E-Y,
5 2019, and the time is 9:01 a.m. 3 Green, Tuscaloosa, Alabama 35406, but [ am in
6 My name is Skip Warren. 'm the § the process of moving. And so my new address
1 videographer. The court reporter is Bethany 7 is 7216 Sibley, S-I-B-L-E-Y, Montrose,
8 Whaley., We're at the offices of the Alabama 8 Alabama, M-O-N-T-R-0-8-E, 36559. And that
¢ Attorney General in Montgomery, Alabama. The 9 will be effective September 1st.
1c matter is Chestnut, et al. versus Mermill, 10 Q. And have you ever been deposed
1 et al. The Civil Action Number is 11 before, sir?
12 218-CV-907-KOB. 12 A. [ was asked that question, and |
13 Would counsel and all present 13 was not able to give a definitive answer. So
14 please introduce themselves after which the 14 1 don't believe I have, but [ have
15 court reporter will swear in the witness? 15 participated in depositions when [ was in
18 MS. MADDURI: Lalitha Madduri for 16 Congress.
17 the plaintiffs. 17 Q.  In what capacity did you
18 MR. DAVIS: Jim Davis for 18 participate?
18 Secretary of State John Merrill. 1e A. I'was chairman and then ranking
20 MS. HOWELL: Laura Howell for 20 member of the House Ethics Committee, So we
21 Secretary of State Merrill. 21 deposed witnesses when we were doing
22 MR. WALKER: Dorman Walker for 22 investigations. | have beencalledasa
Page 6 Page B
t Secretary of State John Merrill. 1 witness -- or [ was told I would be called as
2 MS. MCKAY: Erica McKay, 2 a witness in civil disputes, child custody
3 Govemor's Legal Office. 3 cases and all, but I never actually testified.
1 MR. TAYLOR: Bryan Taylor -- Bryan 4 Q. Okay. So you've never testified
5 with a Y -- Govemor's Legal Office. 5 in a court of law or any other —
6 JOSIAH BONNER, B A, Not that I'm aware of.
T being first duly swom, was examined and 7 Q. SoTI'll just go over a couple
8 testified as follows: 8 ground rules then,
9 gl A Okay.
10 EXAMINATION BY MS. MADDURI: 10 Q. So we're going to try to make a
1 Q. Good morning -- 1 clear record, and for the sake of the court
12 A, Good morming. 12 reporter, ['ll ask you questions, and I just
13 Q. --Mr. Bonner. Thank you for 13 ask that you wait until I'm finished asking
14 being here. 14 the question before you respond, and I will
15 A.  Thank you. 15 similarly try not to speak over you to make
1g Q. Like I said, I think we'll wrap up 16 her job a little bit easier.
17 in about ten minutes, but we do appreciate 17 And it's also important just to
18 your time and taking the morning cut for us, 18 give audible answers, either yes or no, as
t9 $0 thank you. 19 opposed to shaking your head or nodding your
20 A, It's my pleasure. Absolutely. 20 head or saying uh-huh or um-hmm just because
21 Q. Can you please state your full ) it's hard to understand what that means when
22 name for the record? 22 it's on paper. Does that all make sense?
Page 7 Page 9
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7/30/2019 Chestnut, et al., v. John H. Merrill Josiah Bonner
2 A.  Yes, ma'am. L the phone call or exactly who called me.
2 Q. And if you don't understand a e I believe it was the -- the chief
= question that I ask, please just let me know, 3 counsel, Mr. Taylor, who called just to make
4 and I'll ry to clarify. . me aware of this, but [ wouldn't want to swear
< A, Okay. 5 under oath about that because it could have
6 Q. If you don't tell me that you 6 been someone else. But it was someone in
C don't understand - 7 that -- in that legal office.
8 A.  (Witness nods head.) 8 Q. Okay. And what did they tell you
9 Q. - I'll assume that you have e about the case?
1c understood. Does that make sense? 10 MR. DAVIS: I would object to that
1 A. It makes sense. e on grounds of privilege. Mr. Taylor and the
ge Q. Okay. And if you need a break at 12 Attomey General's office represent
13 any time, just please let me know. & Mr. Bonner. So don't go into details about
e A.  (Witness nods head.) Okay. 14 what the legal office has told you about the
15 Q. Ijust only ask that if therc's a e case.
g question pending we just finish that question 16 Q. (By Ms. Madduri) What is your
17 before we take the break. 17 general understanding of the case?
e A.  That sounds fair. 18 A. Well, my general understanding is,
19 Q. Okay. Isthere any reason today 19 is that there was a challenge to the current
20 that you can't give your full and honest 20 district lines and that the judge determined
A testimony? 2 that there was not enough time to order -- to
22 A, No, ma'am. e rule on that and to order new district lines
Page 10 Page 12
1 Q. Any medication or anything like 1 and that that matter would be set aside.
e that? 2 And that - the remaining question
3 A No, ma'am. 3 was whether or not the plaintiffs' contention
g Q. Okay. Great. So how did -- how 4 that there be two minority districts would be
5 did you learn about this case? 5 heard at a later time,
§ A.  Iwastold, I believe, by a member e Q. And I'm not asking you for any
7 of our legal staff that there was a case and B privileged information here, but who else have
8 that the Secretary of State’s office and the e you spoken with about the case other than the
9 Attorney General's office and the plaintiffs 8 lawyers that —
10 may all have some interest in talking with me gt A. Nooneelse.
e given that | had worked on Capitol Hill for 11 Q. Were you provided with any
12 18 years and then served in Congress for six 12 documents or records regarding the case?
L terms. 13 A.  I--Twas--1met with one of
14 Q. Okay. And do you remember when 14 the attorneys in the Govemor's office who
15 you learned about the case? 15 advised that I did not need to read any
16 A. It would have been within the last 16 documents or ask for any documents to prepare
ke six months. I've been with Governor ivey for i for this. And therefore, I did not ask for
o seven and a half months. ['ve been her Chiel 18 any documents, and I did not read any
1e of Staff since January 15th, and so it was 19 documents.
20 after | moved into the Chief of Staff's 20 Q. How did you prepare for today's
21 office, but I don't keep a daily calendar -- 1 21 deposition, if you did?
22 e A. 1gotup, put on a nice suit, and

keep a daily calendar, but I -- I don't recall

Page 11

Page 13
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Chestuit, et al., v. Jofm H. Merrill

Jusiah Bonner

LI - I * - VU A =

I -- 1 really came prepared to discuss my
experiences of having worked on Capitol Hill
in the federal delegation, Alabama
Congressional Delegation for about 28 yeaxs.

Q. Understood. So we can dig into
that. Sa you were the congressionat
representative for Alabama's Ist district —

A.  Yes, ma'am,

Q. --starting i 2003; is that

= oW~

L & s W

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

A Well, at the time { grew up in
Camden, which is no tonger in the district.
It's in Congresswoman Sewell's district, in
the 7th district. But the -- the districts in
Alabama have changed over the last 40 to
5{ years based on the population changes.

The Black Belt of Alabama, which
is predominantly the 7th congressional
district, has lost population, and therefore
they've had to go into Jefferson County which
is the mest populated covnty in the state and
some even into Montgomery County as well just
to find enough people.

The county 1 grew up in had
probably 14,000 people in it when 1 was a
child, and it probably has 14,000 people ir i
today if you're lucky. But I grew up in the
northem part of the district. But then in
1984, I moved to help my predecessor Sonny
Callahan get elected to Congress. T was his
campaipn press secretary, and then after e
was suecessfil with his election, he asked me

Fage 16

10 right?

HEL A.  Yes, ma'am,

iz Q. Okay. Uatil 26137

13 A. Yes, ma'am.

14 Q. Can you just describe for me yowr

15 district generally?

il A. [tisa--it's a very special

t part of Alabama. 1f you -- every member of

o cengress would think their district is the

L most special, but ours is unique in the sense

20 that it's the only ecastal district. So we

21 have meuntains in north Alabama, and in south

22 Alabhama, we have beautifol Gulf Coast beaches.

Page 14

1 So Mobile and Baldwin Countics ane
2 the two largest counties in the district,
3 They anchor, and they have for the last 40 to
1 50 years, the contiguous counties surroundimg
5 it. There's a lot of continuity in that
& district in terms of its economy, in terms of
7 its history, and in terms of its -- its DNA.
8 A lot of it revolves around the water, around
3 the river system.

10 And when I was elected in 2002, 1

o became the fifth member of Congress to

12 represent that district since -- in - in

13 90 years. So there's not been a lot of

14 turnover. I worked for my immediate

15 predecessor. I was his press secretary and

16 then later his Chief of Staff.

17 And | actually interned for his

18 predecessor when I was in college. So it's my

19 home, and as a result, I know that area of the

20 state fairly well.

21 Q. Which part of the district did you

22

grow up in?

Page 15
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to go te Washington with him.

Q. Can you describe -- you talked 2
fittle bit about geography, a little bit about
other aspects of the district. Can you talk a
little bit about the demographics of your
district when you represented it?

A. So Mobile is the largest city in
the district, and it's the port of Alabama.

So we have one of the largest intrastate water
systems in the nation. The Mobile Delta is
the second largest body of -- of water of its
kind in the nation. Second only to the
Florida Everglades.

So the district's livelihood feeds
off of the bay and of the delta and of the
river system. As a port city, we have a ot
of cargo that comes in and out of Mobile every
day. And a lot of that cargo that goes out
come from the surrounding areas.

it comes from the timber-producing
companies in Clarke County and in Moaroe
County and in Escambia County. [t comes fromg

Page 17
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the poultry-producing counties. I mean, it's
a state port. It's, I think, the 13th largest
in the natton,

But in some areas like in -- in
timber, we're the largest. In coal, we've
been number one or two in the nation. So the
district's compaciness has been largely
because the legislature and the federal
courts, when the legislature couldn't agree on
a legislative plan, recognized that there was
a cammunity of interest in the 1st
congressional district that was unique.

And that community of interest, it
involves banking, it involves education, it
involves health care, If you're in
Monroeville, Alabama and you're -- you've been
diagnosed with an illness that needs a
specialty hospital, you go to Mobile.

If you are in -- working along
highway -- U.S. Highway 43, which runs from
Mabile all the way up to Thomasville, working
at one of the chemical companies that have

Page 18
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in Mobile and Baldwin Counties. It's just --
it's one of the oldest parts of the country
quite frankly. And -- and that area's
political geography matches well with its
economic and social geography as well.

Q. Ithink you talked a little bit
about the economic part of that. Can you talk
a little bit about the political part that you
just mentioned, the political --

A.  Well, as I say, Congressman Frank
Boykin was -- John McDuffie was elected in the
19 teens. He became a federal judge when he
left Congress. Frank Boykin was in for
28 years. He was the last Democrat member
elected. Jack Edwards was elected in 1964,
served for 20 years. Sonny Callahan was
elected in 1984, served for 18 years.

And then when [ was elected in
2002, 1served -- I did not complete my term,
but I was elected to my sixth term and later
resigned. But the -- the district has, since
1964, elected Republican members of Congress,

Page 20
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located there or a steel mill that's located
there, il's very likely that you live
somewhere in Mobile or Baldwin Counties
because Washington County is not a very
pepulated county. They couldn't supply all
the workers for those industrial needs.

So the -- the district truly is a
cohesive area that has been that way since
the -- the early 1960s in the -- in the --
when we had eight members of Congress, Mobile
and Baldwin Counties were separated. Bat
after that time, the -- the leadership of
Alabama legislature and the Courts recognize
that it was impossible to separate Mobile and
Baldwin Counties because they were connected
by the bay and they truly -- they have
something in common that very few other parts
of the state have.

This year is Alabama's 200th year
as a state, but Mobile was founded in 1702,
Alabama was -- became a state in 1819, So
even the oak trees talk a different language

Page 19
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but we have had a diverse political history
throughout the district as well. Fer
instance, Mabile elected an African-American
mayor, Sam Jones, when it was still a majority
white city.

Unlike other cities in Alabama and
in the deep south, Mobile avoided some of the
racial -- racially charged issues that
Birmingham, Selma, and Montgomery had. We had
a mayor, long before I lived there, that
worked hard to make sure that Mobile avoided
that.

And Mobile being a port city has
so much more international influence than,
quite frankly, some of the other citics as
well. Plus, we're a much older city than
Birmingham, for instance.

Q. Okay. Soyou mentioned sort of

the unique economic features and political
features. And I think you also said social
features, Can you falk a little bit about
those?

Page 21
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1 A.  We're not bragging, but we're the 1 tot of people m that part of the state
2 mother of Mardi Gras. So most Americans think 2 together.
3 of Mardi Gras, they think of New Orleans, bt 3 Q. Solthink we're getting there
4 they would be mistaken because it started in 1 already, but I think you're describing some
5 Mobile. And it is spread throughout our area s communities of interest that exist in your
8 of the state, Fairhope, Gulf Sheres, Orange 6 district, Can you just in your own words teil
X Beach, Dauphin Istand, il me what & community of interest means?
8 It -- it is a part of the 8 A, Well, I think a community of
9 religious life of the district because it's 9 interest is an area that complements each
10 actually connected to the Catholic church, bet 10 other, that -~ that supports each other, that
11 it's also something that -- other cities today 11 connects to each other, and it does it im
12 might start a Mardi Gras society, but none L business and commerce. It does this in
13 have some as old as 150, 160 years of age. So 13 education. Tt does it in law.
14 it -- it is something that people in south 14 I mean, the attorneys in the small
15 Alabama take part in throughout our district. L towns around Mobile practice law at the
16 It's not uncommon during the 15 federal courthouse in -- in Mobile. They
17 season for there to be 150 to 350,000 people L wouldn't go to the Middle District or to the
ig that have come in from all the surrounding 18 Northern District, with rare exception.
19 towns. And some rent motel rooms and some 2 And then certainly that community
20 bring their R Vs, but it's a family 20 of interest has a political overtone as well.
21 celebration. 2L When you are fortunate io be elected to
2z . Is that in Mebik? 22 represent your district in Congress, you thea
Page 22 Page 24
i A ltis. 1 quickly realize that you have aa obligation to
2 Q  Itis? 2 serve the people in that district.
3 A. That's where it origimated, but 3 And so compactness, ease of
4 it's also in Fairhope, and it's in all of the 4 travel, going from one end of the district to
s other veteran communities as well, But it's 5 the other, either north, south, east, or west
6 also -- | woulid -- I would expand the social 6 is important, how you locate your distriet
i beyond just a celebration. Mardi Gras, too, & offices,
8 connects heavily to Mother Nature, We have 8 Every congressional office has a
2 sailing. We have fishing on the rivers, in ¢ budget that's roughly the same amount. There
10 the gulf, in the bay. 10 is a slight adjustment for a major
11 Hunting is a popular spert. It's 1 metropolitan area litke New York City or Los
12 a very social sport. 1t's a big -- big iz Angeles or Dallas. But you have basically a
13 economic driver too. And so -- so, you kiow, 13 million dollars -- it may be a little bit more
L many instances you choose to live close to = than that now -- to pay your staff, to rent
1s where you work or close to where the schools o your office, to provide services to your
16 are that you want your children to go to, but 2e constituents.
17 a lot of people choase to live in south 1 And so that -~ that community of
18 Alabama because of the plethora of 18 interest and that compactness is helpful to
i opportunities they've got to socialize, to 19 you to be a better representative, to make
20 enjoy nature, and to enjoy getting out of the 20 sure that you can do town hall meetings, that
il woods and getting in the water. And -- and 21 ¥0u can go to your constituents and that they
22 #'s - it's a commnon thread that conneets a 2z don't have the burden of coming te Washington

Page 23
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s to see you, L 25 different countries that live in that part

2 Q. Ithink very helpfully Alabama's 2 of south Mobile County. A smaller population,

3 legislature has created a -- a definition sort 3 but nonetheless a diverse population, lives in

4 of for communities of interest, and I think 1 the fishing village of Bon Secour, which is

= we've talked -- you know, it's pretty broad. 2 over in Baldwin County, near Gulf Shores and

6 And I can -- | can read it to you. 6 Orange Beach.

7 It's from the legislature's 7 So, for instance, when we've had a

& Reapportionment Committee Guidelines for 8 hurricane or when we had the oil spill -

g Congressional, Legislative, and Board of 9 hurricane that was most devastating to our are
10 Education Redistricting. L was Hurricane Ivan in 2004. Hurricane Katrina
11 So it says that a community of 11 hit in 2005. [t was equally — it was worse
12 interest is defined as an area with recognized 12 for the Gulf Coast, but Hurricane [van was
13 similarities of interest including, but not 13 really more damaging to south Alabama than
14 limited lo, racial, ethnic, geographic, 14 Hurricane Katrina.

15 governmental, regional, social, cultural, 15 Or when we had the oil spill in
18 partisan, or historic interest; county, 16 2010 off the coast of Louisiana, my office,
17 municipal, or voting precinct boundaries; and 17 our staff, we worked to make sure that the
18 commonality of communication. is entire community of interest got the messages
13 So I think you've touched on a lot 19 of evacuation, of safety, of shelter, of -- of
20 of these already. 20 help fram FEMA, of -« of -- of help from the
21 A. (Witness nods head.) 21 organization that was set up by the Obama
22 Q. A couple that I don't know if 22 administration help after the oil spill that
Page 2% Page 28

a we've talked about are the racial and ethnic 1 Mr. Feinberg oversaw.

2 ones. z So you do that by going -- by

3 A. (Wimess nods head.) 3 having translators. You do that by -- by

4 Q. Can you talk a little bit about 4 actually doing flyers and mailings in

s communities of interest from that aspect in 3 different languages. You do it by working

6 your district? € with the Red Cross and other groups that

< A,  Well, the first history has a very 7 actually specialize -- especially a lot of

8 diverse ethnic population. Bayou La Batre is 8 faith-based groups that specialize in

9 a small costal community down in the southern 9 contacting those different communities.

10 the part of Mobile County. It's the seafood ic So it would be one of the most, if

11 capital of Alabama. 11 not the most, diverse congressional districts

2 If you enjoy eating shrimp or crab 12 in the state. We have a large

13 meat or oysters or fish in Washington, DC, at 13 African-American population that is spread

14 some of the finest restaurants, it's very 14 throughout the district, but there is a city

15 likely that the praduct came through Bayou La 15 in the district, Prichard, Alabama, that

18 Batre, It's a —- it's a shipbuilding 16 has -- it's one of the -- it would be one of

17 community. And it is also where one of our 17 the ten largest cities in the state probably.

14 famous native sons, Forrest Gump, called home. 18 And it's today a majority

19 He is fictional. 19 Alfrican-American population, but it wasn't

20 But we have people from Cambodia, 20 that long ago when it was majority Caucasian

21 from Vietnam, from Thailand, from Taiwan, from 21 population. They elected their first

22 China, from Mexico, probably 17, maybe 20 or 22 African-American mayor when it was majority
Page 27 Page 29
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white town. And then after that, they elected
a white lady mayor when it was a majority
African-American town.

So there's been -- as [ said
carlier, unlike some cities in the state and
throughout the nation, we have had a more
harmonious relationship with the different
racial backgrounds and etbmic backgrounds than
a ot of other patts of the covatry.

Q. So you mentioned Prichard as a
place that's majority African-American. Are
there other places in the district where
African-Americans are more concentrated?

A. There -- there are parts of Mobile
that are, Africatown, the plateau community,
is part in Mobile and part in Prichard.
Trinity Gardens - there are sections of
town -- of the city of Mobile that are.

But I'm -- I -- I don't know the
numbers, but you could look at Bay Minette
which is the county seat of Baldwin County.
You can look at Chatom which is the county

Page 30
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11
12
13
14
15
16
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19
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22

that sphits Clarke County?
A.  Clarke County, this area is

predominantly the area that leads into
Jackson, Alabama. Se Clarke County has three
farge cities. The county seat is Grove Hill,
And then the northermmost city is Thomasville,
and then Jackson is the southernmost city.

And go I will tell you that when
the decision was made in the redrawing prios
to this current map o split Clarke County,
there were a lot of local people, local
feaders, the editor of the newspaper, the --
some of the mayors, some of the other
preminent citizens in the comsmunity, botk
African-American and white who were not
excited about having the split county,

But when -- when the legislature
made the decision and before that in the
previous redistricting effort to split Clarke
County, the members of the congressional
delegation made a commitiment to the people of
Clarke County that rather than being concemed

Page 32
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seat of Washington County. You could look at
Monroeville which is the county seat of Monroe
County. And you would see a -- a -- a healthy
balance in terms of the racial makeup. I just
can't tell you what those are.
Q. And I'm not -- I'm not trying to
ask you for facts or figures, so thank you.
That's helpful.
One -- 1 think it would be helpful
if I gave you a map to look at instead of --
s0 | ¢an -- this is the current Congressional
District Plan which we can mark as Exhibit L.
(Bonner Exhibit 1 was
marked for identification.)
MR. DAVIS: Here, hand this dowm
to Bryan, and I will share -- ¥'ll look on
with Jo. Just make sure you can see it.
A.  ['veseen this befare.
Q. (By Ms. Madduri) Yes. I'm sure
you're familiar with this. 1 wanted to ask
wou in Clarke County, what is that area thai
is encompassed in congressional district 1

Page 31
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about having their county sphit, they would
find it beneficial. And we wotked our heavis
out to make that happen.

So when | was elected in 2002,
Congressman Artur Davis was elected the same
year from the 7th congressional district, and
Artur and [ agreed to do joint town hali
meetings. When Congressman Davis left
Congress and Congresswoman Tern Sewell came
in, she and T agreed to do joint town halk
meetings.

The ironic and, quite frankly, sad
thing was that we asked C-SPAN, We asked the
national media if they would like to see a
black Democrat from Birmingham and a white
Republican from Mobile do 2 joint town hall
meeting, and because if wasn't crossfire, it
wasn't controversial, and we weren't putling
bexing gloves on and -- and fighting each
other politically, it didn't make a lot of
news. But we did that every year.

And we did it. I¥'s now

Page 33
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continued. Congressman Byme, I believe,

-

Congress sent their Chiefs of Staff or a

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com

2 continues to have these meetings with 2 designee to come down to work with the
3 Congresswoman Sewell. And so the concerns 3 legislature to — to -- obviously the
4 that the people in Clarke County had was that 4 legislature made the decision on drawing for
5 they felt, if I can speak for them, what they 5 the federal races, for the state races, for
6 told me was they felt - they were concerned 6 the state school board.
z that if they had a split county that they 7 So our role was to come down to
8 would not be served by either member of & answer questions, to work with them to help
¢ Congress. 8 understand communities of interest,
10 And in fact, you'd probably add up i compaciness of district, and offer whatever
n that we spent as much time in Clarke County as i help we could to help them do their
12 we did in any of the other counties, but that L constitutionally mandated job of redrawing the
13 area goes north of Jackson, but it does not e districts every ten years.
14 go -- as I recall, it doesn't go all the way A Q. Were you ever involved in actually
15 into Grove Hill, and it certainly doesn't go 15 drawing the map?
16 to Thomasville. And yet when someone from 16 A,  I--1saw others who knew how to
7 Thomasville would call our office needing 17 work the computer, but I never actually did
18 help, or when someone from Jackson would call 18 that, no, ma'am.
L Congresswoman Sewell's office needing help, 13 Q. And what did you think about - I
20 help was there. 20 guess, first, what did you think about the
21 Q. And just so I'm clear, when -- 21 removal of Wilcox County from --
22 when was -- you mentioned it happened in a 22 A.  Well, it was personally
Page 34 Page 36
L previous redistricting cycle, When did 1 disappointing because it was my home county,
2 this -- 2 but it was not a surprise. The population --
3 A. Sothe-- 3 there was a desire at that time made to create
4 Q. --change happen to add Clarke 4 a minority district.
5 County or this part of Clacke County into - s And at that time, they needed a
6 A.  So when -- when Congressman ] certain percentage of minority vote in that
7 Callahan was elected in 1984, Wilcox County Z district to give the best chance of creating
8 was in there, my home, and all of Clarke 8 that district. So there's a higher percentage
9 County. So the district actually, instead of 3 of African-Americans in Wilcox County even
10 having six counties, had seven counties. 10 though it's a small county, 14, 15,000 people.
11 But because of the adjustments in i1 And so the legislature at that
o population, the -- Wilcox County left in the 12 time made that decision, and so that's why
13 1990 redrawing and Clarke County became split 13 there's — they call it the finger, But
14 as ] recall jn the 2000 and then again in 14 that's why there's a finger that goes up into
15 2010, And so it was split in 2000. It was 13 Jefferson County that's going after the
16 split further in 2010, Lo largest population of primarily
17 Q. And what was -- what was your 17 African-American voters that can also connect
18 involvement, if any, in that -- 18 into the other Black Belt counties to create
i A, Well, I was a member -- 19 that minority district.
20 Q. --inthose decisions? 20 Q. Inyour view, did Wilcox County
2 A, --of Congressman Callahan’s =l share all of those same sorts of communities
22 staff, and so therefore, all of the members of 22 of interest that you described with the rest
Page 35 Page 37
Pages 34 to 37
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1 of what was formerly congressional district 8, ) 6th -- in the 7th district or the Est district
2 1 think, in 1990, it sounds like? 2 because they have been well served by
3 A Actually, it probably was the 3 Congresswoman Scwell andt Congressman Byine aid
4 outlier. Camden 15 30 miles from Selma. And 4 before him, me.
5 50 if you are a child growing up in Wilcex 5 Q. Generally when redistricting, do
6 County and you need to go to the doctor or you 6 you believe that it's preferable to keep
W need to go to the procery store of you needed u oounties whole?
8 to go get a new pair of -- new set of tires, 8 A, ltwas the logislature's poal io
° you would go to Sclima more than you wownld go ? keep them whole. That's what they told ns,
10 to Mobile. 1¢ At the time, Gerald Dial in the last
1 So Wilcox County politically was 11 redistricting was, I believe, the head of the
12 not as connecied other than the fact it had L] Senate Reapportionment Committee, and Jim
13 been in the district, and Congressman Cdwards 13 MeClendon was, [ believe, head of the House
i4 served that district and Cengressman Calaban 14 Reapportionment Committee.
13 served that district including Wileox County. L2 And 1 think their -- they would
16 But I never had the privilege of £ have preferred to have keep counties whole,
17 representing my home ceunty, but my home also 12 but they also were trying to get to zerp
18 shified to Mobile when { meved there in 1982. 18 deviation. They were trying togettoa--a
19 1 wyas just -- | was actually born in Selma 13 map this the Justice Department would approve,
20 because we dida't have a hospital in Casnden. 20 meeting all the other goals and oljectives
2 And I didn't like it, so ] moved away about 21 that they had.
22 three days later to Camlen. 22 So | have 2 goed friend wheo was
Page 38 Page 40
1 Q. And then Clarke Countiy, are there i the pubtisher of the lacal paper ia -- in
2 any cormtmnities of interest that you think ase 2 Jackson -- actually was the publisher of the
3 split up by this, the way that this is 3 locat paper in Grove Hill which is the county
1 divided? 4 seat in Clarke County, but geing back to
s A. No. you're in Thomasville, 5 the -- to the map that was drawn that first
& which is the northernmaest city in -- in that € separated Clarke County -- Jim Cox is the
? county, you're still going to gravitate toward 7 publisher's name.
B Mobile. There's a major four-lane highway 8 He now owns the papers in fackson
9 that runs north and south. % as well as in Thomasvitle, but [ remembes
1a You can look at the football i specifically him tetling me that he couldn't
11 schedule this time of year, and you'll see 11 see how it could be beneficial to having a
i Thomasville plays Jackson, Grove Hiil, and 12 split county. And years later he told me when
13 Morwoeville, Chator, played Butler in Choctaw 13 I assured him that we would make certain that
14 County. There's no political overtones to = €larke County was not underserved or ignored
15 developing a football schedule, but the 15 in any way, he said, [ should have trusted
16 communities are connected even though 16 you. Y'all have done everything yeou promised
17 Thomasville is technically in the 7th 17 and then some.
18 district -- politically in the 7th 18 So -- but yes, I think most people
19 eongressional district. 13 would prefer to have their counties kept
20 Nobody who lives in that county -- 20 whole, but it's easier said than done. But
el few people who live in that county would be 21 even 50, if you look at this map, there really
iz able to tetl you whether they live in the 22 are not that many split eounties in Alabama
Page 39 Page 41
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1 compated to a lot of districts aroumnd the . mind is — is agriculture. Alabama is a big
2 counlry. 2 agriculture state. For years it was our
3 Q. Do you -- what do you think about 3 leading industry statewide, but for many, many
g the splitting of Montgomery County the way 4 vears, for decades, the federal government had
3 it's split? 3 a federal peanut program that the countics in
€ A, Well, it - it was split that way 6 the 2nd district actively paticipated in
7 to achieve the population goals, but I wall ? alomg with neighbaering countes in Georgia and
8 also tell you that being the capital city, 8 #1 Florida.
9 there are -- there were other members of ¢ And until they changed that
10 delegation that wanted to be -- wanted a part e prograin, people in the 3rd district, people in
L of Moatgomery County. i1 the 7th district, people in the st distvict
12 They wanted the -- some of it is 12 didn't grow peanuts. It was -- it was based
13 service oriented, and quite frankly, some of 13 on soil. It was also based on the
14 it is — is politically valuable to -- you 14 historica} -- if you were in that prograen, you
L know, it’s very expensive to un for office. 15 didn't want to get out of it because there
18 And so when you have a large city, the capital 16 were years — if there had been a surplus the
L city gives you an added reason to corme here 17 previous year, they would actually pay yeu to
18 not only to sexve your disérict but also when 1B 1ot grow peanwts, Soitwasa — 1t wasa
19 #'s time to run for reelection &6 -- to meet 19 very lucvative program for those who were in
20 your politicat friends as well. 20 it.
. Q. And what about for the 2 Bust -- but there are other mose
22 consittuents in Monigomery County, do you 22 obvions differences as well. We have Fort
Page 42 Page 44
1 think there are any issues with them being 1 Rucker, and we have Maxwell and Gunter Aiwr
< split up this way? 2 Force Base. So you've got Army Awviation down
3 A, HNo, ma’am. | doa't personally K in the Wiregrass, down m Enferprise area.
4 have any reason to believe there are any 1 You've got the F-35s coming to Montgomery.
5 issues. Maontgemery is alse -- and I'm ol an 2 You've got Air University training all the
& expert on the 2nd district, but Montgomery's 6 air -- the Air Force officers that will go on
1 econoimy has also been more closely tied to the 7 to lead the Air Force in Montgomery.
g Wiregrass econosmny. B We had an Air Force base in
El The Wiregrass of Alabama is a 9 Mobile. M closed in the [960s. We buikl
10 geographic region like the Black Belt is. 1¢ ships for the Navy, so we have a much
11 it's smade up of -- in Houston, Dale, Henry, 11 different -- we'se all pro military in the
12 Coffee, Geneva, Barbour, Pike. So if you were 12 state. But you can be pro military, but yor
13 to ask people in Dothan, in Houston County, if 13 can also sse a -- a — a stark difference in
4 they needed to go to -~ go to a bigger city 1o 14 terms of where you're gomg to put your
L5 g0 shopping, te go to the hospital, to go to 15 efforts.
& do business, they would choose Montgomery over 16 Like in Huntsville with the
17 Mobile in a heartbeat. 17 adeministration ealling for the ereation of
18 3.  What are some -- you mentioned 18 Space Force, that's something of real interest
19 economic interests in ¢he Wiregrass region in 12 to the folks in Madison County and Marshall
20 CD 2, what are some of those interests that 20 County. Doesn't really have a lot of interest
21 exist there? il to us on the coast unless we're going to ship
2z A, Well, one that casily comes to 22 those rockets up the river system, and we may.

Page 43
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L But -- but our focus, if you were ] ! a year later, and today, they are building the
2 in Congress from the 2Znd congressional 2 A-320 which is the most popular single-aisle
3 district, you would want to be on the Armed 3 plane in the world with 9,000 plaes on back
& Services Committee. You'd have a vested 4 order,
5 interest in protecting the federal 5 And they have just started work on
6 government's installatiens at Fort Rucker and 6 an A-220 smaller jet that's based on a
1 at Dannelly and at Maxwell Gunter. Z €anadian jet, Bombardier, and so in less than
8 And -- and that's borne out by & a decade, they will -- Mobile will became the
E evidence that Congressman BDickinson who was in 9 fourth dargest city for commercial air
L office for 20-plus years, maybe 28 -- 24 was 1o awrcraft manufacturing 1A the world, which is
1 on Armed Services. Congressman Everell was en 11 peetly good.
e Armed Services. Congressman Bright was Anmed 12 Q. That's very impressive.
L Services, and congressinan -- Congressweman 13 MR. DAVIS: Lali, would this be a
14 Roby was en it until she got on the 14 good time for —
15 Appropriations Commitiee that was created when 15 MS, MADDURI: Sure.
16 the congressman from the 1st district 16 MR. DAVIS: -- a break?
i7 resigned. That would be me, but her goal was 17 MS. MADDURI: Yeah.
18 te get on defense appropriations and she dag. 14 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This ends MPEG
18 Likewise, if you're from the st 19 one in the continued deposition of Josiah
20 district, you know, I — I didr't have near as 20 Bonner. We are off the record at 9:52.
21 much interest in helicopters as 1 did ships. 21 (A recess was taken.)
22 When | was in Congress, we get the contract 22 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This begins
Page 46 Page 48
L for Austal which is an Austratian shipyard to ! MPEG two in the continued deposition of Josiah
2 build a new generation of warship for the 2 Bonner. We're on the record at 10:02.
3 Mavy, the littoral combat ship. 3 Q. (ByMs. Madduri) M. Bonner, can
4 We got the contract for them te 4 you tell me -- you were mentioning there's
5 build - it was a 2-plus billion doltar 3 seme particular agricultural interest in CD 2.
6 contract. And today 4,500 people work in that 6 ¥s there any agricultural in CD 1?
2 shipyard. So that's -- that's an important b A. Thereis. It's--it'sa
8 part of our econarny, but it's also something B different type of agriculture. We -- a ot of
9 that you ean't build ships in Dothan or 5 timber and soybeans, cottor, and other row
10 Moentgomery. You've got to be in a deep water i <rops like that.
11 port. 11 Q.  And where in the district are
12 Q. [s there a -- an Aithus plant in 12 those located?
13 Mobile now? 13 A.  Washington, Clarke, Monroe,
14 A.  There is, So we grew -- DNA has 14 Escambia, Baldwin. Although Baldwin is onc of
15 kong been in -- acrospace has long been in 15 the fastest growing counties, and so a bot of
16 Alabama's DNA. The Wright brothers actually 16 their farmland s being squeezed for
1 opened an aviation training center in 17 development.
s Montgomery in 1210, I believe. But we started 13 Q. Understood. And 1 think you were
L3 recruiting Airbus in my early years in 19 talking about this a little bit before, but
20 Congress, and then we landed them in 2012. 20 ean you tell me a bit about the split of
21 They made the decision to come. 2 Jefferson County in the current plan?
22 They broke ground. They had the grand opening 22 A Well, Jefferson County is the
Page 47 Page 49
Pages 46 to 49
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And so Jefferson County being the
largest county, their -- their radius of
service and connectivity to Tuscaloosa, to
Walker County, to Blount County, to the other
countics that are contiguous. A lot of people
£o to Birmingham to shop, for medical reasons,
for banking reasons, and for other reasons,
but [ -- I don't know that you would -- |
don't know that it would be easy to identtfy
when you were in the 7th congressional
district or the 6th congressional district
unless you were thinking with a political
mind.

Q. That makes sense, but generally
there's no -- you don't think -- you're not
aware of any issues that arise by pulling the
city of Birmingham out of Jefferson County
this way?

A. Tamnot.

Q. You touched on this before, but
I'm just going to show you a map of 1950 --

A Okay.

Page 52

7/30/2019
1 largest county in the state. And as such,
2 the -- when you've got counties that are
3 losing population like Wilcox and Choctaw and
2 Lowndes, and you've got counties that are
5 growing in population like Jefferson and
6 Madison and Morgan, when the legislature --
0 not during this last redistricting but in the
8 previous ones, Congressman Claude Harris
9 represented the 7th congressional district,
10 And when he did not seek
11 reelection, Congressman Ear] Hilliard who was
12 the state legislator at the time, state
13 senator, ran and was elected to that scat as
14 the first African-American to serve in the
15 delegation since reconstruction or for a long,
16 long time.
L And then Congressman Hilliard was
18 defeated by Congressman Davis, and then
19 Congressman Davis chose to run for governor
20 and Congresswoman Sewell ran. So I believe
21 that's my history, but the area in Jefferson
22 County was drawn as we understood it to create
Page 50
1 the best opportunity for an African-American
2 to be elected to Congress with -- I believe it
3 was a 65 percent was the number that they
4 used, but that's a few years ago.
5 Q. And do you think -- do you think
& it's harmful at all for Jefferson County to be
7 split this way?
g A. [ 'would have no reason to believe
9 it is harmful to Jefferson County.
10 Q. And my understanding is that
11 basically the city of Birmingham is captured
12 in congressional district 7; is that right?
13 A. Yes, ma'am.
14 Q. Okay. And then it's mostly
i35 suburbs or non city areas of Jefferson County
16 that are in congressional district 6; is that
17 right?
18 A.  That would be correct. Jefferson
g County is also one county away from being the
2 geographic center of Alabama. Mentevallo is
21 actually the geographic center, It's in
22

Shelby County.

Page 51
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Jou think exist by having them separate like

Q. --of the way the districts are
drawn. This we can mark as Exhibit2. It's
the congressional districts as of 1950.

(Bonner Exhibit 2 was
marked for identification.)

Q. {By Ms. Madduri) So Irealize
it's a little hard to see, but I think you
mentioned before that back then Mobile —
Mobile and Baldwin County were separate.

A.  Uh-huh.

Q. Can you talk a little bit more
about ~ I believe you said that you thought
it was best when they put those back together.
Can you talk a little bit about what issues

this?

A.  Well, in -- in this map, you would
have to go back to a time when the Baldwin
County economy was primarily agriculture.
Today it is a much more diverse economy driven
largely by tourism.

And so Gulf Shores -- Orange Beach

Page 53
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L drdw't even exist as a community. Gulf Shores C interest, do you think Mobile County shares
2 was a small summertime vacation community, 2 communities of interest with, 1 think, you
3 mostly for locals to go about three months out 3 mentioned Choctaw and Marengo?
4 of the year. It's now -- Gulf Shores, Orange g A.  To a much less degree than they do
9 Beach, and Fort Morgan, which is 5 with the counties that they currently -- 1
g unincorporated in Baldwin County, it's a & mean, the alignment that we're looking at in
? year-round economy. People come from the 7 today’s map for all practical purposes has
8 north during the winter to escape cold 8 been in place for the last 30 to 40 years.
9 weathes. 8 And - and the economies of that
1c And so in the 19505 compared to 10 area have grown more aligned during that
1 today, the economies of Mobile and Baldwin i period of time. The continuity and the
12 Lounty have grown closer and more alike i 12 eommunities of interest have grown mere
13 shipbuilding, in seafood production, in 13 aligned during that time.
14 tourism. And there's a strong connectivity 14 Q. What are some of the -- 1 guess
15 between those two counties today that are 13 the lack of continuity between Mobile asd
16 unique to Alabama. They are 1o two counties 1§ Choctaw and Marengo in your view?
11 like Mobile and Baldwin Counties beeause of 17 A, Well, Choctaw and Marengé would
18 their geographic location, 18 probably go te Meridian, Mississippi to go
19 Q. And then also at this {ime Mobile 9 shapping, to go to the hospital, to go buy an
20 County was combined with some of the Black 20 automobile. They are currently in the Tih
21 Belt counties to the north -- 21 congressional district. Congresswoman Sewell
e A, Uh-huh 22 has field offices.
Page 54 Page 56
1 Q --ofit? 1 You know, one of the challenges of
2 Do you think that configuration 2 serving a distriet is you got to make sure
3 malkes scnse, or are there problems that you 3 you've get staff that can get cut and serve
1 see with that sort of thing? 4 those districts. She does a great job. She's
3 A Well, it -- it — it is still 5 from Selma originally. Her mother was on the
5 cennected in the current map to the Black Belt 6 eity couneil there. And so she has a very
7 counties. It's just because of population J active constituent services program in these
8 shifts. 8 rural areas.
8 As we've discussed previously, 9 They would go fo Selma. They
10 you -- you lose population in ong county. You 10 waoukd certainly go -- Marengo County would go
n gain in another faster growing county, and 1 to Selma to go shopping or for the hospital.
12 those adjustments have been made. But you'll 12 I saw Meridian, but they would have a cleser
13 see, this would frave beenr Witcox County, which i3 proximity to go to Setma and a more -- a
14 as T mentioned, was in the district when i o4 higher likelihood tham they prebably woulki to
15 first went to work with Congressinan Callahan. 15 come to Mobie,
16 All of Clarke County, Washington County, and 16 Q. And then alse at this time,
13 Monroe County. 17 Baldwin County, Escambia County, and Covingten
18 So it is hard to see, but it {ooks 18 County are in the same district. Do you --
19 Tike Choetaw County and Marengo were the two 19 and I realize Baldwin and Escambia ate
20 counties in the 1950s, but they were tzken out 20 currently still in the same district. So I
2 in the 1960s remap as I reeall. 2 guess the question is: Do you feel that
22 Q. [Interms of communities of 22 Covington County has --
Page 55 Page 57
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1 A, Cov-- B of Staff for Congressman Callahan probably
2 Q. -- communities of intercst in 2 when these were drawn, is that right? Tt was
3 coininen with Escambia and Baldwin and this sort 3 probably drawn -- let's say it was drawn 2011,
4 of grouping? 4 A.  No. { was amember of Congress @
3 A.  Covington has a — a strong 3 2011
8 identity with Geneva County and Coffee County & Q. Oh, somy.
? in the Wiregrass. And that's not only where * A In--
B it is 1n the political map, but it's also & Q. Yeah. Of course.
9 where il is i the economiic map as well. It's 2 A. - 2001, 1 was Chief of Staff, but
10 hard te get from Andalusia to Mobile. There's 10 Congressman Callahan would not have sent me to
Ly a0 four-lane highway, 11 Montgomery to facus on the State Board of
1z Q. Yeah, they arc not teo clese 12 Education.
13 together. I'm going 1o hand you the Siate 13 Q. Okay. Looking ot just where we
14 Board of Education District's Map from 2011, 14 have District § on this nap, de vou have any
15 and we can inark that as Exhibit 3. 15 issues with the way this is configured?
18 {Bonner Exhibit 3 was 1€ A. [ don't have an epinion --
1 marked for identification.) 17 (3. No opinion.
18 Q. {(By Ms. Madduri) Are you fammiliar 18 A, -—aboutit.
19 svith this map? 12 0. Understood.
20 A.  Dim—D'm - I'm looking at it 20 No opinien on any -- any of this
21 seally for the first time in a long time. 21 configuration at all?
22 Fye -- 22 A No.
Page 58 Page 60
> Q. VYeah 1 Q. Okay.
- A, [I've never seally studied the 2 A, Because a State Board of Education
. State Board of Education maps that closely. 3 member has a different respensibility. A
d Q. Have you ever been involved in any 4 member of Congress is not anly sepresenting
5 way in cither giving input or -- 5 their constituents with vetes that ihey cast,
& A.  No, ma'am, 6 bt alse with services that they provide.
L Q. -- consulicd in drawing these i 8o when someone whe lives in
g maps? € Washington County has a problem with Social
9 A, No,ma'am. E Security or with the Veteran's Adnninistration
Lt Q. Okay. Were you famiiar with them 1c or they're in the military and they'ce trying
11 at all when you were in Congress? 11 to get a different assignment, they're not
12 A, I--1was familiar that the 2 going to contact their state school board
s legislature was redrawing the -- | mean, theve 13 member. They'sc going ko condact their U.S.
14 are eight diséricts as opposed to seven. They 14 Congsessman.
L have a tofally different responsibility. They 15 And so I've sever really studied
16 are not federal representatives or state 16 maps for state legislators or school board
13 vepresentatives. 17 members or anyone else because my focus has
18 So [ would say that i -- | had 19 always been on how to put ¢he best team
13 little to no interest in where the State Board L together to serve the people of the 1st
— of Education maps were in this redraw or in 20 congressional district.
21 any previous redraw. 21 I had over 450 town hall mectings
EE Q. 1 think you would bave been Chief 22 during my ten and a half years. 1den't
Page 59 Page 61
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1 recall there ever being a state school board 1 A, No. This is the first time I'm
- member having a town hall meeting. I'm not 2 seeing these.
3 saying they don't or they didn't. But -- bat H Q. And please take as much time as
1 you serve - if - if you're a -- you just 4 you need because I realize there's a lot of
s have a different way of serving people when 5 maps, and you haven't seen them before. But I
6 you have a different job, 6 just generally want fo get your thoughts on if
? Q. Yeah That makes sense. Lel's z you see issues or if you have eriticisms of
8 move on, g these maps.
9 I'm going to show you the -- | ¢ I'n3 sure as you'll see, District 1
L want to get your thoughts on the maps that L0 #s different than it is in the current pian
1 plaintiffs are proposiag n this case. 11 A, Well, they all have a unique
12 A, Okay. 12 characteristic, and that is that they wonld
i3 Q. Sol'mgoing to give you four 13 destroy the epportunity for the
18 maps, and we'll just mark them all at the saze 14 representatives from the Lst district and the
1= time for ease. So this is -~ it will be L2 2nd district to serve their constituents in a
18 Exhibit 4. 14 way that they have beet served previously.
ey (Bonner Exhibit 4 was L It would -- I mentioned that
18 marked for identification.) e it's -- there's no easy way 1o get from
19 Q. (By Ms. Maddusi) Exhibit4is 19 Andalusia in Covington County to Mobile.
20 catled -- you'll see it's called Revised 20 If you are the representative in
21 Plan 1. 21 the 1s! district in any of these maps and you
22 {Bonner Exhibit 5 was 22 live in Mobide 2nd vou need o go to Houston
Page 62 Page 64
1 marked for identification.) 1 County in Dothan, yeu're going to spend more
g Q. (By Ms. Madduri) Then we have 2 time in Florida than you witl in Adabama,
3 what will be Exhibit 5, which is called 3 Qr if you're the representative
4 Revised Plan 2. a from -- and you live in Dothan but you've got
E (Bonner Exhibit 6 was 5 a meeting in Mobile, you're going to spend
& marked for identification.) o more time in Florida than you will in Alabama.
7 Q. (By Ms. Madduri) And then @ If you live in the 2nd district
8 Exhibit 6 will be Revised Plan 3. g and you have been elected out of Mobile as
3 (Bonner Exhibit 7 was £ your base and you're trying to go to a town
1c marked for identification.) 10 hall meeting in Macon County or Bullock
11 Q. {ByMs. Madduri) The last one is il Counly, you're going to spend half a day
12 called Illustrative Plan 4, and that will be 1z gelting there.
13 Exhibit 7. 13 There -- there is no real
1e Have you seen any of these plaus i community of interest in these maps. Ared as
15 before? L someone wha's had the privilege of serving in
s A. Idon't know that I've ever seen 16 Congress and -- and deing his best te
17 these plans, but I've seen different maps L represent all of the people in his distriet,
i during the previous redistricting efforts that 18 this would be a difficult challenge to
19 were equally as ugly. 15 represent because there's so very little in
e €. Okay. So then [ assume you 0 common with the proposals either of District !
21 haven't had any conversations about these 21 or District 2.
22 or —- o Q. Can you talk a little bit more
| Page 63 Page 65
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. about what you think is not in common and we g You might as well just go into Mississippi or
Z can -~ we can take each in tam. So how about 2 Georgia, if the law allowed you to but it
3 starting with congressional district 2 in 3 doesn't, to pick up constituents.
g these proposed maps, which is -- which are 4 But it -- it is -- it's -- this
5 roughly similar. 3 would be foreign, [ believe, to any of the
& You don't need to necessarily € people who have been elected to office, and
L understand exactly what is different between 7 quite frankly, I think it would be foreign to
8 each one, but of course if you have specific 8 any of the people who run for office over the
9 «concems on any of them, please do let me 3 last 30 years to try to serve -- try to be
10 know. But we can just start by talking about 10 elected to much less serve districts that are
11 congressional district 2 the way it's il configured like this.
12 proposed. 12 Q. I think you menticned economics,
13 What are the -- what are the lack 13 specifically the economy --
I of commonalities of interest in your view? 14 A.  Uh-huh.
15 A.  Well, the -- the Washington and 15 Q. --being different or just
16 Clarke and Monroe County in Exhibit 4 and 1g unknown. Are there any other considerations
17 Exhibit 6 and Exhibit 7 have nothing in common 17 that you think would be difficult here?
18 with Macon and Bullock Counties except that 18 A. Well, so Houston County, Henry
19 they are counties in the state of Alabama. 19 Caunty, Dale County, Geneva County, when the
20 They don't share any history. 20 pecple of those communities want to go to the
2 They don't share any geographical alignment, il beach, they go to Florida. They go to Destin.
22 They don't share any social or political 22 They go to Navarre. They go to Panama City.
Page 66 Page 68
1 alignment. If -~ if you -- you could name a 1 They don't go to Gulf Shores or Orange Beach.
2 town that the congressman or congresswoman was 2 When they want to export products,
3 from, and it doesn't really matter where on 3 the -- the river system doesn't provide access
1 these maps you're looking at, it's going to be 4 from the Wiregrass over to here (indicating).
5 difficult to serve them based on my experience 5 You can come by rail, or you can come by
& of service. 6 interstate in Florida, but there is - so
? Q. In what ways would it be difficult 5 there's just no continuity of our -- of our --
8 to serve -- g8 the things we've talked about previously, our
9 A. Being accessible, of being aware ¢ social life, our business life, our education
1o of -- of - of the — you know, there - 10 life. For all practical purposes, this is in
n there's a value in -- in understanding an 11 a different part of the world,
12 area's historical relationship with each 12 Q. You mentioned -- just right now
13 other. And so you'd have to leam a whole new 13 you mention educational life.
14 sel of political leaders, mayors, county 14 A. Uh-huh,
15 commissioners, probate judges. 15 Q. In2011 when that Board of
16 You have to learn a whole new set 16 Education map was created, Alabarna decided --
17 of issues. The challenges that someone in 17 the Alabama legislature decided to put part of
18 Macon and Bullock County -- I -- I don't gven 18 Mobile County into sort of a similar --
19 know what their economy is derived from quite 13 similar configuration to this actually.
20 frankly. Anymore than someone from Macon or 20 Do you see any issues with them
N Bullock County would know what the economy of 21 having done that?
2z Clarke or Washington or Menroe County was. 22 A, Again, State Board of Education
Page 67 Page ©9
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1 and the United States Congress to me are night ! not saying it's not ever happened in the
2 and day. And since that time, 1 believe F'm 2 history ef the Congress, but it's — it's hard
3 correct, they also changed the Board of 3 to be -- it’s hard to serve that many
4 Education to where now there's a sepavaie 4 different constituencies that would be
5 board for two-year colleges as opposed to K 5 important to your -- to your disirict, to the
3 through 12. 1 don't know what that map looks B constituents that live there.
L like. ? Q. Which — which congressional
€ And those are not elected 8 commitiees were you on when yveu served?
2 positions. They are appointed positions g A.  Appropriations,
10 confirmed by the state legislature. But Lo Q. Any other?
11 studeats in Housten, Dale, Henry, Geneva, 11 A.  And ethics.
L2 Coffee Counties are more than likely to go to 1z €). And ethics. Any other?
i3 Troy University in Pike County or to Wallace 13 A. My early committees, | was on
14 Community College in Dothan than they are to 11 agriculture and science and busdgel. Bu those
15 Spring Hill Coltege, University of South 15 were just to get me to appropriations. The
16 Alabamna, or University of Mobile or Bishop 16 15t congressional district has long bad a seat
7 State or Coastal Alabama, which are the twe n” on appropriations, and that was a goal of mine
ig two-year systems here. i8 early on.
19 And so conversely, I'm talking 18 Q. 1think you've staried to talk
20 about twe-year and four-year schools, you leok 20 about this, but can vou help me understand if
21 at the student bedies of the University of 2t you were representing the congressional
22 Souwsh Alabama, yow're going k0 see a2 mach 22 district 1 the way it's drawn in the -- in the
Page 70 Page 72
! larger concentratron of students who are from 1 prepescd maps, in your opinion, are there
2 what is in Exhibit T, the traditional 1st 2 #ssues where there would have been conflicis
3 congressional district, 3 of interests between the communities yeu
4 Q  Ithink we've kind of talked abowt 4 were -- your would be representing?
9 both districts, but let's just focus on the 5 A.  1--1 think the conflict would be
€ proposed cangressional district 1. Can yow o you would be serving multiple masters, not
v, talk a little bit about what communities of T really two masters. But you would be -- the
g interest you think are broken up here? 8 economy in Mobile and Baldwin Counties is
g Yeah. We can start with that. g totally a different focus than the economy of
10 What communities of interest are broken wp by 10 the Wiregrass area.
11 having District 1 configured this way? 1 8o in addition to the challenge of
2 A,  Economic and business, cultural. 1z getting from point A to point B, there would
13 I -- F mentioned earlier that if you were in 13 be an additional expense. 1mean, I -- when §
14 Congress from the current 2nd district 14 was working with Congressman Callahan, we had
15 Gndicaling), you would probably want to be on 15 one district office. 1 expanded it to two,
16 the Armed Services Committee supporting the 1¢ You wouild have to have at least
17 U.S. Army post Fort Rucker or the Adr Foree 17 three. Your budget's not going to up in a
18 bases at Maxwell Gunter. 18 rural area just becausc you have three
lg If you are under the current maps 19 offices. So you're going to have to have
20 that you're proposing, it -~ I'm not aware of 20 fewer staff or more offices, but it's -- you
2 anyone who's ever been on Navy Seapower 21 cai't have bath,
22 Comnattes and Army and Air Force. I mean, Fm 22 Fust the -- the ~- the challenge
Page 71 Page 73
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1 of getting into -- I mean, if -- if you have a 1 programs that were unique to this area that
2 town hall meeting in Houston County, you -- 2 were also unique to Georgia and Florida.
3 your best bet may be to fly to Panama City, 3 But no one ¢lse in delegation even
4 Florida to drive up. They do have an airport 4 knew what -- what those programs were because
5 in Dothan, but it has very limited air s they were so unique to that area. And -- and
6 service. & likewise, when you represent Mobile and
7 And there -- 50 you would only -- 7 Baldwin Counties and you've got the
8 you'd have an airport in Mobile, and then 8 shipbuilding industry and the acrospace
& you'd have to get in the car and drive four 9 industry, chemical industry and the steel
10 and a half to five hours to get to Dothan. 1o industry, you become -- you become affiliated
11 Q. Other than economic inferests, are 1 with the steel caucus, you become affiliated
12 there any other issues where you see conflicts 1z with the shipbuilding caucus.
13 of interest arising between the communities 13 T mean, that becomes a part of
14 that are in the proposed congressional 1 your network when you get to Washington to try
15 district 17 15 to better serve your constituents and the
16 A, Ithink it would be fair to say 16 companies and the individuals that work there.
17 that there is -- there's just so little in 17 So it really is a very strong economic
18 common between being in Tillman's Corner in 18 overture there.
19 Mobile County and going up to Luveme in 13 Q. Is that peanut program still in
20 Crenshaw County, 20 effect?
21 The -- the only way you would do 2 A, It—it--itis, but it changed
22 that today would be if you had a relative who 22 during a rewrite of the ag bill probably
Page 74 Page 76
1 lived up there and you were going to a family 1 12 years ago or so, It was when I was in
2 reunion. I mean, there's -- there's no social 2 Congress.
3 interaction. There's no athletic interaction B One of the things that I worked on
4 io speak of, There's -- so 1-- 1 don't see A and it continues -- that Congressman Byme
3 this being a map that 1f | were interested in 5 continues to work on is deepening of the port
2 running for office, 1 would consider running 6 of Mobile. And so your focus is on working
? in because I -~ not because [ don't think I L with the Army Corps of Engingers, not Army
8 could win it, but because I don't know why 8 helicopters. I mean, you -- you -- you have a
9 anybody would want to serve in a district that ¢ vested interest in supporting the -- the
10 is this different from the -- the maps that 10 programs that support the economy of that area
L have historically served these two districts = of the state that you live in. Just like
12 and served them well. 2 Congressman Braoks is focused on supporting
HES Q. Can you think of any issues that 13 Redstone Arsenal up in Madison County.
14 exist where if you were representing this id And Congresswoman Sewell and
L district, where you would vote differently as L5 Congresswoman Roby have worked to support
ig opposed to if you were representing the 16 Maxwell and Congressman Rogers Maxwell and
17 district as it currently is? e Gunter in Montgomery.
e A, Well, I-- I mentioned the peanut 18 Q. And did you say it's the --
19 program. I mean, when you were the 19 there's an interest in the Army Corps of
&0 representative of the 2nd congressional 20 Engineers in and around Mobile?
21 district, you became the - you became the 21 A. The Army Corps of Engineers
<2 expert, subject maiter expert of agricultural 22 headquarters from -- all the way from
Page 75 Page 77
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p Browmsville, Texas to Miami, Flonda is 1 Clarke County?
2 located in Mobile. So it's a large 2 A, Well -- well, I think if you're
3 headquarters for the entire Gulf of Mexice. 3 going to be successful, you're going to --
4 And it comes in handy when you're dealing with 4 you're going to make every effort to serve
5 a hurricane or an oil spill or trying to s your district obviously. But it would just be
6 dredge the water system to get the port to be 6 a much harder thing to do. f you're in
z a -- a top ten port. 7 Washington 40 to 45 weeks out of the year and
& Q. Aund do yeu have any thoughts or 8 you come home for a recess week or a recess
i comments about the splitting of Mobile County? 9 month like August, it is much more challengiag
M in all -- in 2ll four of the maps, that county Lo when you're -- I mean, we were able to get
i1 is split. 11 sometimes five town hall meetings a day
i1z A, 1--1 - my thought would be that 12 scheduled.
13 it's - Mobile County is different than Clarke 13 It would be hard to do with --
14 County. Mobile is one of the largest counties 14 with any of the four maps that you've gaot ist
15 in the state. It is the economic hub for this 15 front of me. It's not just town halls. It's
1€ atea of the state. L& also other ways. [ mean, | had a field rep
17 Remove the political maps, it's 17 who went on a monthly basis throughout the
A the ecopomic hub, and as such, splittiog # 18 district, every month went to all of the
19 just for the political purposes of what 1 i counties in my district. Sometimes several
20 assume would be the plaintiffs' motives, 1 20 fimes.
21 don't thimk is going to serve Mobile well or 21 3o you're either going to -- as |
22 the 1st congressional district well. But 22 say, you're going te increase your staff.
Page 78 Page 80
1 that's my personal opinion. 1 You're gotng to increase your number of
2 Q. Andin-- in what ways do yeu 2 offices, but you can't do both because your
3 think it weuldn't serve the ¢ity of Mobile or 3 budget doesn't increase.
3 the county of Mobile? 4 Q. Do you think it would be
5 A.  Because of the things we've talked 3 beneficial potentially to a district like
& about, the community of interest, the 6 District 7 right now, which is very large in
i continuity, the historical connections between 0 the current map, in the 2011 plan, but weuld
§ Mobile. And, you know, it - it's likea--a 8 be significantly reduced in size in some of
9 spoken hub. [ mean, this is the hub of 9 the proposed maps, for some of these same
10 economic life in this whole region of the o reasons that you're talking about? For
i1 state. 1 example, the geography, the distance, the
iz And it is directly tied to 12 number of offices you have to have?
13 Washington County and to Clarke County asnd 13 A.  Because of the way Congresswoman
i Monroe County and Escambia County. it -- and 14 Sewell serves her district and Congressman
13 it does not have that connection or tie, 15 Davis served his district, [ believe that
16 historic or atherwise, to the counties in 1e they -- the people who live in those counties.
17 central Alabamma or the counties in the 17 have been very pleased with the service that
18 Wiregrass. 18 they've gotten. And they'vedonca--a-—-a
ig Q. Ifyou were representing the new 13 good job because those have been
20 proposed congressional district 1, do you 20 historically - the -- the adjustments have
21 imagine that yeu would hold those same types 21 been made based on population and getting to
22 of joint town halls that you were doing for 22 zero deviation: from this map to the one that
Page 79 Page 81
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1 was ten years earlier. And the one that was 1 then that changes the scenario totally for
2 ten years earlier. 2 everybody, but -- but that will be because we
3 You showed a map in the 1950s. 3 didn't do our job to make sure that every
2 But if you look really in the 1970s, 1980s, 1 person counts in our census. And we're going
5 19905, 20005, 20105, those maps that were 5 to do everything we can ¢o -- to do that.
6 approved and that were also approved by the 6 Q. Okay. Understood. Sono--ao
z Justice Department are very similar in terms 7 thoughts or comments on titis map?
g of the area of service. B A.  Ne.
& Q. i'm going t give you one more 8 Q. Okay. That's fine.
10 map. The last one, [ promise. And this will 10 A.  No, ma'am.
L be, I think, Exhibit 8. 1 apologize ifit's 1 Q. Ifyou are called as a witness in
12 smalier. 12 this case, what — what do you expect to
13 (Bonner Exhibit 8 was 13 testify about?
14 marked for identification.) 14 A, Well, [ would expect that if I
15 0. (By Ms. Maddurl}) And ! can just 15 were called, it would be to give my experience
e tell you this is a plan that our expert drew 16 as someone who worked in the federal
17 because there's some speculation that in the 17 delegation for about 28 years.
18 next redistricting cycle, Alabama may lose ene 18 Q. Are there any specific issues that
19 of its seats and go down to six congressional 19 you believe you would testify about?
20 disiricts instead of the current seven. 20 A. No,ma'am. I - I could testify
21 8o I just want to get your general 21 on what it was like being a congressman and
ed thoughts on the same thing. Same fssues we've 2z working as a member of a congressional staff.
Page B2 Page 84
1 been discussing, whether there are comimrunitics 1 I'm comfortable with that.
: of interest that are at issue here. Just your 2 Q. Understood. Did you
- general views on this plan. 3 participate -- we — we talked about this a
d A, Well, unfortunately, [ -- [ don't 4 little bit, but T want to just get more
5 really have an opinion about this because I'm 5 information.
B working for the Governor of Alabama, and our 6 Did you participate in any
z goal is to keep all seven districts. So we're U capacity in Alabama's redistricting plan
5 going to work to get as robust a census as 8 following the 2010 census so to create that
9 possible. So we haven't even begun looking at 2 2011 plan?
10 hypotheticals of six districis. Gur goat is 10 A. [ participated in the sense that
11 to keep seven or imaybe get eight. 1 all of the members of Congress from Alabama,
12 Q. Understood. If this situation 12 Democrat and Republican, agreed to work with
g does arise, just looking at this map, are 13 the legislature as had been done in previous
14 there any specific issues that you see that 13 redistricting efforts. And we agreed to work
L you find concerning? 15 to support keeping the districts as cloge to
16 A Well,I--1-1Iwouldsay and I 16 what they had been historically.
i think anyone who has ever served in office or 17 And we all did that knowing that
ig who ever aspires to serve in office that there 18 we would have to ultimately get a slightly
s is a value to -- as compact a district that 19 different district than what might be ideal
20 has as much comtmunity of interest and 2¢ for us but because it was for the benefit of
21 continutty of interest as possible. 21 the state as a whole and for our respective
22 And if we lose 2 seat, then -- 22 seven congressional districts.

Page 83
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1 Q. And to -- to the best of your i served in the legislature.
2 recollection, who or what types of people did 2 Q. Do you remember any of the -- the
3 you have conversations with or communications 3 specific legislators that you met with or had
4 with about creating that sort of plan? 4 conversations with about this?
5 A.  Congresswoman Sewell, Congressman 5 A. (Witness nods head.) Well, I got
6 Bachus, Congressman Brooks, Congressman 6 to know the Reapportionment Committee very
7 Rogers, Congresswoman Roby. 7 well. We had Senator Vivian Davis Figures
8 Q. It sounds like the Alabama 8 from Mobile. We had Representative Jamie Ison
9 delegation. You don't have to -- it's not a 9 from Mobile. We had -- Senator Gerald Dial
10 memory test, 10 was the chairman in the Senate or the
11 A. It's not a real interest to our 11 co-chairman, Representative Jim McClendon
12 senate colleagues because they didn't have to 12 who's now in the Senate was the co-chairman in
13 run in distract maps. 13 the House.
14 Q. Right. 14 We -- when -- when the map and
15 A.  So, but the seven members of 15 therefore the political lines that are going
16 Congress from Alabama worked closely together 16 to be determined by that are in the hand of
17 and supported each other and -- and -- and -- 17 the legislature, you work with the leadership
18 and were willing to work with the legislature 18 of the legislature, the bipartisan way. You
19 in a bipartisan way to produce a map that we 19 work with the -- you work with the committee,
20 believed would be constitutional, would meet 20 and that -- that's primarily who we spent most
21 the criteria, that would pass muster by the 21 of our time with because they were the ones
22 Department of Justice. This map did. And 22 who -- in whose responsibility this fell.
Page 86 Page 88
1 we -- we worked and our staffs worked to 1 Congresswoman Sewell also worked
2 support that effort. 2 with the Justice Department. The Attorney
3 Q.  So outside of the Alabama 3 General married a young lady from Mobile, and
4 Congressional Delegation, outside of your 4 so she and Attorney General Holder were good
5 staff, were there other individuals or 5 friends. She and President Obama and
6 entities that you worked with in the -- 6 Mrs. Obama were in school together, law school
7 A.  We worked with the Reapportionment 7 and undergraduate, I think she and Mrs. Obama
8 Committee of the Alabama Senate and House. 8 were in the same social sorority.
9 Q. Ub-huh, 9 So we all did what we could to
10 A.  And we worked with -- I'm sure -- 10 help get it through the legislative process
11 I--1--1--1don't know who the other 11 and then get it approved with the stamp of
12 members worked with, but we -- we worked as a 12 approval from the Justice Department.
13 cohesive group starting with us. 13 Q. Are you aware of any efforts to
14 We had meetings. And we would 14 create a second majority-minority district
15 come to Montgomery, and we would have lunch 15 during that redistricting cycle?
16 with members of the legislature, but we did 16 A. There have been conversations
17 that not just every ten years. We did that to 17 about that during that cycle and also
18 maintain relationships. 18 previously as well, There was a general
19 Some of them actually had served 19 consensus that if you were going to maintain
20 in the legislature prior to being elected to 20 the threshold of what some believe that you
21 Congress, so they had pre-existing 21 needed to have to guarantee a minority
22 relationships there. Idid not. I had never 22 district, then you would lower it such to try
Page 87 Page 89
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1 to create a second district that you may well 1 historic benefits to the service of the
2 risk having a minority representative in 2 constituents to keep the districts as they
3 Congress. 3 have been for several decades.
4 I believe it was 65 percent. And 4 Q. Were you supportive of creating a
5 I think you were going to lower it to create 5 second majority-minority or a significant
6 two, and it would be closer to 50 percent. 6 influence district?
7 Q. What about instead of an actual 7 A. Isaw no value in it because I was
8 majority-minority second district, what about 8 very confident that I was serving the people
9 like an influence district just where, you ° of my district regardless of their racial
10 know, the population -- the African- American 10 background, their socioeconomic background,
11 population would be higher but maybe not 11 their political views, their -- or -- or other
12 actually up to whatever threshold the 12 issues that -- that were at play.
13 legislature considered necessary to be a 13 Q. To the -- to the best of your
14 effective majority-minority district? 14 recollection, were there any plans that you
15 A. Twas aware of -- look, you have 15 remember that did propose having a second
16 35 state senators, and you have 105 state 16 majority-minority or a significant influence
17 house members, Many of whom their motivation 17 district?
18 for drawing district lines are their own 18 A. 1--Tremember seeing -- and I
19 political interests. 19 can't tell you whether it was the 2010 or the
20 So you would be talking to 20 2000 redistricting, but I remember seeing a
21 Representative A or Senator B, and you may 21 plan similar to this that would have gone
22 well be talking to someone who was trying to 22 under Mobile Bay.
Page 90 Page 92
1 draw a district for their political 1 There was actually a question
2 aspirations as well, So there were a lot of 2 about whether that would make that contiguous
3 different dynamics at play here. 3 or not, We'd go all the way over to Dothan,
4 But -- and I don't -- and I'm not 4 I saw one that even went all the way up to
5 speaking for anyone else in the delegation, 5 Auburn in Lee County. And then the other part
6 but I don't believe that anyone in the 6 of Mobile that would go all the way up to
7 delegation believed that the creation of a 7 Pickens and Tuscaloosa.
8 second minority district or a -- a significant 8 And having been a student at the
s influence district was something that -- that 5 University of Alabama and having had children
10 was given any real encouragement by any 10 who attended the University of Alabama --
11 members of our delegation, Democrat or 1 Q. Uh-huh,
12 Republican. 12 A. - 1knew how hard it was to get
i3 Q. When you say "the delegation," you 13 to Tuscaloosa. There's no four-lane road
14 mean the -- the seven -- 14 there anymore than there's a four-lane road
15 A. Federal. Uh-huh. 15 from Mobile to Dothan.
16 Q. -- congressman -- congressmen and 16 So I -- I heard that there were
17 women? 17 legislators that were talking about that, but
18 Why -- why do you think that 18 I didn't spend a lot of time encouraging that,
15 wasn't -- 19 and therefore, I didn't spend any time with
20 A.  Well, you'd have to ask the other 20 those legislators. But -~ but keep in mind,
21 six members who were in at the time, but I 21 other legislators, other members of Congress
22 22 from the delegation were similarly looking

think everyone believed that there were

Page 91
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1 after what was the district that they knew 1 second majority-minority or influence district
2 best, and the one that they had worked in and 2 not created in the last plan in 20117
3 had run in and been successful in, 3 A, Well, I can't really speak for the
4 Q. Do you recall having any 4 mindset of 140 legislators,
5 conversations or discussions or other 5 Q. Ofcourse. In-- in your -- in
6 communications about why you didn't 6 your view,
7 encourage -- I think you said encourage -- a 7 A.  I--1--TIreally don't know that
8 second majority-minority or a significant 8 I'm qualified to answer that,
9 influence district? 9 Q. That -- that's perfectly fine.
10 A. I--Ihad no reason to encourage 10 And can you -~ can you recall any
11 creating a second minority district that would 11 communications that you had with anybody,
12 have, in my view, been detrimental to my 12 conversations or written or in some of the,
13 district and to the service that my staff and 13 you know, your delegation meetings --
14 I were rendering, 14 A, Well -
15 We had an outstanding reputation 15 Q. -~ any conversations about
16 for serving people without regard to their 16 creating that or why it shouldn't be created
17 political views, their -- [ mean, we did not 17 or should be?
18 have a litmus test. If you called my office 18 A. I--Treally and truly can't
15 and you needed help, you got help. 18 recall that the delegation -- when we met to
20 And the proof of that is, is that 20 talk about the redistricting process, I really
21 I'won -- I -- I won five of the six counties 21 can't recall that we spent a lot of time
22 in my first race, and I won all six counties 22 talking about all the different scenarios that
Page 94 Page 96
1 in every subsequent race and with a couple 1 were out there,
2 times running unopposed. If I were not doing 2 Our goal was to work cohesively to
3 a good job, I would have drawn an opponent, 3 represent the state, to keep as much
4 Q. Uh-huh. Did you ever speak with 4 disruption to a minimum as possible, and to
5 any constituents or anyone in your district 5 show, as we tried to show with our daily
6 about the potential to have a second 6 service, that regardless of -- of which party
7 majority-minority district or -- 7 we represented, that we represent the same
8 A. No one ever contacted me that I 8 state. And that we work together for the good
9 can recall saying that they felt that they 9 of the people of Alabama.
10 needed a second minority district to be better 10 Q. Soit sounds like you don't recall
11 represented. I'm not saying that there were 1 any conversations then within the delegation
12 not people who might have thought that. 12 about the potential for creating a second
13 But when I went to town hall 13 majority-minority or influence district?
14 meetings in Prichard or in Trinity Gardens or 14 A. T--TI--Tcan'tsay
15 in other communities throughout the district, 15 categorically there were none -- there were
16 I -- I can't recall -- and again, I said I had 16 not any. I don't recall any at this moment,
17 450, so I'm not saying they were all 17 no.
18 lovefests, but I can't recall anyone ever 18 Q. What about conversations or
19 coming and saying that they wished that they 19 communications outside of the delegation? Do
20 were in a different district and had a 20 you recall any of those?
21 different congressman, 21 A. No, because we didn't come to
22 Q. Inyour view, why -- why was a 22 Montgomery to work with the state legislature
Page 95 Page 97
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1 with the goal of looking at options and 1 Bachus, And it was adjusted to where it would
2 creating a different map. We all believed 2 be Congressman Aderholt. And -- but -- but
3 that we were serving -- I said with confidence 3 for the greater good of serving the state,

4 that I felt like I was serving the people of 4 there was -- it -- it -- it was not that big

5 my district. 5 of an adjustment to where it created any

6 I -- T think that every member of 6 tension within the delegation.

7 the delegation would have said the same thing. 7 Q. So to the -- the best of your

8 Without being cocky, just with -- just 8 recollection, were there any, I guess,

5 confidence that we were doing the best we 9 disagreements between what the legislature had
10 could to represent the people of our 10 proposed and what the Alabama delegation had
11 districts, 1 wanted?

12 Q. Understood. 12 A. Once the legislature made its map
13 Did -- in terms of the delegation, 13 final, we all got on board trying to support
14 did you -- was it your position then that you 14 getting it cleared by the Justice Department
15 should keep the districts the way that they 15 and put into place so that we could know what
16 were, or did you have a plan that you 16 districts we would be running in and begin
17 proposed -- 17 that process.
18 A, We-- 18 Ten years earlier, it was a much
19 Q. --aphysical plan that you 19 more challenging effort. The governor
20 proposed? 20 actually called, I think, two or three special
21 A,  We knew we would have to make 21 sessions to deal with redistricting, A
22 adjustments based on population. 22 federal court had gotten involved.
Page 98 Page 100

1 Q. Uh-huh, 1 And I was working as a staffer at

2 A.  Aund -- and we agreed that we would 2 the time, but there was a concern that we may

3 make adjustments based on that. And quite 3 not even have maps in place for the members to

4 frankly, some members ended up getting -- in 4 run in. So contrast that experience with this

5 the final plan, some members ended up getting 5 where we were working with the legislature

6 counties that they had not sought. But that 6 that was trying to keep the districts as close

7 was what, in the wisdom of the legislature, 7 as to what they had been historically in

8 needed to be done to accomplish the goal of 8 recent history, we -- we -- we chose not to

o the map. 9 disagree over little things,

10 Q. Sodid the delegation present a 10 Q. Understood,

1 map that they wanted, or was there a o Ms. MADDURI: I think -- do you --

12 physical -- you know, like a proposed map from 12 would you want to take a break? We've been

13 the delegation? 13 going for a little while. Ihave some --Ido

14 A. I--Ibelieve we had an agreed 14 have some questions about the previous

15 upon. I can't tell you that we produced a map 15 redistricting too.

16 or that a map was submitted. It could have 16 MR. DAVIS: Sure. This is a fine

17 been. Ireally don't recall. We -- we ended 17 time.

18 up agreeing that we would take what the 18 MS. MADDURL: This might be a good
19 legislature did and not challenge that. 19 time to -

20 But, for instance, the northern 20 THE WITNESS: Sure,

21 part of Tuscaloosa County in the previous 21 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This ends MPEG
22 redistricting was represented by Congressman 22 two in the continued deposition of Josiah

Page 99
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“it's one of the hallmarks of what makes this

advantage of being a member who came from the
legislature like Congressman Rogers did is, is
that you have those preexisting friendships.
You have those preexisting relationships. But
-- but -~ but we worked closely.

Walter Braswell was Congressman
Harris' Chief of Staff. Tom Bevill was
represented by Don Smith. You have to
understand a small delegation like ours has a
very special relationship. The chiefs of
staffs meet every month and have lunch as do
the members.

I can tell you of very few
congressional delegations that meet monthly,
Democrat and Republican, House and Senate, and .
talk about what we can do to -- to serve
Alabama as well as the Alabama delegation
does. And that has historically been the
case, and it continues to be the case. And

delegation so effective.
You look at Alabama's nine person

Page 104

7/30/2019
1 Bonner. We are off the record at 11:08,
2 (A recess was taken.)
3 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This begins
4 MPEG three in the continued deposition of
5 Josiah Bonner. We are on the record at 11:22,
6 Q. (By Ms. Madduri) So before the
7 break, I think we were going to start talking
8 about the previous cycle of redistricting.
9 What was your -- what was your role in that?
10 A. I 'was Chief of Staff for
11 Congressman Callahan, And just as when I was
12 in Congress and sent my staff down, I went
13 down on behalf of Congressman Callahan, and I
14 was there with the other Chiefs of Staff from
15 the other members of Congress.
16 And it was basically the same
17 thing, to work with the legislature to try to
18 get a plan that was as close to what we had
19 knowing that there would have to be some
20 adjustments made for population shift.
21 Q. Do you remember, just roughly, how
22 many times did you meet or have conversations
Page 102
1 about this with the other Chiefs of Staff and
2. the delegation?
3 A. Frequently. And by that, I would
4 say that leading up to the redistricting year,
5 you know, we would meet probably -- it's been
6 20 years. It's been longer than that, but
7 we -- we would've met between five and ten
8 times.
9 Q. And that's the delegation?
10 A. Uh-huh. Yes, ma'am.
11 Q. Okay. And what about
12 representatives of the legislature?
13 A.  So Congressman Callahan had served
14 in the legislature, and Congressman Bevill was
15 the senior member of Congress at the time.
16 No. That would have been in the '90,
17 " So in the 2000, Sonny may have
18 been the only -- and -- and Spencer Bachus, I
19 think were the only two members that had
20 previously served in legislature.
21 So the advantage of working for a
22 member who's been in the legislature or the
Page 103
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delegation compared to Texas or California or
New York or Florida, and they can't sometimes
agree on what the state colors are much less

on how they can work together for the good of
the state.

Q. So you all met maybe five to ten
times, you said, prior to that redistricting.
What about with the legislature or legislature
representatives?

A.  We--we -- we would come -- of
those -- and five or ten is certainly a guess,
but of the times that we met, most of those
meetings were in Washington. And then once
the legislature started coming into session
and they started to focus on that, we worked
closely with the governor who is a Democrat.

We worked closely with the Speaker
of the House who was a Democrat. We worked
closely with the Lieutenant Governor and the
Senate and the House leadership. And back in
the 2000 census as opposed to the 2000 -- or
the redistricting as opposed to the 2010, it

Page 105
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didn't really have as much of an impact
because this is where you get parochial.

You -- you focus on your district,
and then it's like putting a puzzle together.
You see how your district's going to fit with
this district and that district. So our focus
was on trying to preserve the integrity of the
1st congressional district, which is what we
did.

Q. Were any changes made to the 1st
congressional district in order to create that
majority-minority district?

A. Well, in the 1990 census, we lost
Wilcox County, and then in the 2000 census, we
lost a part of Clarke County.

Q. Was that something that you -- I
guess, first with Wilcox County, the loss of
Wilcox County, was that something that you
opposed or supported or how -- how was that?

A.  Well, I was a relatively young
staffer, and so I didn't really have a -- a
vote, if you will. They needed to make the

Page 108
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1 was a Democrat majority in the legislature.
2 Q. Within the congressional
3 delegation, were there -- did you all have
4 sort of a unified view on what should be done
5 with the redistricting? Were there any
6 conflicting views or disagreements within the
7 delegation?
8 A, We were consistent as we were ten
9 years later. We -- we tried to work
10 cohesively to help the legislature draw a map
1 that would not disrupt the service to the
12 state but would, in fact, allow its continuity
13 to continue,
14 Q. And were there any conflicts or
15 disagreement between what the legislature
16 wanted to do with the map versus what the
17 congressional delegation wanted to do?
18 A. Ibelieve that it was about that
13 time that some in the legislature wanted to
20 create a minority-majority district, and that
21 was creating some tension within the Democrat
22 members of the delegation, but it was not
Page 106
1 something that we felt -- that Congressman
2 Callahan felt that he needed to get involved
3 in because he was going to work with the
4 delegation regardless.
5 Q. And was that the creation -- what
6 ultimately was the creation of congressional
7 district 7?
8 A, Yes, ma'am.
9 Q. Okay. Did you or you on behalf of
10 congressional -- Congressman Callahan have any
1 views about whether that district should or
12 shouldn't be created?
13 A. Not that I recall. ‘
14 Q. Do you remember any conversations
15 about --
16 A. (Witness shakes head.)
17 Q.  -- the creation of that --
18 A. No, ma'am, I really don't.
19 Q. Do you recall if you were
20 supportive of creating that district?
21 A.  Well, my role was really to focus
22

on the 1st congressional district, and it

Page 107

adjustments. As I recall, the -- the map that
was drawn that resulted in the loss from
Wilcox County I think was actually drawn by a
three-judge panel, I believe.

So we -- we were not -- my ties to
Wilcox County were personal. They were not
the congressman's ties. He was from Mobile,
and he wanted to make certain that the
district remained as intact from Mobile and
Baldwin Counties as possible, and therefore
that was my objective too.

Q. Do you recall any conversations or
communications about the drawing of the map by
that three-judge panel in relation to the 1990
redistricting?

A. Iremember that the legislature
was not able to draw a map, and we needed a
map. And it went to a three-judge panel, and
the map they produced was one that the members
of Congress all -- I mean, if a three-judge
panel makes the decision, it - it's hard to
go back in and ask them if they'll make some
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primary for all practical purposes served as
tantamount to the general election because if
you got the Democrat nomination, as was true
in Alabama for many years, you basically had
been elected. The general election was just a
formality.

Q. So[ think I might have asked you
this, but I'm misremembering, so I want to
make sure I understood what you said.

Do you -- were you supportive of
creating that majority-minority district?

A. Asayoung Hill staffer, no one
really asked me whether I supported it or not.
The -- the members of the delegation, though,
agreed to work with -- through the differences
of opinion.

Congressman Harris is deceased.
He died of cancer, so he would not be here to
speak for himself. And I'm certainly not
qualified to speak for him, but my
recollection -~ his Chief of Staff and I were
good friends. It was Walter Braswell. He has

Page 112
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1 changes to it to make you a little bit
2 happiet. So we -- we took it, and we were --
3 we did the best we could to serve it.
4 Q. Butdo you remember having any
5 conversations or communications about just the
6 views on what they had done?
7 A. Sonow we're going back to --
8 Q. We're going back to 1990.
9 A.  --'90. I--Tdon't recall any
10 conversations,
11 Q. And when that map was redrawn,
12 the -- the majority-minority district was not
13 created, correct?
14 A. I--Tbelieve that's correct.
15 I'd have to look at the map to see, but I
16 believe that that's correct.
17 Q. Okay. I think you mentioned that
18 the redistricting process in relation to the
19 2000 census was contentious. Can you talk a
20 little bit about what you mean -- meant by
21 that?
22 A. Well, Congressman Harris believed
Page 110
1 that he served the people of the 7th district
2 well. And he -- T think most of the members
3 of -- of the delegation believed that he did
4 and most of the people in his district did
5 because he was re-elected several times.
6 But when the decision was made to
7 create the district, President Clinton was in
8 office, and I guess to soften the blow, if you
9 will, Congressman Harris was made U.S.
10 Attorney.
11 So he was no longer going to be
12 afforded the opportunity to be -- I mean, I'm
13 not saying he couldn't have gotten elected.
14 He was very popular. But the district was
15 created to create a majority-minority
16 district.
17 And I don't - I don't know that
18 many people could have gotten elected in that
19 district other than a minority member who was
20 Congressman Earl Hilliard -- then State
21 Senator Earl Hilliard.
22 I mean, he had a primary, but the
Page 111
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passed away as well. So there's no one who
can dispute what I'm about to say.

But I think that they personally
believed -- they were Democrats, conservative
Democrats, but they served that district with
integrity and with professionalism and to the
best of their ability. And I think in their
view, they -- they believed they could have
continued to serve the district.

But the political decision of
creating the majority-minority district was
made, and the reality was that that district
was not drawn with the intent to keep a white
Democrat in that seat. That's not unusual
with other districts around the country where
those decisions are made by their legislators
as well,

Q. Right. So when you say the
decision was made, you're referring to the
Alabama legislature's decision?

A. (Witness nods head.)

Q. And-

Page 113
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1 A. Yes, ma'am. 1 subsequent meetings with the legislature?
2 Q.  Oh, thank you. 2 A.  Yes. And when ] answered the
3 And T -- I realize - I realize 3 question about five to ten meetings, I could
4 that -- I believe you were Chief of Staff at 4 not swear under oath that there were five or
5 that point, correct? 5 ten.
6 A. In1990,1 was, yes. 6 Q. Absolutely.
7 Q. Right. Okay. Orsorry -- in 7 A.  AllLknow is, is that we
8 2000. 8 worked -- as I said, we -- we had monthly
9 A, 2000. & meetings as the Chiefs of Staff, The
10 Q. Inthe --in the -- in the cycle 10 delegation had monthly meetings. And sol
11 where the majority-minority was -- district 1 don't know how many meetings we had, but how
12 was created which is in 2000, correct? 12 ever many meetings we had that were focused on
13 A,  Well, I was Chief of Staff'in 1990 13 redistricting, the goal was to try to work
14 and Chief of Staff in 2000. If you've got the 14 together for the good of the state,
15 maps, we can look at and I can show you. 15 Q. Understood.
16 Q. Tactually don't think T have that 16 To the best of your recollection,
17 map, but I just want to clarify. 17 was there any -- anyone that you were aware of
18 A. I--Twas Chief of Staff in 1990, 18 related to the Alabama Congressional
13 and I was Chief of Staff in 2000. 19 Delegation that was opposed to creating that
20 Q. Correct. And I might be 20 majority-minority district?
21 misunderstanding, but I thought the -- I 21 A. Idon't believe there was anyone
22 thought you said that the majority-minority 22 who was opposed to that I can recall,
Page 114 Page 116
1 district, CD 7, was created in the 2000 -- 1 Congressman Harris didn't see the need for it.
2 following the 2000 census? 2 But -- but that was -- but that was his view,
3 A. No. It would have been created in 3 and it was not shared by the people who made
4 1990 -- 4 that decision.
5 Q. Okay. 5 Q. Did you have any concemns with the
6 A. - following that because 6 creation of that district --
7 President Clinton was in office during the 7 A T--
8 time that Congressman Harris became U.S. 8 Q. -- the majority-minority district?
° Attorney. And he was in office -- he was S A, T--Ireally did nothave any
10 elected in the '92 election and served until 10 concerns because my focus was on the 1st
11 2000. 11 congressional district.
12 So it would have been in the 1990 12 Q. Do you recall if Representative
13 census that resulted in the redraw of the maps 13 Callahan had any --
14 that created the minority -- majority-minority 14 A. No.
15 district. 15 Q. --concerns with creating that
16 Q. Understood. Understood. 16 district?
17 A. Iwasayoung Chief of Staff. 12, 17 A. None that I can recall.
18 Q. Understood. 18 Q. Do you recall any communications
18 And just to make sure I have this 19 with anyone that you had where they were
20 straight, so then was that the cycle where you 20 concerned or opposed to creating that
21 said there were five to ten meetings of the 21 majority-minority district?
22 22 A. I--Treally don't remember that

Alabama Congressional Delegation and
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1 it was a -- a -- an issue for the delegation 1 led to that?
2 other than Congressman Harris, And I don't 2 A. I'msorry. Idon.
3 recall that it was even that controversial in 3 Q. No, that's fine. What is the --
4 the legislature. But again, that's been 4 the Alabama Fair Reapportionment Fund?
5 37 years ago, 39 years ago. It's been a few 5 A. Canyou tell me a little bit more
6 years, 6 about it?
7 Q. Understood. 7 Q.  Well, I actually don't know that
8 And just so I'm clear though. 8 much about it.
9 There was a -- some kind of litigation that S A.  Okay.
10 followed that map being created with the 10 Q.  SoI was hoping that you would
11 three-judge panel that you mentioned? 11 tell me about it
12 A. Inthe 19907 12 MR. DAVIS: Did you say Alabama
13 Q. Right. SoI believe that map was 13 Fair Reapportionment Fund?
14 adopted in around 1992 because -- 14 MS. MADDURI: Correct.
15 A I-- 15 A, T'm--I'msorry. I--1don't
16 Q. --Clinton was in office? 16 recognize that name.
17 A. That -~ that would sound about 17 Q. (By Ms. Madduri) Let me see. I
18 right. . 18 do have an article that mentions it, so I can
19 Q. Okay. So was there litigation 19 give you that in case it helps trigger.
20 that you're aware of relating to that map 20 MS. MADDURI: We can mark it. 1
21 after that, so sometime in the early or 21 think we'll be at Exhibit 9.
22 mid-1990s? 22 (Bonner Exhibit 9 was
Page 118 Page 120
1 A. Ireally don't recall whether 1 marked for identification.)
2 there was litigation. As a result of the map, 2 MR. WALKER: Are we going to mark
3 I remember that the legislature failed to do 5 this?
4 its job, and the federal courts made the 4 MS. MADDURI: Yes. It's going to
5 decision to draw the map. 5 be Exhibit 9.
6 Q. When you say failed to do their 6 Q. (By Ms. Madduri) And feel free to
7 job, what do you mean? 7 review the article. I believe you're quoted
8 A. The legislature in Alabama, as I 8 on the first page of that document.
9 think in most states, is charged the ® A. Tam. Ihave not seen this ina
10 responsibility of redrawing every ten years 10 long time so...
11 based on a new census. 11 Q. AndTIknow it's been a long time,
12 And as I recall, the legislature 12 so I apologize for asking you to think back so
13 was unable to agree on a plan, and if they 13 far.
14 couldn't do it, the federal courts made the 14 A. Okay. So this fund, based on this
15 decision that they could. Someone had to. 15 newspaper article, and now jogging my memory,
16 Q. Okay. So the legislature was 16 was established by the seven members of the
17 unable to create a map at all? 17 congressional delegation. And it appears that
18 A. That -- that's my recollection. 18 all seven of them supported it.
15 Q. Okay. Do you recall what were the 19 I cannot answer whether all seven
20 main -- 20 of them financially contributed to it, but it
21 A. Idon't 21 addresses something we talked about earlier.
22 Q. --disagreements or what issues 22 So this was dealing with the 2001
Page 119 Page 121
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1 redistricting effort, but ten years earlier 1 appears Dr, Reed wanted two minority
z when the federal courts drew this, the -- each 2 districts, Congressman Hilliard as the
3 congressional office has what is called a 3 Democrat -- he was not the only Democrat -- he
4 members representational account, an MRA. 4 was not the only Democrat in delegation, but
5 That's the money -- it's like your 5 he was the only minority Democrat in the
6 budget -- that you have to hire your staff, to 6 delegation -- was not supportive of that
7 set up a district office, to pay for telephone 7 effort to create two minority districts
8 services, newspaper subscription services, and 8 because he didn't think the courts would
9 things like that. The law is clear that you 9 actually support that,
10 cannot use your congressional budget for 10 That's what I -- that's my
1 reapportionment purposes, 1 interpretation of this. And I'm sorry that
12 So as is noted in this article, 12 when you asked about the account, it -- it was
13 which has been entered as an exhibit, this 13 not a name I was familiar with. ButIdo
14 article states -- and I would have no reason 14 recall it now,
15 to dispute -- that Congressman Callahan 15 Q. Okay. So you mentioned, as this
16 actually had to spend $250,000 from his 16 article says, that Representative Callahan had
17 campaign fund ten years earlier to - in 17 to spend $250,000 from his campaign fund ten
18 federal court in legal fees to support getting 18 years ago to challenge Reed's plan?
19 a plan, a map, a redistricting plan that would 19 A. Right.
20 in fact allow him to continue to work, run in 20 Q. Okay. So inReed's plan that this
21 a district that is close to what it looks like 21 is referring to, it's your understanding that
22 today. 22 that had two majority-minority districts?
Page 122 Page 124
1 So the members, proactively trying 1 A. 1didn't really recall that he was
2 to avoid a repeat of what happened ten years 2 pushing that in 1990, but I don't dispute if
3 ago, agreed to support a plan that we went to 3 that's the case, We would certainly be able
4 the legislature and encouraged them to 4 to -- to factually determine that. 1do
5 consider. And it was a plan that called for 5 recall that there has been discussion for some
6 keeping the districts as opposed to the plan 6 time about creating two minority -- two
7 that at that time Dr. Joe Reed, who is 7 majority-minority districts, but the challenge
8 chairman of the Alabama Democratic Conference, 8 was always going to be whether it would
9 was pushing, which was to create a second 9 actually pass muster with the Civil Rights
10 minority district. 10 Division and the Department of Justice.
11 But in this article, it says, it 11 Q. Do you recall what Representative
12 quotes Congressman Hilliard who was the first 12 Callahan was unsupportive of in Reed's plan?
13 Aftican-American member of the delegation 13 A.  Well, it would have created --
14 since reconstruction to say that -- Hilliard 14 it -- it would have divided Mobile and Baldwin
15 says he knows of no plans to try to create the 15 Counties, and it would have destroyed the 1st
16 second majority black district because the 16 congressional district as it had existed and
17 changes that would require like -- because the 17 as he served.
18 changes that would require likely wouldn't be 18 I don't recall the specifics from
19 approved by the courts. 13 that. Twould have to go back, but the court
20 So you have to keep in mind it was 20 records would show the different maps that
21 a different Justice Department. It was a 21 were introduced at that time as evidence.
22 22

different time, and at that time, while it

Page 123

Q. Do you recall this letter that

Page 125

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com

Digital Evidence Group C'rt 2019

Pages 122 to 125
202-232-0646

_,-””'\ PN



Case 2:21-cv-01291-AMM Document 167-5 Filed 08/08/23 Page 33 of 76

Josiah Bonner

7/30/2019 Chestnut, et al., v. John H. Merrill
1 this article was referencing which was 1 . It'salot of money today.
2 signed -- the article says was signed by 2 But today, that would -- back
3 Representative Callahan? 3 then, that was a significant amount of money
4 A. I--Irecall it now. 4 that was used from the campaign, which was a
5 Q. Well, no. That's fine. I mean, 5 legal use of the money, but I think
6 it was a long time ago. I'm -- 6 Congressman Callahan was not alone in
7 A. 1don'trecall the verbiage of the 7 believing that -- other members of Congress
8 letter. I don't recall the ask, but I'm sure 8 were spending money as well in that court
9 it was raising money. I mean, it says it was 9 defending their districts.
10 a fund raising fund to try to raise money in a 10 So he believed it was better to
11 legal way to try to get the legislature to 1 raise the money through this account than to
12 deal with the redistricting effort that the 12 have to take money out of your campaign
13 legislature ten years earlier had failed to be 13 account.
4 able to do. 14 Q. Have you ever been involved in
15 Q. Soin connection with the 2000 15 raising money for that fund to the best of
16 census in that redistricting, is it correct 16 your recollection?
17 that Congressman Callahan did not support a 17 A. Asacongressional staffer, I
18 second majority-minority district being drawn 18 would have been restricted in raising money
19 at that time? 19 for any type of political activity. Each
20 A. I--Twould respectfully dispute 20 House member has the opportunity to name one
21 that description. I don't recall Congressman 21 staff member as their political liaison, if
22 Callahan ever sharing with me his opinion 22 you will, who can be a spokesman or who can
Page 126 Page 128
1 about the pros or cons of creating a second 1 coordinate with the campaign activities,
2 majority-minority district. 2 I had that role when I was his
3 His focus was self-serving. It 3 Chief of Staff. So I had that in 1990 and I
4 was to keep the congressional district that he 4 had it in 2000. I did not have it when he was
5 had. And quite frankly, so was the view of 5 first elected in 1984,
6 the other six members of Congress. If you've 6 Q. Soin that role or otherwise, had
7 got something that works, why would you lead 7 you ever been involved in fundraising for that
8 the effort to change it? 8 fund?
9 Q. Do you recall who was involved S A. Not that I recall.
10 with managing that fund, the Alabama Fair 10 Q. Do you recall who the primary
11 Reapportionment Fund? 11 sources of funding for that -- for the fund
12 A. Well, this article says -- and so 12 were?
13 therefore I will have to take it on face 13 A, Probably the same companies and
14 value; I guess this is before fake news was 14 individuals. I don't know whether they could
15 created -- that it was -- that the money was 15 take company -- the corporate money or not.
16 raised and the address was the Alabama e I -- so I shouldn't say companies. But we --
17 Republican Party. 17 look, in Alabama and probably in most states,
18 But keep in mind, we did not have 18 it's the same people that get asked to write
19 the ability to use congressional money for 18 the campaign contributions to both parties, to
20 this. We had already -- ten years eatlier, 20 both candidates,
21 we -- the Callahan campaign had spent 2t So my guess is, is that if you
22 $250,000, which was a lot more money then. 22 look at an FEC report today and you look at
Page 127 Page 129
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1 one in -- in 2000 when this fund was created, 1 showed in 1950, I was born in 1959. So that
2 you would see the same type of groups and 2 predates my knowledge.
3 entities and people who were involved in the 3 Q. To the best of your recollection,
4 political process. 4 were funds -- was that fund ever used to --
5 It may be a different person, but 5 whether it's lobby against or argue against -
6 it would be who -~ the person who was in 6 A. No.
7 charge of -- the president of the Farmers 7 Q.  --the creation of a second
8 Federation, the president of the power 8 majority-minority district?
9 company, or the president of the -- this group 9 A.  That was never the goal. The goal
10 or that group, the business community, 10 was to keep the districts as close to what
11 They all have been -- they've -- 11 they were. And it really was not -- I mean,
t2 they've grown exponentially over the years, 12 look, we -- we had -- in the 2010
13 but they are the ones who traditionally 13 redistricting effort, we had the first
14 support both Democrats and Republicans. 14 African-American president.
15 Q. And what was your understanding of 15 We had, I believe, the first
16 the purpose or the goal of that fund? 16 African-American Attorney General, and I had a
17 A.  To try to get the legislature to 17 very good working relationship with General
18 approve a map that would avoid us going to 18 Holder, And to the extent any congressman has
19 another lengthy and expensive federal court 19 a good working relationship with the White
20 proceeding and to try to keep the district 20 House, I had a good working relationship with
21 maps as closely aligned as they had been 21 White House.
22 during the previous decade for the upcoming 22 On my last day in office, General
Page 130 Page 132
1 decade. 1 Holder called to tell me what -- he was very
2 Q. And did you work with this same 2 complimentary and said that it would -- he was
3 fund when you became the congressman? 3 sad to see me leave, but he was wishing me
4 A. TIdon't think we called it that, 4 best wishes.
5 I don't even know that we -- T don't know what 5 But it was his Justice Department
6 the name of that fund was, but we all chipped 6 that stamped approved when this map came down.
7 in and raised -- we -- we all -- when I - 7 And when we were working in the 2010
8 Congressman Bonner followed the leadership of 8 redistricting effort to get the map we
9 Congressman Callahan, 9 currently have as we had previously, we were
10 And when it was time for us to 10 working in the same spirit that it existed for
11 work with the legislature in 2010, we all, all 11 the last 40 years.
12 seven members, Democrat and Republican, 12 And it -- it -- it's hard to
13 donated money to try to help the legislature 13 describe that in a transcript, but it was a
14 draw a map that was as close to the one as the 14 spirit of collegiality. It was a spirit of
15 one we had. We did not to my -- I don't 15 comtnon service to the state. It was a spirit
18 recall whether we actually introduced a map, 16 of -- of making sure that the 4.8 million
17 but Congresswoman Sewell, Congressman Bachus, 17 people that lived in our state, regardless of
18 Congressman Rogers, Congresswoman -- now I'm 18 the skin tone that they had or the accent that
19 talking about the 2010. 19 they had or the conditions that they grew up
20 We -- we all agreed to try to work 20 in, that -- that they were well served and
21 together as we had previously for the last -- 21 served well and with integrity.
22 Q. Isit your general understanding

22

as long as I've been around. The map you
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Q. Do you think there are any people
in Alabama, your constituents, whether in the
overall state or in congressional district 1
who would have benefited from having a second
majority-minority district in Alabama?

A. T--1don't know how they could
have. When I received the NAACP award as the
champion in 2009, they didn't put an asterisk
on it. When I got the very first earmark,
back when we could do earmarks, was for
Pritchard, Alabama because the mayor and the
council had had such a long-running dispute
that they wouldn't even agree to pay the
firefighters.

And they didn't even have enough
money to put gas in the fire trucks., Andsol
got a grant -- a -- an earmark for Pritchard
to get an expanded water service so that the
fire hydrants could actually work, and we
could put money in the fire trucks so that if
someone's house caught on fire that it would
be put out.

Page 136

7/30/2019
1 that to -- if a second majority-minority
2 district was to be created, that would
3 necessarily require changing sort of these
4 historical districts that you've been
5 describing all morning?
6 A.  Well, I've never seen a map that I
7 can recall that could create a second
8 majority-minority map that would not
5 substantially alter the integrity of the 1st
10 congressional district. None of the maps that
11 you introduced as exhibits today do that.
12 And as I said, I remember seeing
13 maps that legislators were talking about in
14 previous efforts that would take part of
15 Mobile and run it up to -- there -- there is
16 no four-lane highway from Mobile to -- to
17 Sumter County or to Greene County or to
18 Pickens County. You're going to be going on
15 two-lane farm-to-market roads in a lot of
20 that,
21 Or that would take it under the
22 bay. And one of the maps in this 2000
Page 134
1 redistrict that Dr. Reed pushed actually
2 circled Congressman Callahan's home on Dog
3 River. It circled it. The house across the
4 street wasn't -- it was going to be in the
5 Mobile district.
6 Congressman Callahan's house was
7 drawn to Dog River underneath Mobile Bay all
8 the way over to Dothan, and I think it -- it
9 may not have gone to Auburn in Lee County. It
10 went up to Russell County.
11 And so that offended the census
12 that -- you talk about gerrymandering, That
13 was the ultimate where someone was going to
14 take him -- he would have not even been able
15 to drive out of his driveway, he would have
16 been in another congressional district.
17 So you can't expect that he was
18 excited about that. But we have never
19 supported doing anything that would destroy
20 the integrity of -- of not only our district,
21 but really of the -- of the districts that
22 have well served this state.
Page 135

v oo N U s W N R

NONON s B s s
N P o v ®aaoe s W N = O

I didn't carry Prichard in the
ballot boxes. I don't know that I ever
carried Prichard in the ballot boxes. I got
more and more votes each time. Prichard was a
majority-minority city, but I served the
people of Prichard with all my heart.

And that's why I can't imagine why
anybody would have ever wanted -- someone
might have wanted a Democrat because there
were Democrats that didn't vote for me. But 1
never gave anyone reason to believe that they
were not being well served because I was
Caucasian and they were not. _

Q. Were there any issues or needs
that you saw or were told about from your
African-American constituents that were
different than other white constituents in
your district?

A. Well, sure. The African-American
constituents asked for me to help them get
recognition for Africatown, which I did. That
was probably not something that other -- 1
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1 mean, that wasn't even something that 1 of the services. When I was standing in
2 residents in any other counties were 2 Howard Johnson, Jr.'s bedroom with his three
3 interested in, Africatown was the site of the 3 sisters and his mother and father -- he was
4 last slave ship to actually land, the 4 the first soldier killed from Alabama -- I
5 Clotilda. They just recently found it. 5 wasn't standing in a black man's bedroom.
6 But -- but -- but that's somewhat 6 1 was standing in an American
7 of a -- I mean, I think you can go to any 1 hero's bedroom. And when the father asked me
8 demographic group. You can go to a -- a group 8 to preach -- he's a minister -- asked me to
o of soccer players and their focus is on soccer 9 moderate, to MC the funeral that was on
10 fields, You can go to a group that focuses on 10 national TV, it was after [ had said, Reverend
11 ballet or on some other activity, and they're 11 Johnson, whatever you need me to do, I will
12 interested in that, 12 do.
13 And so -- but -- but when the 13 And until the day he died several
14 African-American constituents that I worked 14 years later, we remained extremely close. And
15 for and represented asked for my help, to the 15 1 would be heartsick to think that anyone in
16 best of my ability, we helped them., 16 his family believed that I wasn't doing
17 Q. Do you recall any examples of what 17 everything in my power as a human being to
18 African-American constituents asked you for 18 serve them well in their time of grief.
13 that you were able to help them on aside from 19 Q. That's really sad, but it sounds
20 the -- 20 like you did a --
21 A. No. 21 A, Well, it's just -- it's just the
22 Q. -~ Africatown? 22 way we did things,
Page 138 Page 140
1 A. They needed help with the water 1 Q. Uh-huh,
2 pressure and the firehoses in Prichard, and -- 2 A. Andwe did it with the -- with the
3 and we helped, There would have been times 3 25 other families as well. Thank goodness
4 where there -- there were applications for 4 they didn't all ask me to lead a funeral
5 public transportation grants. We -- we 5 service, but -- but, you know, when you're
6 provided those letters of support. 6 standing there and you're looking at the
7 There are other examples of where 7 trophies and the blue ribbons -- I mean, he
8 the particular neighborhood -- or a -- a good 8 was an all-star athlete, and he answered his
9 friend of mine who I served with in the 9 country's service, And he was killed in the
10 leadership Mobile class was from the Trinity 10 early days of the war in Iraq.
11 Gardens area. Trinity Gardens is a majority 1i And my wife baked a pound cake,
12 African-American section of Mobile. 12 and I went into to see the family whom I had
13 She -- there had been some 13 never met before. But that's the kind of
14 shootings. Her son had been murdered, and she 14 bonding experience that I tried to have with
15 asked if [ would come have a town hall meeting 15 all of my constituents.
16 to meet with the young people to try to 16 Whether it was the bad times -- [
17 encourage them to put the guns down and to 17 mean, same thing with the oil spill. We're
18 start loving and -- and -- and not hating, i8 talking about minorities as though we're just
19 And I went, 15 talking about African-Americans, but you go to
20 I went to 26 funerals of soldiers 20 Bayou La Batre, the little fishing village,
21 that died in Afghanistan and Iraq. Probably 21 and when the oil spill -- when the explosion
22 18 were African-American. I preached at one 22 occurred at Deepwater Horizon, you have to
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i understand that initially -- people forget -~ 1 African-American community back in the '50s
2 initially, we were told that -- that there was 2 and '60s during the Civil Rights Movement.
3 no leakage. And then they said, Well, there's 3 And Mobile was fortunate to avoid
4 been a breach. There is some leakage. 4 not all, but most of the battle scars, if you
5 We knew that the explosion 5 will, that some Alabama cities have, And --
6 occurred. We knew people had been killed, but 6 and so we -- we did not have some of the
7 then, once we started seeing that plume of oil 7 issues that other places had to deal with.
8 coming up, and it was such a helpless feeling. 8 Q. Uh-huh. What about things like,
9 And my staff and I went door-to-door to 9 for example, educational outcomes? There are
10 businesses whose owners couldn't even speak 10 generally pretty large disparities between
11 English to let them know that we were going to 1 educational outcomes for African-Americans and
12 stand by them in Mobile and Baldwin Counties. 12 white people within Alabama, within lots of
13 1 didn't go to Washington to work 13 different parts of the country. Was that ever
14 to take some of those meetings. And when 14 an issue that came up for you?
15 you're hugging someone whose livelihood -- and 15 A. Notin a--not in a negative way.
16 if you fish for a living, if you shrimp for a 16 As I said when I went to Trinity Gardens
17 living, and you can't get your boat out in the 17 with -- with my friend after her son had been
18 water because it's filled with oil, you can 18 murdered, I mean, I -- I visited -~ my goal
19 have -- don't have any money to buy bread and 19 was to visit every high school in my district,
20 milk for your kids. 20 I did not complete that goal, but I visited
21 And so we pressed the people at 21 most of them.,
22 BP, and we pressed the organization what was 22 And I--1--1went to the
Page 142 Page 144
1 set up to provide help to those families as 1 schools that were majority-minority schools, I
2 hard as anyone could have pressed. And I did 2 went to the private schools. I went to the
3 that because that was my job. 3 Catholic schools. I went to the schools that
4 Q. I'msure it meant a lot to your 4 had a more even balance. 1 mean, I -- I went
5 constituents to see you come door-to-door. 5 wherever. I sponsored an art contest every
6 A. Itmeanta lot to me -- 6 year for the kids of the 1st congressional
7 Q. Yeah. 7 district.
8 A. --tobe able to help them. 8 I nominated probably 145, maybe
9 Q. Yeah. In terms of civil rights ¢ 200 young men and women to go to the military
10 issues, were there any specific issues that 10 academies, We did not have a quota, We
11 came up a lot in your district or that you 11 nominated the best students that could be
12 thought -- you understood that your 12 competitive. We nominated a lot of students
13 African-American constituents cared 13 from different racial and ethnic backgrounds.
14 specifically about? 14 And so I don't recall that it
13 A. Not off the top of my head. If 15 was -- there was a real time during my
16 you can give me some examples, I can -- I'd be 16 ten-and-a-half years where there was an issue
17 happy to -- it's kind of like this article, it 17 that -~ that arose specifically with regard to
18 may jog my memory. But Mobile, as I mentioned 18 it being a Civil Rights issue.
13 earlier, had a very progressive Mayor Joe 19 For instance, Senator Figures and
20 Langan -- 20 I -- as she was on the redistricting committee
21 Q. Uh-huh. 21 in the 2010 redistricting and maybe even on in
22 A. --who worked with the 22 2000, I'm not sure when she -~ I think she was
Page 143 Page 145
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state under Governor James' administration but
was never recognized by the Federal Bureau of
Indian Affairs,

Two counties over, the Poarch Band
of Creek Indians got a state recognition, and
they also got a federal recognition. The
Poarch Band of Creek Indians built a casino.
They're -- by all accounts, are making a lot
of money.

You've got four major Indian
tribes in Alabama: Creek, Choctaw, Cherokee,
ang Chickasaw. And two within 60 miles of
each are as opposite as night is from day.

Both really good groups of people
that work really hard, but one with that
federal recognition got a certain benefit that
the others who sought that recognition, they
never got. I actually sponsored the
legislation for the MOWAS to get federal
recognition, but [ was not able to get it
through the House and the Senate,

Q. Uh-huh.

Page 148
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1 in -- on the city council at that time.
2 But anyway, you know, we used
3 to -~ we -- we used to laugh at how -- we were
4 ringing a bell for the Salvation Army one time
5 at Christmastime and got very competitive
6 that -- who got the most money in their
7 kettle, but we used to laugh at how some --
8 how hard it was for some people to imagine
s that a -- a black Democrat and a white
10 Republican could be such close friends.
11 And she had a son that got in
12 trouble and I did everything I could to help
13 him, not because she was a state senator or
14 because she was black or because she was a
15 female, but it was the right thing to do.
16 So I don't recall that there was
17 a -- a real time or issue where the -- the
18 people in my district, regardless of their
19 political views or their racial makeup, would
20 have -- would have had -- that I would have
21 given them reason to believe that I was
22 insensitive to their views even when there
Page 146
1 were times when we disagreed.
2 And that was every time I went and
3 had dinner with my mother-in-law, I would have
4 disagreements, but -- but they were usually
5 friendly.
6 Q. Yeah. That's just part of the --
7 that's just part of the job,
8 A.  Yeah
9 Q. It sounds like you really made it
10 around your district --
1 A. 1did.
12 Q. -alot,
13 Did you observe anything that, you
14 know, you recall where there were more
15 differences maybe socioeconomically -- just
16 socioeconomically between more minority
17 communities and more white communities?
18 A.  Well, Iobserved that there were
13 differences between -- within the minority
20 communities. In Washington County, there's
21 a -- a -- the -- the Mobile Washington Band of
22 Choctaw Indians that was recognized by the

' Page 147
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A.  So I think that in this country
and quite frankly in the world, you're going
to always see examples of where some people
are -- have a -- have more advantage because
of education or more advantage because of
genetics. You know, some people are just born
healthier than other people,

But -- but I really don't -- I
can't give you a specific example of where --
I mean, look, I'm -- in my spare time, I'm
head of the -- I'm -- I'm a volunteer chairman
of the board for the Alabama School of Math
and Science.

It's the only -- there's 17 STEM
schools in the nation. Alabama bas one of
them. I don't know what the racial makeup is
of our student body, They take students from
all 67 counties. It's a free public
education. But I would say probably 40
percent, maybe 45 percent are
African-American.

And you're taking young people who
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are gifted in the math and science area that
might live in a rural area like Wilcox County
and it's giving them a chance to go to a world
class education -- get a great education and
go on and get a great scholarship to go off to
college. So I've -- I've always prided myself
in looking for opportunities to help all
people.

Q. Uh-huh, Did -- do you believe
that African-Americans in your district
supported Obamacare or the Affordable Care
Act?

A. I think that they probably did.

Q. Did you support the Affordable
Care Act?

A. Idid not.

Q. Do you think African-Americans in
your district supported the repeal of
Obamacare?

A. It's a broad generalization but
probably not.

Q. Did you support repealing?

Page 150
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And it was not an easy vote for me
to cast. There were only about 35 or 36 who
voted against it. So [ knew that I wasn't
voting to get something passed, but I believed
with all of my heart that we had seen with the
presidential election of 2000 and with other
examples as well -- that if -- it - and it
worked and we needed it in the '60s for sure.
But -- but why didn't we apply it to the whole
country?

That was my logic behind that, but
I really did not have that much mail or phone
calls from -- I'm not saying I didn't have
any, but it was nota -- it was nota -- a
red-button issue that we heard a lot about.

The health care bill was. And I
will tell you why I voted against it. I can't
tell you why -- the entire Alabama delegation
voted against it, including Congressman Davis,
who was in office at the time.

But I kept a copy of that bill on
my desk. And people would come to see me, and
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A, Idid.

Q. Do you believe that
African-Americans in your district supported
the reauthorization of the Voting Rights
Act -

A, I--1didnot--

Q. --from 2006?

A. Idid not hear from that many
African-Americans about that, but I took that
vote very seriously. In the -- in the 2000
presidential election, Bush v. Gore, we saw a
moment in time where the disputed ballots in
that presidential election were not in the
voting right states,

South Florida was not covered
under that. The disputed ballots in Ohio and
in Michigan and other states, and so I
consulted with Congressman Edwards who had
actually been in Congress when the first
Voting Rights Act passed and with subsequent
reauthorizations as well as Congressman
Callahan who had been in.
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they didn't want a picture with me, They
wanted a picture of that bill because it was
this tall (indicating). But I believed with
all of my heart that social security was
created with bipartisan support.

Medicare was created with
bipartisan support. Medicaid was created with
bipartisan support, and I did vote to expand
Medicaid to include prescription drugs -- I'm
sorry -- Medicare.

We're early in my time in Congress
which was not popular with some of my
Republican constituents, but I thought it was
the right thing to do. But for the life of
me, I actually -- at a Republican retreat
where the president came, begged the president
to not force -- he had the votes to do it, and
he did it. But I didn't believe that it was
right for the country on something that
touched everyone because health care's
universal.

I just didn't think it was right
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1 for us to have a partisan vote on something 1 back and she said, To my surprise, my family
2 that was bipartisan, as bipartisan as health 2 understood why you did it.
3 care, So I did vote against it, I think it 3 That was personally rewarding to
4 is safe to your premise that the majority of 1 me because my goal was never to be divisive in
5 the African-American constituents that 5 that. I just felt that if we were going to do
6 contacted me were supportive of it. 6 it in 20 -- when was it? 2007?
7 But some could argue that they 7 Q. 2006.
8 were supportive of it because the first 8 A, 20067
9 African-American president was proposing it. 9 Q. Yeah.
10 President Clinton tried it with his wife 10 A.  --then it should apply to
11 leading the effort, and Congress couldn't get 1 everyone.
iz it passed. 12 Q. Did you meet with or consult with
13 And there are some who would say 13 any African-American leaders --
14 today that people are opposed to it because it 14 A Idid
15 was President Obama's bill. Just as there are 15 Q. --on this issue?
16 some people would believe today that if 16 A. I--Italked with -- before big
17 President Trump had proposed it, there are 17 boats, TARP, the votiné rights extension, the
18 some who would support it even if it were the 18 Affordable Care Act, there were -- [ would
13 same bill, 19 oftentimes seek advice even though, as a
20 I just thought it was a bad piece 20 congressman, you don't need to seek it because
21 of legislation, that we needed to do 21 you're going to get it anyway. But -- but
22 something, but I thought to doitona 22 oftentimes would seek the advice of -- of
Page 154 Page 156
1 partisan vote would divide the country. 1 friends in a very unofficial way.
2 Q. With regards to the Voting Rights 2 And yes, I -- I talked with a
3 Act, did you hold any town halls -- 3 number of my African-American friends about
4 A, 1did 4 it, about my logic behind it. One is a very
5 Q. -- onthat issue? 5 good friend of mine, He was a colonel in the
6 A.  Well, I1didn't hold any town halls 6 Air Force, and he said actually -- and he
7 on that issue, I -- 7 lived in south Florida at the time. He said,
8 Q. Ordid it came up at town halls? 8 I think you make a pretty good point.
9 A. Itcame up at some. I defended my 9 Q. Sowould you be --
10 vote. And even with people that disagreed 10 MR. DAVIS: How -- how we doing?
i1 with me -- and there were some, but [ think 11 Govemor's going to need our Chief of Staff
12 they respected the fact that the -- the -- the 12 back before too terribly long.
13 logic that I used. But yes, I mean, there 13 MS, MADDURI: Understood. Idon't
14 were people -- my executive assistant is -- 14 have too much more. Just a page.
15 was African-American, 15 Q. (ByMs. Madduri) So would you be
16 Q. Uh-huh, 16 supportive -- I'm -- I'm sure you know that
17 A. She was conservative. She was a 17 now the Supreme Court has overturned the part
18 Republican. And she said, Jo, this is hard 18 of the Voting Rights Act that I believe were
19 for me to explain when I go home at 1s discussed in Section 4 and Section 5, the
20 Thanksgiving. 20 preclearance requirement, that only applied
21 And when I told her my reasoning, 21 to, you know, specific states as you
22 she went home at Thanksgiving. And she came 22 mentioned.
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1 Would you be supportive of 1 think, if any, exist that African-Americans
2 reinstating those sections if it applied to 2 don't tend to support Republicans?
3 all states, all jurisdictions equally? 3 A. T--Treally don't have an
4 A. Well,I--1don't have a vote 4 informed opinion about that.
5 anymore, 5 MR. TAYLOR: Make sure I
6 Q. Understood. But your view on 6 understand the extent of the question. His
7 that? 7 personal opinion about why African-Americans
8 A. Butlook, I-- my view -- I would 8 support Republicans or Democrats?
9 be consistent with my view. I thought it 9 MS. MADDURI: Okay.
10 should apply to all states, 10 Q. (ByMs. Madduri) Do you think the
11 Q. Do you think there's any kind of 11 same is true on the other side? Do you think
12 partisanship divide between African-American 12 white voters tend to support Republicans more
13 and white voters in your district or Alabama 13 often?
14 as a whole? 14 A.  Well -- well, are you talking
15 A. Define "partisanship divide." 15 about Alabama or you --
16 Q. Do you think one race, whether 16 Q. Yeah--
17 white or black, votes more for Democrats or 17 A. --talking about nationally?
18 Republicans? 18 Q. -- Alabama. Alabama. Your
19 A. Sadly, I think that the evidence 19 district, your -- within your experience
20 would suggest that more African-Americans vote 20 personally,
21 Democrat than Republican, and that's 21 A. In--inthe last 35 years, but it
22 frustrating to Republicans like me who want to 2z wasn't that long ago when Alabama was a
Page 158 Page 160
1 make -- in -- in the words of a former party 1 one-party state.
2 chairman, who want to build a big tent. 2 Q. Uh-huh. Do you have --
3 And we want to give people who 3 A. It was a Democrat state,
4 have the same values and the same goals and 4 Q. And you've - you've been -~ I
5 the same aspirations a room in our party. 5 mean, you've watched that transformation, I'm
3 Q. Inyour view, why -- why do you 6 sure. Do you have any views on why that
7 think African-Americans tend to vote for 7 transformation happened?
8 Democrats more? 8 A. 1--1think many former Democrats
9 A. That's like asking me to read the 9 who became Republicans would tell you that the
1o minds of the legislature. I --1I don't know. 10 party that they knew and grew up in changed
11 I was very proud of my many, many 11 and no longer reflected their views and
12 African-American friends and supporters from 12 values.
13 all walks of life. And I was equally proud to 13 And, I mean, President Reagan
14 represent those that did not support me, but I 14 switched parties and --
15 did everything I knew to do to serve all 15 Q. Uh-huh,
16 people well and with integrity. 16 A.  So there are a lot of examples of
17 And I can't really look back on -- 17 people. George Wallace, Jr --
18 on that chapter and think well, if I had done 18 Q. Uh-huh.
19 things differently, I might have gotten a few 19 A.  --the son of former Democrat
20 more votes here or a few more votes there. 20 Governor George Wallace, switched parties.
21 Q. Justin -- and just in your 21 A lot of people switched parties,
22 opinion, do you think -- what reasons do you 22 but I think that the national party, as
Page 159 Page 161
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1 evidenced by what's going on today, that the 1 congressional district.
2 Democrats continue to move further and further Z A, Well, cleasly the -- the continued
3 to the left, And | thiok that for a lot of B development of the port of Alabama is unique
4 people who grew up in Alabama being a 4 to Mobile. It is a port that serves the whole
5 Democrat, they just don't recognize that party 5 state, but we are -- as | say, 1 think we're
& anymore. 6 the 13¢h largest port.
7 Q. Are there any specific issues that i We're -- we're in a position with
8 Jump out to you in terms of this leftward 8 what the state is doiag with the new
9 movement - 2 infrastructure bill. We're in a position to
10 A, Well-- 10 invest a sizable amount of resources to make
1 Q. - that you think they -- 1l Mobile one of the top five port citics in the
1z A 1- 12 nation. That's going to great a whole new
13 Q. - disagree with? 13 coconomy of jobs and opportunities.
14 A. [Ithink everything from today's L4 You won't need a four-year degree
15 run up to the presidential campaign is about, 15 or even a iwo-year degree, but you'll be able
18 you know, universal free health care. Well, 16 to make 85 or 90 or $100,000 a year, which is
1 we passed the Affordable Care Act. It's not 17 more than double the average family of four
18 free. And there's no way it will ever be L income. That's big time, That's a big-time
13 free. You got to pay for it if you're going 18 opportunity.
20 to have a quality health care service. 20 The centinued growth of the
21 So I -- I just think that even my 21 acrospace indusiry in Mobile with Airbus and
2 Democrat friends in Alabama today, and I've = the continued growth of the shipbuilding
Page 162 Page 164
1 got many of them, have a hard time defending 1 industty, § mentioned the shipbuilder Austal,
2 some of the socialistic policies and -- and 2 they're the enes buildmg the Navy ships. But
3 views of the -- of the national Democrat 3 they are competing now with a — fora
4 party. 4 contract 1o get a frigate that would add
5 Q. AndI'm -- just to make sure 3 another 2300 people.
6 you're not too worried, I'm at pretty much the & 8o you take 4500 people that work
7 end of everything. Just a couple more o there new and you add another 2500 people,
8 questions for you. d that's 2 game changer to your economy. So the
9 A. 1 feel like I've been a political 9 Mobile economy is alse —- I mean, it — it
1o commentator. 10 takes a special skill set to be a pipe fitter
11 Q. Well, [ mean, your perspective is 1 on a ship or to -~ to be a welder on an
12 interesting. 12 airplane. You don't waat someene who's et
13 A. Sure, 12 trained to do that.
L4 Q. You've been involved in space. 14 So one of cur challenges is to
15 A. Not complaining. s coniinue to grow our economy, to continue to
16 Q. Yeah 14 grow our werkforce so that young people who
17 A. Not complaining. 17 are bom in that wonderful town today have a
18 Q. You can -- you can become a pundit = chance o get a good education, get a job, and
13 after this. 19 raise their family in a place that they love
iy I'm cugious if you think there are =l and call home.
21 awty umique needs in the -- in the City of 21 Q. Uh-hubh. Do most people that work
22 Mobile as opposed to the rest of the =2 in Mobile, do they all live in that same
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space, or are they also comting from other
counties?

A. They live in other counites, buta
large percentage of them live in the Mobilke,
Baldwin County area. Goes back to that
continuity and community of -- of interest.

Q. Do you see any benefits to
African-Americans in Mobile if they were
included in a district that also included
counties from the Black Belt area?

A, They are.

Q. 1 guess more connties from the
Biack Beit avea as epposed to where they are
now?

A Well, the -- the district that --
if -- if the legislature had the ability to
ereate a new district that would be ideal in
every setting, in my view, it would be as
close to what we've got now as we have,
because of the historical similarities,
beeause of the recent convergence.

#t's like we were talking about
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earlier with Baldwin County, the Baldwin
County in 1950 and the Baldwin County of today
are twe different places,
I--T1 can't personally see that

there's going to be any real benefit to
splitting Mobile up or to even splitting
Mchile and Baldwin Counties apart just for
the -- the political benefit of the
plaintiffs. I--Ithink that you've get te
think about the 780,000 people who live there
and whe cuirently are interconnected in so
many different ways as we've discussed,

Q. Whatdo you mmean when you say "the
political benefits of the plaintiffs"?

A, Well, the -- the plaintiffs are
the ones who are advocating for the second
district, I believe.

Q. (Attomey nods head.)

A.  And I believe I'm right that one
of the -- correct me if 'm wrong, that one of
the people at the national level that is
advocating for this is the former Attorney

Page 167

1 General.
2 Q. [1actually don't know exactly, so
3 I can't -- [ can't comment on —
1 A, Ibelieve -
3 Q. -- that one way or the other.
§ A. [ believe that's true,
7 Q.  Okay.
8 A, And [ do find it interesting
9 personally that his Justice Department
10 approved this map. And that it was good when
1 he was Attorney General, and that now there's
1z a desire to change it, I -- I don't understand
13 the logic behind that.
14 Q. Okay.
15 MS. MADDURI: Well, I think --
18 think that's all my questions.
17 THE WITNESS: Okay.
18 MR. DAVIS: Before we go off the
19 record, do we need to talk? Let's step out in
20 the hall.
21 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We are off the
22 record at 12:44,
Page 168
1 (A recess was taken.)
2 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We are on the
3 record at 12:46,
4 MR. DAVIS: Defendant has no
gl questions. Thank you, Mr. Bonner.
6 MS. MADDURI: Thank you, sir.
1 THE VIDEOGRAPHER.: This ends MPEG
8 three and concludes the deposition of Josiah
9 Bonner. We are off the record July 30th,
10 2019, and the time is 12:46 p.m.
11
12 {The deposition of JOSIAH BONNER
13 was concluded at 12:46 p.m.)
14
15
16
17
18
15
20
2
22
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VI. Hypothetical 2020 Plan

(a) Geographic Area
The map in Figure 2 (on the next page) depicts a 6-district

41.
hypothetical 2020 plan (“Hypothetical Plan™), with a realistic possibility that two of

the six districts will be majority-Black CVAP by 2020

Figure 2
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The Hypothetical Plan is drawn using 2010 VTDs (and 2010

42.
population), with a projected 2020 statewide population of 4.9 million (slightly
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